West
Yorkshire

WEST YORKSHIRE AND YORK INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

MEETING TO BE HELD AT 11.00 AM ON WEDNESDAY, 13 MARCH
2019 IN COMMITTEE ROOM A, WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50
WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS

AGENDA

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE EXCLUSION OF THE
PRESS AND PUBLIC

1. To highlight Appendix 1 to Agenda Item 7 which officers have identified
as containing exempt information within the meaning of Schedule 12A
to the Local Government Act 1972, and where officers consider that the
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public
interest in disclosing the information, for the reasons outlined in the

report.

2. To consider whether or not to accept the officers’ recommendation in
respect of the above information as set out in paragraph 4.1 of Agenda
Item 7.

3. If the recommendation is accepted, to formally pass the following
resolution:-

RESOLVED - That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
to the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting
during consideration of Appendix 1 to Agenda Item 7 on the grounds that it is
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of
the proceedings, that if members of the press and public were present there
would be disclosure to them of exempt information and for the reasons set out
in the report that in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE WEST YORKSHIRE AND
YORK INVESTMENT COMMITTEE HELD ON 6 FEBRUARY

2019
(Pages 1 - 6)

CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE
(Pages 7 - 16)

CAPITAL SPENDING AND PROJECT APPROVALS
(Pages 17 - 126)

GROWING PLACES FUND
(Pages 127 - 136)

For Information

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE BUSINESS INVESTMENT PANEL

HELD ON 5 FEBRUARY 2019
(Pages 137 - 140)

Signed:
Bl

Managing Director
West Yorkshire Combined Authority




Agenda Item 4

West
Yorkshi.re

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE
WEST YORKSHIRE AND YORK INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 6 FEBRUARY 2019 AT COMMITTEE ROOM A,

WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS

Present:

Councillor Peter Box CBE (Chair) Wakefield Council

Roger Marsh OBE (Deputy Chair) Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership
Councillor Barry Collins Calderdale Council

Councillor lan Gillies City of York Council

Councillor Peter McBride Kirklees Council

Councillor Alex Ross-Shaw Bradford Council

In attendance:

Melanie Corcoran West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Angela Taylor West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Andrew Norman West Yorkshire Combined Authority (minute 53 only)
Michelle Burton West Yorkshire Combined Authority (minute 53 only)
Helen lllman West Yorkshire Combined Authority (minute 53 only)
Fiona Limb West Yorkshire Combined Authority (minute 53 only)
lan McNichol West Yorkshire Combined Authority (minute 53 only)
Ruth Chaplin West Yorkshire Combined Authority

48 Apologies for Absence

49

50

51

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Denise Jeffery and
Richard Lewis.

Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no pecuniary interests declared by members at the meeting.
Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public

There were no items on the agenda requiring exclusion of the press and
public.

Minutes of the Meeting of the West Yorkshire and York Investment
Committee held on 9 January 2019

Resolved: That the minutes of the West Yorkshire and York Investment
Committee held on 9 January 2019 be approved and signed by the Chair.

1



52

53

Capital Programme Update
The Committee considered a report on the capital programme which:

¢ Provided an update on progress made on the implementation of the
West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s capital programme and the
annual review of the Growth Deal.

¢ Provided an update on the progress made on the West Yorkshire
Broadband Programme.

The latest outturn budget for each programme and actual spend figures as
reported at quarter 2 were set out in Table 1. The Committee was advised
that the Quarter 3 monitoring had now been finalised and the actual Growth
Deal expenditure was £47 million.

The Growth Deal Annual Conversation had taken place on 13 December
2018. This had involved a full review of the LEP (including the progress on
Growth Deal and programmes of funding awarded to the LEP). This included
delivery, strategy and governance and a formal response is expected in
February 2019. It was noted that the position regarding achieving the required
expenditure target had been clarified and this was outlined in the submitted
report.

It was recognised that there were specific project risks, particularly in respect
of the Transport Fund and these would be closely monitored in the final
quarter. Work was ongoing with partners and project sponsors to ensure
accurate forecasts are in place and that projects can be accelerated where
possible.

It was reported that advanced payments were being explored for 2018/19
against the schemes that are or will be in contract by the year end. The
Committee supported the prepayment of grant through the Growth Deal
programme for the schemes which were listed in Table 2 of the submitted
report.

Resolved:

(i) That the progress made in implementing the Combined Authority’s
Capital Programme be noted.

(i) That the prepayment of grant through the Growth Deal programme
detailed in paragraph 2.5 of the submitted report be supported.

Capital Spending and Project Approvals

The Committee considered a report on proposals for the progression of, and
funding for, a number of West Yorkshire Combined Authority supported
projects, including West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (Transport Fund) and
Growth Fund at stages 1, 2 and 3 of the Combined Authority’s assurance
process.



Members discussed the proposals for the progression of the following five
schemes which were detailed in the submitted report:

e Raising Aspirations

e A647 Bus Priority Corridor

e Corridor Improvement Programme Phase 1 — Huddersfield Southern
Corridors

e Halifax Town Centre — Northgate House

¢ Rochdale Canal — Cycle Safety Fund

Copies of the business case summaries were attached at Appendices 2-6 of
the submitted report. It was requested that the summary in future reports
should include an impact assessment column to provide information showing
how the schemes will meet targets in respect of social and economic benefits.

Members asked for a discussion item on skills to be brought to a future
meeting to ensure Members continue to make informed decision on skills
related schemes.

The Committee was also provided with details of the following project
decisions delegated to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director since the
last meeting:

York Outer Ring Road Phase 2 (Monks Cross)

Urban Traffic Management Control (UTMC) scheme — Element A
Calderdale multi-modal studies

Glasshoughton Southern Link Road

Leeds City Region Employment Hub

Copies of the business case summaries were attached at Appendix 7 and
details of the schemes outlined in the report.

In respect of Garnett’s Wharf, Otley — Growing Places Fund loan 104, it was
noted that the Combined Authority’s Director of Delivery had approved the
decision point 7 project closure report and details were outlined in the report.

It was reported that the WY+TF (Transport Fund) A629 Halifax Road Phase 5
project was approved by the Combined Authority on 10 May 2018 to proceed
through decision point 3 and work commence on activity 4 (full business case).
However there was a £3,000 error in the figures reported and approval was
now sought to amend the development costs figure from £4.113 million to
£4.116 million. It was agreed that an addendum to the funding agreement be
entered into with Kirklees Council.

Resolved:

(i) In respect of Raising Aspirations, the Investment Committee
recommends to the Combined Authority:

(@)  That the Raising Aspirations project proceeds through decision
point 2 and work commences on activity 5 (full business case

3



(iii)

with finalised costs).

That an indicative approval is given to the total project value of
£400,000 to be funded by the Combined Authority from the
secured business rates pool funding with full approval to spend
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the
assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case with
finalised costs).

That future approvals are made in accordance with the
assurance pathway and approval route outlined in the submitted
report including at decision point 5 through a delegation to the
Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining
within the tolerances outlined in the report.

In respect of the A647 Bus Priority Corridor, the Investment Committee
recommends to the Combined Authority:

(@)

That the Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme: A647
Corridor project proceeds through decision point 3 (outline
business case) and work commences on activity 4 (full business
case).

That an indicative approval to the total project value of £9.68
million is given from Leeds Public Transport Investment
Programme funding with full approval to spend being granted
once the scheme has progressed through the assurance process
to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

That future approvals are made in accordance with the
assurance pathway and approval route outlined in the submitted
report including at decision point 4 (full business case) and
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs) through
a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s
Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme
remaining within the tolerances outlined in the report.

In respect of the Corridor Improvement Programme Phase 1 -
Huddersfield Southern Corridors, the Investment Committee
recommends to the Combined Authority:

(@)

That the Huddersfield Southern Corridors scheme proceeds
through decision point 3 and work commences on activity 4 (full
business case).

That an indicative approval to the total project value of £8.199
million is given from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund with
full approval to spend being granted once the scheme has
progressed through the assurance process to decision point 5

4



(e)

(full business case with finalised costs).

That development costs of £2.234 million are approved in order
to progress the scheme to decision point 5 (full business case
with finalised costs) taking the total project approval to £2.534
million. This includes land acquisition costs of £1.6 million.

That the Combined Authority enters into an addendum to the
existing funding agreement with Kirklees Council for expenditure
of up to £2.534 million from the West Yorkshire plus Transport
Fund.

That future approvals are made in accordance with the approval
pathway and approval route outlined in the submitted report
including at decision point 5 through a delegation to the
Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining
within the tolerances outlined in the report.

In respect of Halifax Town Centre - Northgate House, the Investment
Committee approves:

(@)

That the Halifax Town Centre Northgate House scheme
proceeds through decision point 4 and work commences on
activity 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

That an indicative approval of £3 million is given from the Local
Growth Fund (Growth Deal 3) towards a total scheme cost of
£10.655 million with full approval to spend being granted once
the scheme has progressed through the assurance process to
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

That future approvals are made in accordance with the
assurance pathway and approval route outlined in the submitted
report including at decision point 5 (full business case with
finalised costs) through a delegation to the combined Authority’s
Managing Director following a recommendation by the Combined
Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in the
report.

In respect of Rochdale Canal, the Investment Committee recommends
to the Combined Authority:

(@)

That the Rochdale Canal Towpath Phase 2 - Hebden Bridge to
Todmorden scheme proceeds through decision point 4 and work
commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

That an indicative approval to total project cost of £2.101 million

of which £1.971 million will be Combined Authority funding which
will be funded from the DfT Cycle Safety Grant and Cycle City

5



54

Ambition Grant with full approval to spend being granted once
the scheme has progressed through the assurance process to
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

That future approvals are made in accordance with the
assurance pathway and approval route outlined in the submitted
report including at decision point 5 through a delegation to the
Combined Authority’s Managing Director following a
recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining
within the tolerances outlined in the report.

That the WYTF (Transport Fund) A629 Halifax Road Phase 5 project
funding approval by the Combined Authority on 10 May 2018 be
amended to:

(i)

That development costs of £4.116 million are approved in order
to progress the scheme to decision point 4 (full business case),
taking the total project approval to £4.418 million and that an
addendum to the funding agreement with Kirklees Council for the
additional £4.116 million is entered into.

Draft Minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 10 January 2019

Resolved: That the draft minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on
10 January 2019 be noted.



Agenda Iltem 5

West
Yorkshire

Combined
Authority

Reportto:  West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee

Date: 13 March 2019
Subject: Capital Programme Update
Director: Melanie Corcoran, Director of Delivery

Author(s):  Lynn Cooper, Rachel Jones, Lisa Childs

Is this a key decision? 1 Yes No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? 1 Yes No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

appendices? O Yes No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Purpose of this report

1.1 To update the Committee on progress made on the implementation of the
West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s capital programme. The report also
provides a more detailed update on the Growth Deal programme and the
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme.

2 Information

Capital Programme

2.1 The latest forecast outturn for the capital programme 2018/19 was reported to
the Investment Committee in January 2019 and to the Combined Authority at
its meeting on 14 February 2019. Table 1 below provides the actual
expenditure up to the end of quarter 3 2018/19 against the outturn forecast.



2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

Table 1

Actual
2018/19 |Expenditure up
Outturn to Quarter 3

Capital Programme Forecast 2018/19 %
Growth Deal (including West Yorkshire Transport Fund) [£102,080,000 £47,372,370| 46.4%
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme £10,115,000 £4,210,152| 41.6%
National Productivity Investment Fund £8,081,000 £6,271,000] 77.6%
Highways Maintenance Block and Highways Incentive

Fund £28,442,000 £22,393,000] 78.7%
Pothole Action Fund / Highways / Flood Resilience £9,267,000 £4,310,000] 46.5%
Cycle City Ambition Grant £8,500,000 £7,626,000] 89.7%
West Yorkshire Cycling and Walking Fund £1,304,000 £800,000] 61.3%
Cycle Safety Grant £470,000 £0| 0.0%
CCAG Top Up £210,000 £0] 0.0%
Clean Vehicle Technology Fund £1,368,000 £82,000f 6.0%
Ultra Low Emissions Vehicles £978,000 £15,000] 1.5%
West Yorkshire Broadband £5,769,000 £3,366,100] 58.3%
Growing Places Fund £1,350,000 £1,000,000] 74.1%
Warm Homes £1,369,000 £411,234| 30.0%
Corporate Projects - Accommodation £335,000 £112,272] 33.5%
Corporate Projects - Technology Strategy £1,570,000 £208,608]| 13.3%
Total £181,208,000 £98,177,736| 54.2%

Total expenditure is currently at 54.2% of forecast outturn and all programmes
are currently on track to achieve the revised expenditure forecasts.

Growth Deal Programme

Growth Deal spend at quarter 3 totals £47.37 million representing 46% of the
expected outturn. This is the highest level of spend ever achieved by the
programme at the end of quarter 3. The Growth Deal dashboard which details
each project within the programme is attached at Appendix 1.

The programme now includes 128 projects of which: 20 have been completed;
35 are currently in delivery (construction or operation); 64 are in development
(transport projects working towards outline and / or full business cases); and

nine have not yet started.

Of the 20 projects completed, 11 of these were finished in 2016/17 and
2017/18 these include ten Skills Capital and Innovation projects (Shipley
College Mill, Calderdale College, Kirklees College, Selby College, Bradford
College, Leeds City College Printworks, Wakefield College, Shipley College
Salt Building, Huddersfield Incubation and Innovation Programme and Leeds
University Innovation Centre), two rail park and rides (Fitzwilliam and South
Elmsall), two other Transport Fund projects (Wakefield Eastern Relief Road
and Aire Valley Park and Ride) and the Leeds Flood Alleviation project.




2.6

2.7

2.8

As part of the assurance process closure reports are undertaken on all
projects. The report looks at how the project performed against its business
plan and also considers lessons learned. Completed projects will continue to
be monitored through PIMS until all outputs and outcomes have been
achieved. These will continue to be updated and reported to the Cities and
Local Growth Unit (CLoG) until its 2024/25 deadline for achievement of
outputs.

Five projects have been completed so far in 2018/19, they are;

Skipton Flood Alleviation - involved the creation of two water storage areas
at Eller Beck and Waller Hill Beck, the construction of 300m of flood walls in
the town centre, it is now fully operational. £1.5 million of Growth Deal money
was invested into this £17.6 million scheme to safeguard 374 homes, 118
businesses and 1,630 jobs, as well as unlocking 11 hectares of floodplain for
commercial development in Skipton.

Mirfield A Rail Park and Ride — opened in July 2018 at a cost of £0.3 million
this project created 25 new parking spaces.

A629 Phase 1a - The Calderdale Council scheme included widening
Salterhebble Hill to four lanes, installing new traffic light technology and
improving facilities for pedestrians and cyclists. 5,000 tonnes of material were
removed to broaden the road and create the additional lanes, with over 3,000
metres of steel soil nails screwed into the rock to secure the remaining hillside.

York Outer Ring Road Phase 1 — this is the first phase of £38 million
improvement package to seven roundabouts on the York Northern Outer Ring
Road aimed at relieving congestion. Phase 1 involved improvements to the
Wetherby Road roundabout involving installation of three lane entrances and
two lane exits. Works were completed on time in February 2019 despite
discovery of an Iron Age ring ditch during construction.

Wakefield City Centre Package Phase 1 (Kirkgate) - Work was completed
in August 2018 on this £5.6 million scheme which improved the area for
pedestrians, cyclists, buses and motorists. Works included removing a subway
and using this for flood water storage, installation of paths and pedestrian
crossings, changing road layout. The project improved eight junctions,
enhanced 1.2km of carriageway, provided 5,700 sqm of enhanced public
space and reduced flood risk.

Performance

The new Portfolio Information Management System (PIMS) records output
forecast and achievement and allows project sponsors to update this
information at any time. The following programme level outputs have been
achieved at quarter 3 2018/19.



29

2.10

2.1

Table 2

Target (includes

Growth Deals 1,2 | Achieved as at
Output and 3) December 2018 %
New jobs 19,595 6,246| 31.88%
Jobs safeguarded (flood resilience programme) 11,100 22,000( 198.20%
Houses 2,300 292] 12.70%
Public / private investment (match funding) £1,031,000,000 £432,261,840] 41.93%

Further outputs achieved by the programme include:

o 86 apprentice posts (included with the New Jobs created)
o 50,991m?2 of new or improved floor space for skills

e 7.5 km of new road and 3km of road resurfaced

o 19 km of new cycle ways

CLoG monitor other outputs, in addition to the programme level outputs, which
projects report against. An issue that has been identified is that the outputs
monitored by CLoG do not fully reflect the expected achievement of the
programme. An example of this is that CLoG monitors only three transport
related outputs none of which related to rail. In order to ensure that the
recorded outputs fully reflect the achievements of the programme Combined
Authority officers and project sponsors are considering a revised list of
outputs. Once this is agreed further work will be required to ensure that
projects record forecast and performance against these additional outputs on
PIMS.

Annual Review

The formal response to the Growth Deal Annual Conversation review, which
assessed of the performance of the LEP and the Combined Authority (as
accountable body) is awaited. The review assessed all LEP’s based on
criteria covering governance, delivery and strategy.

Independent Evaluation of Growth Deal Interventions

It was previously reported to the Investment Committee in January 2019 that
as part of the Growth Deal an independent review is being undertaken of the
Transport Fund. The first five year gateway (also known as the Gateway
Review 2019) is currently underway. Economic consultants SQW Limited are
leading the National Evaluation Panel responsible for the monitoring and
evaluation of investment funds across the UK. SQW have been
commissioned to evaluate the Transport Fund and the first output of the
research is a baseline report, which has recently been issued. Several
strands of activity fed into the baseline report, including survey work and
strategic interviews to establish a local capacity and partnership working
baseline, work to look at how the economy was expected to develop since the
launch of the Transport Fund in 2014, and progress to date on the delivery of

10




212

2.13

2.14

2.15

transport funded schemes. The report is factual only, with no
recommendations or scoring at this stage. Key findings in the report are:

o Generally, the survey responses suggest that different aspects of local
economic capacity and partnership activity have improved since the
Transport Fund and Growth Deal were approved in 2014. There remains
scope for further improvement in the future.

o The consultations with key regional stakeholders demonstrated that the
Transport Fund has played a central role in creating the new Combined
Authority, shaping long-term economic development strategy and
bringing together public and private sector partners from across the city
region. With so much happening in the region over the last four years, it
is difficult to isolate the specific effects of the Fund. However, the
feedback confirmed that the Transport Fund has helped to improve local
economic development capacity and partnership working.

o It is currently expected, based on the latest forecasts, that the Transport
Fund will spend £200m by March 2020 (Gateway 1 Review). In 2016
project managers had estimated spend of £390m by March 2020
however the Delivery Directorate, which was set up in June 2017,
undertook a full review of the timetables for approval, development and
commencement of delivery for each project and forecast spend has been
amended accordingly.

There is some early evidence of outputs. Seven of the 19 projects being
evaluated have provided some initial information on outputs achieved since
projects started in 2015.

Next Steps

SQW are drafting a one-year out report. This report will provide an update on
the progress in delivery of the Transport Fund around a year in advance of the
Gateway Review (March 2020). It should identify any issues that need to be
addressed in advance of the final evaluation and confirms the approach and
timing of the research for the final evaluation, which will take place between
April and December 2019.

This work will conclude in December, with a final report to inform the first
Gateway Review of the fund. This will be completed by Government by the
end of March 2020. Combined Authority Officers attend national quarterly
steering group meetings. Through the course of the next couple of meetings,
greater clarity should emerge around how the final gateway report will form a
part of the overall assessment of performance, together with other evidence
such as the annual conversations.

Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme

In April 2017 the Department for Transport (DfT) formally approved funding of
£173.5 million to the Combined Authority for the Leeds Public Transport

11



Investment Programme (LPTIP) to improve access to public transport, the
efficiency of the service and to ultimately double bus patronage.

2.16 DfT undertake an annual review meeting where progress on the programme is
considered. The latest meeting took place on 5 February 2019. An update
was provided on the progress made across the programme.

Bus priority A number of outline business cases have been submitted and made
corridors progress through the assurance process. Stakeholder engagement is
continuing and design elements progressing well. Delivery partners are
appointed and construction is due to start on early interventions over the
next 2 months.

Park & Ride | Stourton and the Elland road extension have both obtained OBC approval
and planning consent. Delivery partners have been appointed and
construction is due to start on Elland Road in April with Stourton following
on afterwards.

LCC exec’ board have approved land purchase for an extension to the
Temple Green land, CA assurance processes to follow.

Gateways Headrow gateway has been given CA approval, consultation to commence
12t March. Infirmary street designs also being progressed, with Corn
Exchange to follow. Delivery partner appointed and making good progress.

Rail Accessibility — draft agreement with NWR to be progressed.

New Pudsey — Progressing towards OBC, preferred option considered by
programme board.

New stations — GRIP stage 3 documents submitted to NWR, working
towards OBC submission, public consultation on LBA parkway now
launched (White rose and Thorpe park concluded)

Bus Delivery | Realtime — ongoing screen installation, 300 screens already delivered and
being installed. A further 190 to arrive in phase 1.

Hubs — OBC submitted, undergoing appraisal.

Low emissions — ULEB bid successful, currently working towards
procurement of electric buses for Stourton P&R

Bus station — short term improvement options being progressed and OBC
developed.

2.17 The progress on the LPTIP programme has been good, and very positive
feedback received from DfT. The programme is still under considerable
pressure to deliver within a very tight timescale. The team are working well
together and there is good evidence of collaboration between the Combined
Authority, Leeds City Council and design & delivery partners.

12



2.18

3.1

5.1

6.1

7.1

8.1

The DfT has confirmed that the progress made to date is satisfactory but
reiterated the funding timescales requiring full spend on the programme by
March 2021.

Financial implications

There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.
Legal implications

There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.
Staffing implications

There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.
External consultees

No external consultations have been undertaken.

Recommendations

It is recommended that the Investment Committee notes the progress made in

implementing the Combined Authority Capital Programme including the
Growth Deal and Leeds Public Transport Investment Programmes.

Background documents
None.
Appendices

Appendix 1 — Growth Deal Dashboard Quarter 3 2018/19

13



This page is intentionally left blank



Growth Deal financial dashboard

1)

< 2038/12 £102,021,595 Actual £47,372,370
Actual & Forecast
. . Indicative Full Funding Overall RAG Actual Spend Actual Spend Actual Spend Agreed Annual Actual Spend Forecast Spend In Year RAG
SERRICHY Project Name Funding Approval Rating 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Forecast 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 T"zt:l:;’f:d Rating AGEYPOFeCER: || AT e || Tl A

Growth Deal Programme Delivery Costs £0 £0 N/A £429,486 £635,110 £2,080,329 £2,000,000 £1,232,231 £767,769 £2,000,000 Green £2,000,000 £0 £7,144,924]
Growth Deal Programme Delivery Costs Total £0 £0 £429,486 £635,110 £2,080,329) £2,000,000 £1,232,231 £767,769 £2,000,000! £2,000,000 £0 £7,144,924|
Access to Capital Grants Programme £15,700,000: £15,700,000: Green £0 £1,513,095 £4,964,840 £3,036,191 £3,323,844 £665,617 £3,989,461 Green £2,360,328 £2,872,276 £15,700,000
Business Expansion Fund - Digital Inward Investment Fund £2,500,000 £2,500,000 Amber £0! £0 £16,831 £159,532 £9,529 £75,000 £84,529 Amber £411,756 £1,986,884 £2,500,000
Business Expansion Fund - Strategic Inward Investment Fund £10,950,000: £10,950,000: Amber £0 £0 £758,457 £944,876 £776,155 £21,614 £797,769 Amber £3,842,022 £5,551,752 £10,950,000
Priority 1 - Growing Business Growth Programme £34,000,000 £34,000,000 Green £6,660,742 £8,327,992 £3,913,816 £2,537,861 £1,326,817 £927,450 £2,254,267 Green £4,773,801 £8,069,383 £34,000,000
Business Huddersfield Incubation and Innovation Programme £2,922,000 £2,922,000 Green £0 £0 £2,922,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 Complete £0 £0) £2,922,000
Institute for High Speed Rail and System Integration £13,047,000 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0) £0
Leeds University Innovation Centre £3,000,000! £3,000,000: Green/Amber £0! £2,416,585 £583,415 £0! £0 £0 £0 Complete £0 £0] £3,000,000
Priority 1 - Over-programming £0! £0! N/A £0! £0 £0] £0! £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 -£7,000,000 -£7,000,000
Priority 1 - Growing Business Total £82,119,000 £69,072,000 £6,660,742 £12,257,672 £13,159,358| £6,678,460 £5,436,344| £1,689,681 £7,126,026 £11,387,907, £11,480,295| £62,072,000}
Bradford College £250,000 £250,000 Green £0 £250,000! £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 Complete £0 £0) £250,000
Calderdale College £4,977,000 £4,977,000 Green £2,000,000 £2,977,000 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 Complete £0 £0) £4,977,000
Kirklees College - Dewsbury Learning Quarter £11,121,218] £15,121,218] Amber/Red £0 £3,367,457 £6,429,128 £0 £0 £0 £0 Amber £657,524 £667,110| £11,121,218|
Kirklees College - Process Manufacturing Centre £3,100,996 £3,100,996 Green £3,000,996 £100,001 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 Complete £0 £0) £3,100,997
Leed:s City College - Printworks £8,998,358 £8,998,358 Green £933,800 £7,794,608 £269,950 £0 £0 £0 £0 Complete £0 £0) £8,998,358
Priority 2 - Skilled People |Leeds City College - Quarry Hill £39,900,000 £39,900,000 Amber/Red £0 £10,045,152 £15,585,878 £7,768,970 £12,207,894 £2,061,076 £14,268,970 Amber/Red £0 £0 £39,900,000
and Better Jobs Leeds College of Building £13,350,000 £13,350,000 Green/Amber £0 £1,263,639 £2,786,030 £7,850,331 £7,132,731 £2,167,600 £9,300,331 Green £0) £0 £13,350,000
Selby College £693,748 £693,748 Green £0 £693,748 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 Complete £0 £0) £693,748
Shipley College - Mill £119,000 £119,000 Green £119,000 £0 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 Complete £0 £0) £119,000
Shipley College - Salt Building £300,000; £300,000; Green £0 £300,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 Complete £0) £0 £300,000)
Wakefield College £3,327,133 £3,327,133 Green £0 [ES)827AISS] £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 Complete £0 £0) £3,327,133
Lending £0! £0! N/A £0! £0 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 -£7,950,000 -£7,950,000
Priority 2 - Skilled People and Better Jobs Total £86,137,453. £90,137,453 £6,053,796 £30,118,737 £25,070,985| £15,619,301. £19,340,626 £4,228,676 £23,569,301, £657,524 -£7,282,890 £78,187,454
Energy Accelerator £820,000 £820,000 Amber £50,636 £115,355 £0 £261,603 £4,750 £5,000 £9,750 Amber/Red £200,940 £443,318| £820,000)|
Priority 3 - Clean Energy |Leeds District Heat Network £4,000,000! £4,000,000! Green £0! £0 £0] £0! £0 £4,000,000 £4,000,000! Green £0 £0) £4,000,000
and Economic Resilience |Resource Efficiency Fund £720,000 £720,000 Green £0 £0 £293,355 £322,742 £293,059 £66,124 £359,183 Green £67,462 £0) £720,000
Tackling Fuel Poverty £6,000,000 £6,000,000 Green £0 £781,414 £2,857,882 £1,597,800 £606,140 £1,472,563 £2,078,704 Green/Amber £282,000 £0 £6,000,000)
Priority 3 - Clean Energy and Economic Resilience Total £11,540,000 £11,540,000 £50,636! £896,769 £3,151,237| £2,182,145 £903,949 £5,543,687| £6,447,636| £550,402 £443,318| £11,540,000
Barnsley Town Centre £1,757,000 £1,757,000 Green £1,757,000 £0 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0) £1,757,000
Bradford - One City Park £5,200,000! £5,200,000! Amber £400,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 Green £500,000 £4,300,000 £5,200,000
Bradford Odeon £357,500 £357,500 Green/Amber £0! £0 £0] £325,000 £0 £357,500 £357,500 Green £0 £0] £357,500
City Centre Heritage Properties - Bradford £7,400,000 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0) £0
Dewsbury Riverside £4,612,000 £0 Amber £0 £0 £0 £720,000 £0 £0 £0) Amber £1,900,000 £2,712,000) £4,612,000)
East Leeds Housing Growth - Brownfield Sites £1,100,000! £1,100,000! Green/Amber £0 £1,100,000 £0) £0! £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0] £1,100,000
East Leeds Housing Growth - Red Hall £4,000,000 £4,000,000 Green £2,000,000 £2,000,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0) N/A £0) £0 £4,000,000)
Halifax - Beech Hill £2,197,000 £1,400,000 £0! £0 £0 £619,179) £0 £1,000,000 £1,000,000 Green £1,197,000 £0 £2,197,000
Priority 4a - Housing and Halifax Living programme (Phase 1) £764,000 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0
N Halifax Town Centre (Northgate House) £3,000,000 £300,000 Amber £300,000 £0 £0 £1,000,000 £0 £1,000,000 £1,000,000 Green/Amber £1,700,000! £0) £3,000,000
aHen Kirklees Housing Sites £1,000,000 £1,000,000! Green/Amber £200,000; £205,000 £104,000 £191,000 £0 £100,000 £100,000 Green £100,000 £291,000 £1,000,000
Leeds - Bath Road £575,000 £575,000 Amber £575,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0) £575,000
New Bolton Woods £3,600,000 £3,600,000 Green £0 £0 £3,000,000 £0 £0 £600,000 £600,000 Green £0 £0 £3,600,000)
Wakefield City Centre - South East Gateway £6,505,000! £0! N/A £0 £0 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £2,488,000 £4,012,000 £6,500,000
Wakefield Civic Quarter £1,100,000 £1,100,000 Green £0 £0 £1,054,488| £5,000! £1,199 £0 £1,199 Green £44,313 £0 £1,100,000
York Central £2,550,000 £2,550,000 Green £0! £1,421,500 £1,128,500 £0) £0 £0 £0) Green £0| £0 £2,550,000
York Guildhall £2,347,500 £2,347,500 Amber/Red £0 £791,500 £603,000 £250,000 £0 £0 £0) Green £953,000 £0 £2,347,500)
Priority 4a - Balance of Funding £0 £0 N/A £0! £0 £0 £3,216,000 £0 £0 £0| N/A £2,024,000 £1,108,372 £3,132,372
Priority 4a - Over-programming £0 £0 N/A £0 £0 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 -£6,500,000 -£6,500,000
Priority 4a - Housing and Regeneration Total £48,065,000 £25,287,000 £5,232,000 £5,518,000| £5,889,988| £6,326,179 £1,199 £3,057,500| £3,058,699| £10,906,313 £5,923,372| £36,528,372
A6110 Leeds Outer Ring Road £17,800,000 £286,000 Green/Amber £0 £0 £4,271 £99,000 £9 £9,991 £10,000 Amber £0) £3,000,000 £3,014,271]
A62 - A644 (Wakefield Road) Link Road £69,270,000 £750,000! £110,000 £15,000 £31,735 £600,000 £117,226 £127,343 £244,569 Amber/Red £2,000,000 £5,000,000 £7,401,304
A2 - A644 (Wakefield Road) Link Road (Combined Authority) £0 £0 ~£110,000 ~£15,000 £500,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 Amber/Red £0 £0 £375,000
A629 (Phase 1A) - Jubilee Road to Free School Lane £8,639,999 £8,639,999 £163,469 £1,442,043 £4,267,252 £1,492,010 £2,181,680 £205,550 £2,387,230 Green/Amber £0 £0) £8,259,994
A629 (Phase 1A) - Jubilee Road to Free School Lane (Combined Authority) £0 £0 Green/Amber £0 £0 £256,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 Green/Amber £0 £0) £256,000
A629 (Phase 1B) - Elland Wood Bottom to Jubilee Road £18,900,000 £5,670,394 Amber/Red £0 £213,909 £611,800) £1,643,233 £1,037,545 £210,000 £1,247,545 Amber/Red £2,000,000 £10,000,000 £14,073,254
A629 (Phase 2) - Eastern Gateway and Station Access Improvements £40,930,000! £2,615,000 Amber/Red £0! £334,553 £1,208,078 £1,541,388. £589,055 £120,000 £709,055 Red £3,500,000 £6,000,000 £11,751,686
A629 (Phase 2) - Eastern Gateway and Station Access Improvements (Combined Authority) £0 £0 Amber/Red £0 £0 £24,136| £0 £4,000 £0 £4,000 Red £0 £0] £28,136
A629 (Phase 4) - Ainley Top £30,000,000 £645,000; Green £0 £51,736 £62,724 £388,839 £248,547 £80,000 £328,547 Green £500,000 £750,000 £1,693,007|
A629 (Phase 4) - Ainley Top (Combined Authority) £0! £0! Green £0! £0 £0] £0! £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0] £0|
A629 (Phase 5) - Ainley Top into Huddersfield £12,090,000 £4,418,000 Green £52,000 £48,000 £248,157| £800,000 £659,980 £234,880 £894,860 Green £1,000,000 £5,372,349] £7,615,366)
A629 (Phase 5) - Ainley Top into Huddersfield (Combined Authority) £0! £0! Green £0! £0 £2,605 £0! £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0] £2,605|
A641 Bradford - Huddersfield Corridor £52,400,000 £730,000 Amber £0 £60,829 £68,572 £322,813 £116,676 £125,809 £242,485 Red £450,000 £500,000 £1,321,886
A65 - Leeds Bradford International Airport Link Road £35,700,000! £1,785,000 Red £8,688 £266,812 £365,849 £667,000 £308,538 £91,462 £400,000! Red £1,330,477 £950,000 £3,321,826
A650 Hard Ings Road (Phase 1) - Hard Ings Road Only £10,300,000 £3,860,000 Green £124,000 £304,308 £437,533 £1,937,343 £676,170 £2,055,951 £2,732,121 Green £4,440,256 £1,949,362 £9,987,580)
A650 Hard Ings Road (Phase 1) - Hard Ings Road Only (Combined Authority) £0 £0 Green -£124,000 -£304,308 £568,308 £0 £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0] £140,000|
A650 Tong Street £12,500,000 £185,000 Amber £0 £40,620| £83,783! £388,365 £27,505 £53,032 £80,537, Amber £616,064 £1,020,461 £1,841,465
A653 Leeds to Dewsbury Corridor £12,510,000 £210,000; Amber £0, £59,261 £21,026 £140,000 £48,124 £36,087 £84,211 Green/Amber £1,000,000 £1,000,000 £2,164,498
A653 Leeds to Dewsbury Corridor (Combined Authority) £0! £0! £0 £9,588 £0! £14,994 £0 £14,994 Green/Amber £0 £0] £24,582]
Aire Valley - Leeds Integrated Transport Package (Phase 1) - Aire Valley Park and Ride £9,597,000 £236,672. £5,950,650 £1,980,169 £175,000 £89,771 £60,229 £150,000! Complete £25,000 £0) £8,342,491
Aire Valley - Leeds Integrated Transport Package (Phase 1) - Aire Valley Park and Ride (Combined Authority) £0 -£40,492 £0 £644,065 £0 £1,111 £0 £1,111 Complete £0 £0) £604,684
Bradford Forster Square Station Gateway £17,311,000 £0, £125,484 £98,022 £830,360 £33,112 £142,197 £175,309 Green/Amber £800,000 £2,000,000 £3,198,815
Bradford Forster Square Station Gateway (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £25,019 £0 £0 £0 £0 Green/Amber £0 £0) £25,019
Bradford Interchange Station Gateway (Phase 1) £5,650,000! £25,000 £20,838 £117,558 £124,360 £16,604 £61,275 £77,879 Green/Amber £200,000 £309,965 £751,240|
Bradford Interchange Station Gateway (Phase 1) (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £13,836 £0 £0 £0 £0 Green/Amber £0 £0) £13,836
Bradford Interchange Station Gateway (Phase 2) £512,000 £0! £0 £6,279| £360,210 £12,631 £62,369 £75,000 Green/Amber £159,438 £0| £240,717|
Bradford to Shipley Corridor £47,900,000 £30,000 £5,011 £524,541 £653,285 £400,639 £206,363 £607,002 Green £800,000 £575,448| £2,542,002]
Calder Valley Line - Elland Station £284,748 £0! £0 £42,332 £173,162 £40,005 £20,000 £60,005 Amber £182,411 £0) £284,748
Calder Valley Line - Elland Station (Combined Authority) £0! £0 £0 £121,105 £0! £131,897 £235,219 £367,116 Amber £0 £0] £488,221]
Castleford Growth Corridor Scheme £22,800,000 £67,000 £73,917 £18,203 £1,630,880 £0 £25,000 £25,000 Red £5,867,879 £10,191,000]| £16,242,999|
Castleford Station Gateway £4,511,000 £0 £20,329 £20,598 £1,751,083 £78,028 £197,827 £275,855 Amber £4,175,246 £0 £4,492,028|
Corridor Improvement Programme - Bradford - A6177 Great Horton Road - Cross Lane (12) £2,500,000 £0 £0 £63,019 £169,640 £100,189 £50,890 £151,079 Green £1,000,000! £1,000,000 £2,214,098
Corridor Improvement Programme - Bradford - A6177 Great Horton Road - Cross Lane (12) (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £4,884 £0 £88,520 £0 £88,520 Green £0 £0 £93,404
Corridor Improvement Programme - Bradford - A6177 Great Horton Road - Horton Grange Road (15) £3,150,000! £0 £0 £29,472 £169,640 £57,371 £195,664 £253,035 Green £180,000 £500,000] £962,507|
Corridor Improvement Programme - Bradford - A6177 Great Horton Road - Horton Grange Road (15) (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £15,872 £0 £15,872 Green £0 £0) £15,872
Corridor Improvement Programme - Bradford - A6177 Thornton Road - Toller Lane (10) £8,500,000! £0 £0 £85,375 £185,690 £63,432 £130,167 £193,599 Green £1,000,000 £1,296,742 £2,575,716
Corridor Improvement Programme - Bradford - A6177 Thornton Road - Toller Lane (10) (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £37,977 £0 £37,977 Green £0 £0) £37,977

T Xipuaddy

G wal| epuaby



Actual & Forecast

91

. . Indicative Full Fundin, Overall RAG Actual Spend Actual Spend Actual Spend Agreed Annual Actual Spend Forecast Spend In Year RAG

SERR R QIoisctians Funding Approval ¢ Rating 2015/’;6 2016/';7 2017/’;8 Forgecast 2018/19 2018/‘;9 2013/1,; T"Zt:l:;’:;d Rating ANE/PADFErEER: || AT FormEss || AT
Corridor Improvement Programme - Calderdale - A58 - A672 Corridor £6,024,000 £941,665 Green/Ambe £0! £0 £90,865 £99,501 £53,063 £43,000 £96,063 Green/Amber £1,553,000 £2,000,000 £3,739,928|
Corridor Improvement Programme - Calderdale - A58 - A672 Corridor (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 -£18,672 £0 £25,899 £0 £25,899 Green/Amber £0 £0) £7,227
Corridor Improvement Programme - Calderdale - A646 - A6033 Corridor £5,092,000 £789,581 £0 £0 £76,325 £84,555 £35,199 £44,000 £79,199 Green/Amber £1,000,000! £2,310,000 £3,465,524
Corridor Improvement Programme - Calderdale - A646 - A6033 Corridor (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 -£13,943 £0 £21,170 £0 £21,170 Green/Amber £0 £0) £7,227
Corridor Improvement Programme - Kirklees - A62 Smart Corridor £7,906,000 £855,000 £0 £0 £125,232 £430,000 £273,869 £20,753 £294,621 Amber £250,000! £500,000 £1,169,853
Corridor Improvement Programme - Kirklees - A62 Smart Corridor (Combined Authority) £0 £0fl Green/Amber | £0 £0 £6,232 £0 £0 £0 £0 Amber £0 £0) £6,232
Corridor Improvement Programme - Kirklees - Holmfirth Town Centre £4,900,000! £250,000 Amber £0! £0 £99,358 £161,500 £22,383 £112,500 £134,883 Amber £718,000 £2,000,000 £2,952,241]
Corridor Improvement Programme - Kirklees - Holmfirth Town Centre (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £0) £0 £39,211 £0 £39,211 Amber £0 £0] £39,211]
Corridor Improvement Programme - Kirklees - Huddersfield Southern Gateways £8,200,000! £300,000 " Green/Ambe £0 £0 £167,206 £225,000 £67,794 £84,429 £152,223 Green £1,192,000 £1,500,000 £3,011,429]
Corridor Improvement Programme - Kirklees - Huddersfield Southern Gateways (Combined Authority) £0 £0 £0 £0 £0] £0! £10,446 £0 £10,446 Green £0 £0] £10,446
Corridor Improvement Programme - Leeds - Dawsons Corner £15,000,000 £2,607,000 £0 £0 £243,698 £710,000 £269,252 £30,748 £300,000 [ Green/Amber £800,000 £2,000,000) £3,343,698]
Corridor Improvement Programme - Leeds - Dyneley Arms £2,747,000 £775,000 Green/Amber | £0 £0 £127,438| £550,000 £139,095 £35,905 £175,000! Green/Amber £1,525,400 £4,000,000 £5,827,838
Corridor Improvement Programme - Leeds - Fink Hill £4,150,000 £519,000 £0 £0 £105,529 £215,000 £16,187 £8,813 £25,000 Green/Amber £744,471 £0) £875,000
Corridor Improvement Programme - Wakefield - A650 Newton Bar £6,752,000 Green/Ambe " £0 £0 £39,259 £161,160 £64,254 £147,463 £211,718, Green £2,331,600 £4,174,823 £6,757,400
Corridor Improvement Programme - Wakefield - A650 Newton Bar (Combined Authority) £0 " Green/Amber £0 £0 £0] £0! £58,691 £0 £58,691 Green £0 £0] £58,691]
Corridor Improvement Programme - Wakefield - Owl Lane £2,561,000 £0 £0 £5,516 £173,120 £36,836 £32,648 £69,484 Green/Amber £135,620! £1,920,557 £2,131,177
Corridor Improvement Programme (Phase 1) £408,000 £0 £0 £8,200] £100,000 £0 £100,000 £100,000! Green £100,000! £316,000 £524,200
Glasshoughton Southern Link Road £7,320,000 £80,000 £0 £441,104 £505,000 £178,819 £33,077 £211,896 Green £4,652,618 £1,769,116| £7,154,734
Halifax Station Gateway £10,600,000 £156,738, £44,171 £63,055! £470,784 £245,714 £60,000 £305,714 Amber/Red £500,000 £750,000 £1,819,678]
Harrogate Road - New Line £6,765,000 £146,399 £15,601 £991,436| £412,440 £565,564 £914,139 £1,479,703 Amber £2,439,000 £2,489,732 £7,561,871]
Harrogate Road - New Line (Combined Authority) £0! -£52,000 £0 £221,717] £0! £0 £0 £0 Amber £0 £0] £169,717|
Huddersfield Station Gateway £5,000,000! £0! £22,385 £0] £100,000 £2,937 £55,000 £57,937 Green/Amber £700,000 £2,000,000 £2,780,322]
Huddersfield Station Gateway (Combined Authority) £0! £27,615 £0 £2,630| £0! £0 £0 £0 Green/Amber £0 £0] £30,245|
Huddersfield Station Gateway (Phase 2) £5,000,000! £0! £0 £0] £0! £0 £0 £0 Amber £0 £0] £0|
Leeds City Centre Network and Interchange Package £79,600,000 £31,337 £278,000 £468,289] £643,000 £401,699 £198,301 £600,000 Green/Amber £1,396,258 £6,492,964] £9,266,848|
Leeds ELOR and North Leeds Outer Ring Road £82,980,000! £929,199 £1,554,106 £8,297,375 £5,700,000 £4,529,048 £6,500,074 £11,029,122 Green £7,000,000 £10,000,000] £38,809,802]
Leeds ELOR and North Leeds Outer Ring Road (Combined Authority) £0! -£140,000 £0 £1,169,320| £0 £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0] £1,029,320|
Leeds Station Gateway - Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan £400,000 Green/Amber | £0 £54,468 £117,583 £203,860 £0 £200,000 £200,000! Green £27,949 £0) £400,000
Leeds Station Gateway - New Station Street £2,120,000 £0 £41,036 £103,144] £1,446,820 £164 £547,698 £547,862 Amber £1,394,598 £0 £2,086,640)
M62 Junction 24A £18,510,000! £0! £12,976 £31,370] £15,500 £0 £15,500 £15,500 Amber £0 £0] £59,846
Rail Parking Package - Apperley Bridge £1,200,000 ’ Green/Ambe £0! £0 £0] £113,000 £0 £0 £0 Amber/Red £423,100 £736,900| £1,160,000|
Rail Parking Package - Ben Rhydding £2,100,537 " Green/Amber | £0 £0 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0] £0|
Rail Parking Package - Fitzwilliam £701,204; £701,204; Green £0 £28,210 £416,863 £108,461 £47,425 £0 £47,425 Complete £208,706 £12,672 £713,876|
Rail Parking Package - Fitzwilliam (Combined Authority) £0! £0! Green £0! -£28,210 £28,210| £0! £0 £0 £0 Complete £0 £0] £0|
Rail Parking Package - Garforth £825,000 £45,000 Amber £0 £0 £0 £440,000 £0 £45,000 £45,000 Amber £780,000 £0 £825,000
Rail Parking Package - Guiseley £7,000,000! £143,000 Red £0! £0 £0] £143,000 £0 £0 £0 Red £623,000 £1,000,000 £1,623,000|
Rail Parking Package - Hebden Bridge £754,445 £754,445 Amber £0 £0 £14,000 £631,000 £4,400 £214,000 £218,400 Amber £526,445 £0 £758,845|
Rail Parking Package - Knottingley £0 £0 Amber/Red £0 £0 £0) £1,474,000 £0 £0 £0 Red £0 £0) £0
Rail Parking Package - Mirfield A £308,863 £308,863 Green £0! £0 £0] £298,863 £170,000 £20,000 £190,000 Complete £0 £0] £190,000|
Rail Parking Package - Moorthorpe £1,100,000:! £110,500 " Green/Amber £0! £0 £0] £110,500 £0 £30,000 £30,000 Green/Amber £989,500 £0] £1,019,500|
Rail Parking Package - Mytholmroyd £3,640,000 £3,640,000 Green £0! £0 £0] £1,040,000 £0 £50,000 £50,000 Red £100,000 £500,000]| £650,000|
Rail Parking Package - Normanton £1,440,000 £0 Amber £0 £0 £0 £340,000 £0 £0 £0) Red £0) £1,440,000) £1,440,000)
Rail Parking Package - Outwood £1,540,000 £140,000 Green £0! £0 £0] £110,500 £8,895 £10,000 £18,895 Amber/Red £391,605 £689,500]| £1,100,000
Rail Parking Package - Shipley £2,550,000 £0 Green £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0) Amber £0) £1,000,000 £1,000,000
Rail Parking Package - South Elmsall £670,000 £670,000 Green £0! £120,000 £484,604| £5,000 £0 £15,396 £15,396 Complete £0 £0] £620,000|
Rail Parking Package - Steeton and Silsden £2,530,000 £897,000; Green £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £10,000 £10,000 Amber £100,000 £1,000,000 £1,110,000)
Rail Parking Package (Phase 1) £0! £1,701,000 Green £108,336 £409,181 £395,796 £160,000 £26,240 £162,846 £189,085 Green £0 £0] £1,102,398|
Rail Parking Package (Phase 2) £0 £138,000 Green £0 £137,997 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0 £137,997
South East Bradford Access Road £46,310,000 £91,000 Amber £0! £0 £25,259 £623,640 £46,039 £30,749 £76,788 Amber £1,665,000 £1,000,000 £2,767,047,
South East Bradford Access Road (Combined Authority) £0! £0! Amber £0 £0 £30,782 £0! £34,813 £0 £34,813 Amber £0 £0] £65,595|
Thorpe Park Station £10,060,000! £500,000 Amber £0! £3,382 £184,675 £156,998 £99,105 £89,358 £188,463 Amber £174,224 £5,000,000 £5,550,744
Transformational - LCR Inclusive Growth Corridor Plans £7,000,000! £2,395,000! Green £0 £0 £0] £0! £174,017 £324,367 £498,384 Green £0 £0| £498,384
Transformational - NE Calderdale Transformational Programme Study £400,000 £400,000 Green £0 £0 £0 £0 £100,488 £60,000 £160,488! Green £194,536 £0) £355,024
Transformational - North Kirklees Orbital Route Feasibility Study £248,000 £248,000 Green/Ambe £0 £0 £0) £223,000 £71,576 £122,500 £194,076 Green £45,500 £0| £239,576
Transformational - North Kirklees Orbital Route Feasibility Study (Combined Authority) £250,000 £248,000 £0! £0 £9,588 £0 £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0] £9,588|
Transformational - South Featherstone Link Road Feasibility Study £284,000 £284,000 £0 £0 £40,689) £165,380 £68,377 £174,934 £243,311 Green £0 £0 £284,000
Transformational - South Featherstone Link Road Feasibility Study (Combined Authority) £0 £0fl Green/Amber | £0 £0 £31,781 £0! £0 £6,041 £6,041 Green £0 £0] £37,822]
Transformational - York Northern Outer Ring Road Dualling Feasibility Study £295,000 £295,000 £0 £0 £10,000] £285,000 £160,117 £91,000 £251,117 Green £0 £0] £261,117|
Wakefield City Centre Package (Phase 1) - Kirkgate £5,556,000 £5,556,000! £73,878 £76,972 £3,647,458 £1,282,000 £1,661,563 £10,000 £1,671,563 Green £0 £0] £5,469,871]
Wakefield City Centre Package (Phase 1) - Kirkgate (Combined Authority) £0! £0! -£73,878 £0 £99,878 £0 £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0] £26,000
Wakefield City Centre Package (Phase 2) - Ings Road £3,452,000 £270,000 Green/Ambe " £0 £0 £27,437] £277,000 £25,378 £28,799 £54,176 Amber £287,000 £2,443,567| £2,812,181]
Wakefield City Centre Package (Phase 2) - Ings Road (Combined Authority) £0! ol Green/Amber £0 £0 £2,942 £0! £0 £0 £0 Amber £0 £0] £2,942]
Wakefield Eastern Relief Road £37,593,000! £37,593,000! £15,284,765 £14,435,236 £3,239,685 £538,960 £620,183 £50,000 £670,183 Complete £1,817,012 £0] £35,446,881]
Wakefield Eastern Relief Road (Combined Authority) £0! £0! £0! £0 £2,299,000 £0! £0 £0 £0 Complete £0 £0] £2,299,000
West Yorkshire Integrated UTMC £7,490,000 £450,000 £0! £29,011 £78,817| £1,460,000 £104,723 £354,000 £458,723 Green £3,900,000 £2,900,000 £7,366,551
West Yorkshire Integrated UTMC (Combined Authority) £0! £0! £0! -£19,970 £70,231 £0! £2,884 £0 £2,884 Green £0 £0] £53,145|
York Central Access Road and Station Access Improvements £37,320,000 £2,100,000 Green/Amber | £0 £0 £413,137 £1,524,000 £1,356,472 £632,516 £1,988,988, Amber £2,000,000! £6,000,000 £10,402,125]
York Northern Outer Ring Road £2,450,000 £2,450,000 £0 £0 £824,892 £4,232,000 £762,933 £316,020 £1,078,953 Green £227,556 £66,867 £2,198,268|
York Northern Outer Ring Road - Phase 1 (Wetherby Road) £3,599,264. £3,599,264. £0 £0 £3,000,000 £0! £489,491 £64,273 £553,764 Complete £45,500 £0] £3,599,264
York Northern Outer Ring Road - Phase 2 (Monks Cross) £3,585,000 £3,585,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £2,620,300 £2,620,300 Green £917,299 £47,401 £3,585,000)
York Northern Outer Ring Road - Phase 3 £28,645,736 £0! £0 £0 £0] £0! £0 £0 £0 Green £4,000,000 £6,000,000 £10,000,000]
West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund Delivery £0 £0 £1,654,577 £1,652,280 -£870,902 £0 £0 £1,377,675 £1,377,675 N/A £1,800,000 £1,800,000 £7,413,630)
Priority 4b - Balance of Funding £0! £0! £0! £0 £0] £16,704,319 £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0] £0|
Borrowing £0! £0! £0! £0 £0] £0! £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 -£56,451,144 -£56,451,144
Priority 4b - West Yorkshire + Transport Fund Total £950,588,796 £159,025,877 £19,656,322. £27,532,490, £40,862,891| £61,197,162. £20,289,620 £20,831,127, £41,120,747, £80,903,268, £70,824,282| £280,900,000
Flood Alleviation - Leeds £3,786,981 £3,786,981 £0! £3,786,981 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0] £3,786,981]
Flood Alleviation - Mytholmroyd £2,500,000! £2,500,000 " Green/Amber £0! £2,500,000 £0] £0! £0 £0 £0 Green/Amber £0 £0| £2,500,000
. Flood Alleviation - Skipton £1,500,000! £1,500,000! £0! £1,500,000 £0) £0 £0 £0 £0 Green £0 £0] £1,500,000
:ens?l?et::‘lecr-. Natural Flood Alleviation - Colne and Calder £1,299,107 £1,299,107 £0 £0 £0 £336,000 £45,000 £108,335 £153,335 Green £651,126 £494,646| £1,299,107|
b Natural Flood Alleviation - Upper Aire £400,000 £400,000 £0! £0 £0] £0! £0 £0 £0 Green £400,000 £0] £400,000|
Natural Flood Alleviation - Wyke Beck £2,558,000 £2,558,000 " Green/Amber £0 £0 £317,652 £2,282,348 £0 £1,821,905 £1,821,905 Green/Amber £418,443 £0 £2,558,000)
Priority 4c - Balance of Funding £0! £0! N/A £0! £0 £0] £0! £0 £0 £0 N/A £2,949,019 £4,984,143 £7,933,162|
Priority 4c - E ic Resilience Prog Total £12,044,088 £12,044,088 £0 £7,786,981 £317,652 £2,618,348 £45,000 £1,930,240 £1,975,240 £4,418,588 £5,478,789 £19,977,250)
Aire Valley Enterprise Zone £5,000,000! ol Green/Amber " £0 £0 £0] £4,400,000 £0 £4,400,000 £4,400,000 Green/Amber £600,000 £0] £5,000,000
Priority 4d - Enterprise |M62 Enterprise Zone £39,939,000 £1,818,000 Amber/Red £0 £0 £0 £1,000,000 £123,402 £359,166 £482,568 Amber £5,937,138 £33,519,295 £39,939,000
Zone Development Priority 4d - Over-programming £0! £0! N/A £0! £0 £0] £0! £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 -£24,939,000 -£24,939,000
Priority 4d - Enterprise Zone Development Total £44,939,000 £1,818,000 £0 £0) £0 £5,400,000 £123,402 £4,759,166 £4,882,568 £6,537,138 £8,580,295 £20,000,000
Priority 4e - Transport  |Leeds Inland Port £3,170,000 £0! N/A £0! £0 £0] £0! £0 £0 £0 N/A £0 £0] £0|
Priority 4e - Transport Total £3,170,000 £0 £0! £0 £0| £0! £0 £0 £0 £0 £0| £0|
Grand Total £1,238,603,337 £368,924,418 £38,082,983. £84,745,759 £90,532,441| £102,021,595 £47,372,370 £42,807,846| £90,180,217, £117,361,140 £95,447,461, £516,350,000)




Agenda Iltem 6

West
Yorkshire

Combined

Authority

Reportto:  West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee

Date: 13 March 2019
Subject: Capital Spending and Project Approvals
Director: Melanie Corcoran, Director of Delivery

Author(s):  Craig Taylor / Cath Pinn

1.1

1.2

1.3

Purpose of this report

To put forward proposals for the progression of, and funding for, a number of
West Yorkshire Combined Authority supported projects, including West
Yorkshire plus Transport Fund (Transport Fund) and Growth Fund, for
consideration by the Investment Committee at stages 1, 2 and 3 of the
Combined Authority’s assurance process.

The Investment Committee has delegated decision making authority, this was
approved by the Combined Authority on 13 December 2018. Where
Investment Committee is asked to make an approval decision this will be
highlighted in the summary table and made clear in the recommendations.

This report presents proposals for the progression of seven schemes through
the Combined Authority’s assurance process in line with the Leeds City
Region Assurance Framework. These schemes have a total combined funding
value of £362.487 million when fully approved, of which the total value of
£74.683 million will be funded by the Combined Authority. No expenditure
recommendation is sought as part of this report. Further details on the
schemes are summarised below and can be found as part of this report.

Scheme Scheme description

Leeds City Region Growth | This scheme will deliver a dedicated, flexible business
Service support service for the Leeds City Region’s larger small and
medium enterprises (SMEs). The support will be delivered
by a team of 19 SME Growth Managers as a key component
of the Leeds City Region Growth Service. The Growth
Managers will be located within the City Region’s districts
and employed by the local authorities. They will provide
information, diagnosis and brokerage function for their
clients. This involves understanding the needs of the
business and then linking them directly to the right support
at the right time to meet their ongoing business needs. This

Leeds City Region

will enable engagement with a broader range of businesses,

17




whilst giving bespoke intensive support to 690 businesses
focusing on assisting them with their growth, sustainability
and resilience

The scheme fits with Priority 1 of the Leeds City Region
Strategic Economic Plan to boost business growth
productivity, exports and investment by linking businesses to
support and funding, including through the LEP Growth
Service, Skill Service and support from other partners,
including the Department for International Trade.

Impact

The scheme is considered to offer good value for money
when compared against national comparator data for
business support schemes.

The SME’s supported will improve their business resilience
and, as a result, be in a stronger position to address future
challenges and take advantage of future opportunities for
growth. A significant proportion of the SMEs will receive
support with property relocation / reconfiguration, which will
make their futures more secure, sustainable and productive.

The project will focus on business resilience by supporting
the SMEs to undertake more holistic and longer-term
financial planning that will enable them to address the
challenges, and take advantage of any opportunities, arising
from Brexit

At a more macro level, the Leeds City Region will become
stronger as a result of 690 of its SMEs becoming more
resilient, sustainable and productive. This will enable them
to strengthen their positions within national and international
markets and continually introduce new products and
processes.

Decision sought

Approval to proceed through decision point 2 and work
commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised
costs) subject to external funding being secured.

Total project value - £3,401,756. Total value of Combined
Authority funding - £2,465,413 (£1,700,878 European
Structural and Investment Funds, £764,535 Department of
Business, Energy and Industrial Growth Hub) — not yet
secured. The remaining contribution to total scheme costs
will be from district partners who will fund £936,343.

Funding recommendation sought - £0

A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought
as part of this report.

Scheme

Resource Efficiency Fund
2

Leeds City Region and
North Yorkshire local
authority areas (excluding
Barnsley)

Scheme description

The Resource Efficiency Fund 2 (REF 2) project will provide
both grant support and advice to Small to Medium
Enterprises (SMEs) to help them become more resource
efficient.

This scheme will contribute significantly towards Priority 3 of
the Strategic Economic Plan and aligns closely with the new
‘Clean Growth’ Combined Authority corporate priority. The

18




project will provide support advice and/or grants to SMEs to
improve their energy and resource efficiency.

The project will:

o Offer SMEs advice and capital grants to reduce water,
energy and waste consumption and to adopt circular
economy principles.

¢ Reduce SME costs, enabling them to be more productive
and competitive.

¢ Reduce carbon emissions estimated at 2,500 tonnes per
annum.

e Leverage in over £2.8 million ERDF funding and over
£2.5 million private sector match funding.

Impact

The value for money of the scheme appears to be good at
this stage of scheme development.

Up to 392 SMEs with Environmental Resource Efficiency
(ERE) assessments.

Approximately 169 grants (including the introduction of new
large grants)

Up to 66 SMEs supported, helping to create new circular,
resource efficient business models, products or services
(circular economy support).

The scheme’s wider social benefits include potential for
improvements to employees’ health and wellbeing through
changes to the working environment as well as for both
social and environmental benefits as a result of promotion of
the Circular Economy business model approach.

Decision sought

Approval to proceed through decision point 2 and work
commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised
costs) subject to external funding being secured.

Total project value - £6.293 million

Total value of Combined Authority funding - £3.786 million
(This includes the funding covering the York and North
Yorkshire elements of the scheme which the Combined
Authority will be the accountable body for) (Local Growth
Fund)

Funding recommendation sought - £0

A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought
as part of this report.

Scheme

Leeds Flood Alleviation
Scheme 2

Scheme description

The Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme (FAS) Phase 2
comprises Flood alleviation works to the River Aire - north
west of Leeds Station to Apperley Bridge. It will extend
linear and natural flood defences upstream of Leeds City
Station to increase the standard of protection against flood
events to withstand a 1 in 200-year event, upon completion
of the works at Calverley, building on the defences provided
in central Leeds for the River Aire by FAS Phase 1 in 2017.

19




The scheme is funded by Defra and the Environment
Agency, Leeds City Council, ESIF, Local Growth Fund with
current applications to the Forestry Commission, Network
Rail and others.

Impact
Benefit to Cost Ratio of 9:4:1 including GVA.

The scheme’s wider social benefits include creating
commercial confidence, improving health and wellbeing for
surrounding communities made free from stress about
flooding and benefiting from enhanced riverside access and
urban greenspace.

The Local Growth Fund flood alleviation programme aims to
reduce the flood risk of 1,385 businesses and therefore
safeguard 11,000 jobs

Decision sought

Approval to proceed through decision point 3 and work
commences on activity 5 (Full business case with finalised
costs)

Total value - £112 million

Total value of Combined Authority funding — £3.9 million
(Local Growth Fund)

Funding recommendation sought — £0

A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought
as part of this report.

Scheme

A61 (North) Bus Priority
Corridor

Leeds

Scheme description

The scheme consists of a series of improvements to bus
prioritisation and complementary walking and cycling
measures. This includes the extension of bus lanes, the
reallocation of road space to provide shared bus/cycle lanes
and key junction improvements

The scheme supports Priority 4 (Infrastructure for Growth) of
the Strategic Economic Plan. It is part of and funded by the
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP) and
will be funded through the devolved Department for
Transport funding.

Impact

The forecast benefit cost ratio (BCR) is 1.87:1 which
represents ‘medium’ value for money (VfM) The scheme’s
wider social benefits include providing better accessibility to
jobs and services for local communities, particularly lower
income groups in north Leeds and helping to reduce levels
of nitrogen oxides on this key transport corridor

Decision sought

Approval to proceed through decision point 3 and
commence work on activity 4 (full business case)

Total value - £16.1 million

Total value of Combined Authority funding - £16.1 million
(Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme)

Funding recommendation sought - £0

20




A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought
as part of this report.

Scheme

Wakefield South East
Gateway

Wakefield

Scheme description

This scheme will assist the next phase of regeneration of the
South East Gateway in Wakefield through the restoration of

Rutland Mill into a creative industries jobs hub; and delivery

of site acquisition and clearance of Kirkgate brownfield sites

to enable the delivery of new homes.

The scheme is to be funded by the Local Growth Fund.

Impact

The economic case has monetised the benefits that could
result from the scheme and the resulting GVA demonstrates
that the project could have a positive benefit cost ratio
(BCR) of 14.1. However, in light of the risks associated with
the project more work is needed as part of the FBC to
further inform the scenarios that have been tested.

The scheme’s wider social benefits include new local
employment opportunities, homes and attracting footfall to
Wakefield.

Decision sought

Approval to proceed through decision point 3 and work
commences on activity 4 full business case.

Total value: £32.62 million

Total value of Combined Authority funding — £6.5 million
(Local Growth Fund)

Funding recommendation sought - £0

A recommendation to the Combined Authority is sought
as part of this report.

Scheme
Dewsbury Riverside

Kirklees

Scheme description

This scheme involves the provision of site access and
sustainable urban drainage systems (SuDS) infrastructure to
bring forward the development of the first phase of 240
homes at Dewsbury Riverside at two sites; Lees Hall Road
and Ravensthorpe Road.

The scheme supports Priority 4 (Infrastructure for Growth) of
the Strategic Economic Plan and Dewsbury Riverside is part
of the North Kirklees Growth Zone (NKGZ) which is a
recognised Spatial Priority Area.

The scheme is the first phase of proposals to develop up to
4,000 new homes at Dewsbury Riverside which are the
subject of a bid to the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF).

Impact

The scheme represents good value for money at this stage
and this will be assessed further at full business case. This
initial phase of development has a number of potential
benefits linked the wider Dewsbury Riverside development
including:

¢ Providing a catalyst for future housing development in
the area

21




e Establishing a quality benchmark for standards for
future housing development

e Enabling the development of an integrated flood risk
reduction programme, incorporating flood defences,
green infrastructure SuDS and sustainable development
across the entire area.

Decision sought

Approval to proceed through decision point 3 and work
commences on activity 4 (Full business case)

Total value - £4.612 million

Total value of Combined Authority funding - £4.612 million
(Local Growth Fund)

Funding recommendation sought - £0 million

A decision by the Investment Committee using the
delegated authority from the Combined Authority is
sought as part of this report.

Scheme

York Central: Access
Road and Station Access
Improvements

York

Scheme description

The scheme involves the delivery of infrastructure,
accessibility and public realm improvements at York Central
and York station to support the delivery of a major mixed-
use scheme in the centre of the City.

The West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund will contribute to
the funding of:

¢ A new access road into York Central to ‘unlock; housing
and employment sites for development by the private
sector

¢ A series of accessibility and public realm improvements to
the front (eastern side) of York station

e Pedestrian access improvements to the western station
entrance into the York Central site

The delivery of these elements of the scheme are
dependent on City of York (CYC) Council funding and on
securing match funding from the Housing Infrastructure
Fund (HIF).

Impact

The forecast benefit cost ratio (BCR) of the scheme is 1.2:1
which represents low value for money as a stand-alone
transport scheme. However, the core objectives of the
scheme are to facilitate the delivery of up to 2,500 new
homes (20% affordable) and a minimum of 76,000m2 of
new commercial floorspace. It has the potential to generate
up to 6,000 (gross) new jobs which could generate
significant Gross Value Added (GVA) benefits to the Leeds
City Region (LCR) and demonstrate potentially good value
for money in terms of the public sector cost per job created.

Decision sought

Approval to proceed through decision point 4 (Full business
case) and work commences on activity 5 (Full business
case plus costs) subject to the conditions set out in this
report

22




1.4

Total value of scheme - £187.46 million

Total value of Combined Authority funding - £37.32 million
(a £4.32 million increase to the indicative scheme costs from
the Gateway 1 approval of £33 million) (West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund)

Funding recommendation sought - £0

A decision by the Investment Committee using the
delegated authority from the Combined Authority is
sought as part of this report.

This report also presents recommendations for the following scheme that has
had a change request assessed in line with the Combined Authority’s
assurance process. This scheme has a funding value of £10.828 million when
fully approved, of which £10.828 million will be funded by the Combined
Authority. Further details on the scheme is summarised below and can be

found as part of this report.

Scheme

Superfast West Yorkshire
and York - Contract 3

West Yorkshire and York

Scheme description

The City Region’s Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) has laid
out an ambition to achieve 99% superfast broadband 30
megabits per second connectivity across West Yorkshire
and York by 2018/2019. The Superfast West Yorkshire and
York Broadband (SWYY) programme is well on the way to
meeting this ambition with the first two contracts of the
programme on track to deliver up to 98% by 2021.

Phase 3 will deploy broadband infrastructure across the
West Yorkshire and York geography within some of the
hardest to reach urban and rural areas, areas not already
targeted through a commercial roll out and areas not
targeted by the previous phases.

The scheme is funded from the Department for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), European
Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF / ERDF), Business
Rate Pool Allocation and gainshare (carried forward from
the West Yorkshire Broadband Contacts 1 and 2.

Impact

The scheme will lead to a gross value added (GVA) over 15
years of around £100 million.

The scheme’s wider social benefits include improving the
sustainability of local businesses and enabling expansion
and increased access to employment.

Decision sought

Activity 3 Change Request to reduce the total scheme costs
as a result of the Combined Authority being in receipt of a
reduced level of funding than was forecast at decision point
2 when funding bids had just been submitted. There is also
a proportionate reduction to the forecast scheme outputs.

Total value - £10.828 million

Total value of Combined Authority funding - £10.828 million
(Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs,
European Structural and Investment Funds and gainshare

23




1.5

(carried forward from the West Yorkshire Broadband
Contracts 1 and 2))

Funding recommendation sought - £0

A decision by the Investment Committee using the
delegated authority from the Combined Authority is
sought as part of this report.

Since the Investment Committee’s meeting in February 2019, the following
decision points and change requests have been assessed in line with the
Combined Authority’s assurance process and approved through the agreed
delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director. Under the
delegation a total expenditure of £1.378 million has been approved.

Scheme

Harrogate Road/New Line
Junction Improvement

Bradford

Scheme description

This scheme will rebuild the Harrogate Road / New Line
Junction to create junction improvements to ease
congestion.

The expected outputs of the scheme are to reduce
congestion, increase safety provision for cyclists and
pedestrians and support delivery of significant new housing
developments together with longer term development
opportunities.

Decision made

The change request approved an increase of £990,000 in
approved funding up to full business case (decision point 4),
taking total approval to £2.875 million.

Scheme

Apprenticeship Grants for
Employers (AGE)

Leeds City Region

Scheme description

The scheme offers grants to employers to encourage and
support more businesses to offer apprenticeship
opportunities.

Decision made

The Activity 6 change request approved a revision to the
size of business which could access grants to ones with 249
employees or fewer (previously 50 employees or less), any
apprenticeship following the apprenticeship framework can
access grants (previously it was limited to defined sectors)
and an increase to the value of the core grant from £1,500
to £2,000.

Scheme

Natural Flood
Management - Upper Aire

Scheme description

A programme of flood risk management projects has been
developed that will improve the resilience of businesses in
Leeds City Region Spatial Priority Areas.

The expected outputs and benefits of the scheme are: flood
risk reduction to 865 homes and 53 businesses; creation of
145 hectares of quality green infrastructure and creation of
new woodland through planting 10,000 trees.

Decision made

Decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs) for
total project value of £408,000 is given and a Combined

24




2.2

2.3

Authority contribution of £388,000 (Local Growth Fund) and
work commence on activity 6 (delivery).

Information

The background information on the Combined Authority’s assurance
framework through which each of the schemes outlined in this report are being
approved is provided in Appendix 1. In addition, this appendix also provides
a description of the approach for the future assurance approval pathway and
the assurance tolerances for each scheme.

Programmes and projects for consideration

Projects in stage 1: Eligibility

Stage 1: Eligibility

Activity 1 Activity 2

Case
0""0

Projects at the eligibility stage are seeking entry into the portfolio and should
demonstrate a strategic fit in terms of project outcomes, with further project
definition including costs and detailed timescales to be developed as the
project progresses through the assurance process. At this stage funding may
be sought to enable this work to progress.

Project Title Leeds City Region Growth Service

Stage 1 (Eligibility)

T EHB LA 2 (Case paper)

Is this a key decision? U Yes No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes I No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

. O Yes No
appendices?

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

This scheme will deliver a dedicated, flexible business support service for the
Leeds City Region’s larger SMEs. The support will be delivered by a team of

25



24

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

19 SME Growth Managers as a key component of the Leeds City Region
Growth Service. The Growth Managers will be located within the City
Region’s districts and employed by the local authorities. They will provide
information, diagnosis and brokerage function for their clients. This involves
understanding the needs of the business and then linking them directly to the
right support at the right time to meet their ongoing business needs.

The project is open to all SMEs (less than 250 employees and annual turnover
of under circa £40m) in Leeds City Region, but will primarily target those in the
current priority sectors of the LEP’s Strategic Economic Plan. 306 of the 690
businesses to be supported will receive more intensive support (i.e. minimum
of 12 hours, remainder min. of 3 hours each) and these are expected to be
larger ones (50+ staff) that are involved in international trade and are
positioned within larger supply chains. They are also likely to be those that
have current requirements to move or adapt their premises as there will be
specific support available from the project to assist with this. Current
intelligence points towards an ongoing increase in property requirements for
larger SMEs.

The project will focus on business resilience by supporting the SMEs to
undertake more holistic and longer-term financial planning that will enable
them to address the challenges, and take advantage of any opportunities,
arising from Brexit. This will be particularly important for businesses involved
in international trade and that have employees from EU member states. It will
also focus on SMEs that are in larger supply chains and also have numerous
suppliers of their own. Private sector support will be procured to develop a
financial health check product that will be used to improve cash-flow and risk
management. The SMEs will also be directly referred into the Brexit
preparation support available from the Department for International Trade and
the Chambers of Commerce.

Examples could include brokering the businesses to export and innovation
support schemes, assisting businesses to apply for capital grant investments,
supporting businesses to work with a Higher Education Institution or directly
assisting businesses with their property expansion requirements. The most
important factor throughout is to remain responsive to the ongoing needs of
the businesses, and to ensure that they are supported to meet ongoing
challenges, and / or, take advantage of emerging opportunities. There
remains a focus on growth, but also on business resilience and planning in the
current environment.

The existing LEP Growth Service commenced in April 2015 (officially launched
in July 2015) and since then has been funded by Government (BEIS) via its
Growth Hub allocation. The LEP and Combined Authority received £612,500
in the first year (15/16) and £512,500 per year since (16/17), with this funding
committed until the end of 19/20 at present.

Approximately half of the funding from Government has to date been used to
50% fund the salaries of the existing 10.5 FTE Growth Managers employed by
the Local Authorities (LAs) of Leeds City Region, but who operate under the
LEP brand, with the other 50% coming from the LAs.

26



29

2.10

2.1

212

213

If this funding is approved, the service will secure an additional £1.701 million
of ERDF funding over three years from April 2019 to provide a more intensive
support service to 690 of its larger SMEs.

To date, the Growth Service has supported over 4,000 SMEs with light-touch
support and over 2,000 with more intensive support. The Growth Service has
managed over 5,000 enquiries from new and existing businesses and has
achieved a customer satisfaction rate of 86%. The LEP products accessed
from the Growth Service have created over 4,000 jobs to date, and helped to
safeguard another 1,500.

The objectives of the scheme are:

o Support and facilitate the growth and sustainability of strategically-
important SMEs in Leeds City Region

J Put SMEs in stronger positions to identify, and plan effectively for, short
to mid—term changes in the economic, regulatory and legislative
environment

o Gather direct intelligence from SMEs on the main issues, challenges and
opportunities facing them in the current climate

o Develop a methodology for identifying the most strategically important
SMEs within a district

o Support a number of SMEs to find sustainable, long-term solutions to
their accommodation requirements

o Develop a contemporary financial health product and successfully apply
it for SMEs

o Support SMEs to trade more successfully and sustainably within the
national and international markets.

The scheme fits with priority 1 of the Leeds City Region Strategic Economic
Plan.

A summary of the scheme’s business case is included in Appendix 2.
Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications

o The SME’s supported will improve their business resilience and, as a
result, be in a stronger position to address future challenges and take
advantage of future opportunities for growth. A significant proportion of
the SMEs will receive support with property relocation / reconfiguration,
which will make their futures more secure, sustainable and productive.

o At a more macro level, the Leeds City Region will become stronger as a
result of 690 of its SMEs becoming more resilient, sustainable and
productive. This will enable them to strengthen their positions within
national and international markets and continually introduce new
products and processes.

27



214

The Government’s backing for the Growth Service is clear indication of it
meeting national policy objectives in the field of business support, and
that obviously extends to the Growth Manager function. In addition, the
emerging National Industrial Strategy has a clear focus on improving
productivity, which is also a primary aim of this project and of the LEPs
own response to the ‘long tail’ productivity challenge.

The ongoing work of the existing 10.5 Growth Managers will contribute to
the provision of efficient local referral routes to ensure that small and
medium enterprises are able to identify and access the most appropriate
and tailored support to meet their need specific growth needs.

The new 8.5 Growth Managers will support small and medium sized
enterprises to develop focussed growth strategies and update or
introduce new business models which will drive business performance.
The property and financial health elements of the project will clearly align
to this.

The existing and new Growth Manager will provide elements of
‘leadership and management support where connected to the
development and implementation of a business growth plan. They will
refer their client to more intensive support in this area where appropriate
e.g. through the new Skills Service, the Godman Sachs 10k small
businesses programme, Export for Growth, Manufacturing Growth
Programme, Supply Chain Development Programme and the LEPs SBG
programme.

Existing clients will be referred to grant schemes to support productive
investment and the provision of advice and consultancy on access to
finance. The new Investment Readiness project will be a key referral
product and the Growth Manager’s most common product-referral is to
the LEPs Capital Grants programme.

306 SMEs receive a minimum of 12 hours support.

690 SMEs receive a minimum of 3 hours of (Information, Diagnostic and
Brokerage) IDB support.

Risks

The key design and delivery risks to the scheme and associated mitigation
measure are: -

The Combined Authority is not successful in gaining ESIF funding. The
existing Growth Manager would continue to deliver account management
support within the current Growth Service model and other sources of
funding would be explored e.g. Local Growth Fund, Business Rates Pool
and Growing Places Fund, but these are currently scarce in terms of
Revenue funding. The opportunity to increase the Growth Manager
resource and, in the process, provide more focussed and intensive
support to a cohort of large SMEs would be lost.

28



2.15
2.16

217

The Combined Authority receives a smaller ESIF grant than anticipated.
The project model is adaptable to the resources available to the
resources available as the investment is primarily in staff who will directly
work with the SMEs. Therefore, if the amount of ESIF is reduced, the
new Growth Manager resource would have to be reduced accordingly,
and there would be a proportionate reduction on the number of SMEs
supported.

The award of the ESIF funding is delayed. As referenced above, the
adaptability of the delivery model means that support to SMEs could still
be delivered at whatever point in time the project commences. However,
the current economic and legislative climate clearly point towards the
need for SMEs to access support in the short-term, in order to put them
in stronger financial and operational positions for the medium to long-
term.

The level of award for BEIS. At present, there is only funding committed
from BEIS for 19/20, which means funding needs to be secured for the
other two years of the project if BEIS does not extend the current Growth
Hub funding. The likelihood of extended BEIS funding is reasonably
high, but other options need to be fully explored so that the Combined
Authority can match the three-year commitment of the Local Authorities
to 50% fund the existing team of 10.5 FTE Growth Managers. Work is
ongoing in this area, with Local Growth Deal, Growing Places Fund and
Business Rates Pool identified as potential options, although none can
be guaranteed for a range of valid reasons.

There is a risk of clawback on all ERDF-funded projects, but this is
mitigated by the Combined Authority’s considerable experience and
expertise in successfully managing ERDF projects.

Ensuring that the SMEs most likely to benefit from the support are the
ones that access it, will be a key priority to ensure that the resources are
used most effectively. This will be mitigated by the utilisation of existing
business networks and relationships in the districts, with private sector
intermediaries and with business membership groups, and by integrating
the support within the wider LEP Growth Service to ensure that any
business that makes an enquiry can access as appropriate amount of
support.

Costs
The current total forecast cost of the scheme is £3,401,756

The Combined Authority will fund £2,465,413 of the scheme costs, which will
be funded as follows

ESIF funding - £1,700,878
BEIS Growth Hub funding - £764,535

Both of these funding sources are in the process of being applied for and have
not been confirmed yet.

29



2.18 The remaining contribution to total scheme costs will be from local authority

219

partners who will fund £936,343.

If the Combined Authority is successful in securing the ESIF funding, the
Combined Authority will be required to enter into a Funding Agreement with
the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government

Timescales

o Decision on ESIF funding is expected mid-March 2019

o Forecasted decision point 5 approval is April 2019

. Scheme start date — April 2019

o First businesses assisted — May 2019

° Scheme end date - March 2022

o Forecast decision point 6 approval is May 2019

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway

Approval route

Decision point 2 (case paper)

Recommendation: Investment Committee

Decision: Combined Authority

Decision point 5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

30% of the levels set out in this report.

of the 306 figure forecast

The Combined Authority contribution (ESIF and BEIS Growth Hub) should remain within

That programme timescales remain within 6 months of the ones set out in this report

The number of SMEs receiving a minimum of 12 hours of support should remain within 15%

The number of SMEs receiving a minimum of 3 hours of Information, Diagnostic and
Brokerage (IDB) support should remain within 15% of the 690 figure forecast

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer

Sue Cooke, Combined Authority

Project Manager

Henry Rigg, Combined Authority

Combined Authority case officer

Paul Coy

30




2.20

2.21

2.22

Appraisal summary

The Combined Authority has an existing, established Growth Service model,
and it has been demonstrated than an expansion to this service through the
delivery of this scheme would allow the service to look at the more critical
issues that need to be addressed by the Leeds City Region including property
investment, financial health and business resilience in the current and future
economic climate.

As a comparator, the’ England ERDF Programme 2014-20. Output Unit Costs
and Definitions’ study states that the median cost per intensive business assist
is £10,000, and on this project the cost per output will be lower at £5,534.
Furthermore, the study puts cost per output for less intensive support to SMEs
at between £2,500 and £4,700, and on this project the cost per output will be
£2,454. This demonstrates that this scheme will deliver the type of business
support proposed in a cost effective manner.

Recommendations
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The Leeds City Region Growth Service project proceeds through
decision point 2 (case paper) and work commences on activity 5 (full
business case).

(i)  An indicative approval to the total project costs of £3,401,756, of which
the Combined Authority contribution will be £2,465,413 (which will be
funded through £764,535 from the BEIS Growth Hub funding and
£1,700,878 from the ESIF funding is given with full approval to spend
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs). The
remaining £936,343 will be funded by Leeds City Region District
Partners.

(i) The Combined Authority delegates the authority to enter into a funding
agreement with Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local
Government (ESIF) and BEIS (Growth hub funding) to the Combined
Authority’s Managing Director.

(iv) The Combined Authority delegates the authority to enter into or amend
funding agreements with the local authorities to the Combined Authority’s
Managing Director.

(v) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

31



Project Title Resource Efficiency Fund 2

Stage 1 (Eligibility)

DTGB 2 (Case paper)

Is this a key decision? U Yes No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes I No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

appendices? [ Yes No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

2.23 The REF 2 project is funded through the Local Growth Fund. The purpose of
this funding is to attract the next generation of jobs and deliver a step change
to the growth of the City Region. The Growth Deal enables implementation of
the priorities set out in the Strategic Economic Plan including the development
of housing and commercial sites, expansion of a skilled workforce, support to
growing businesses, promotion of resource efficiency and investment in
integrated transport (through the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund).

2.24 In addition the REF 2 project is seeking ERDF funding through Priority Axis 4
the “Low Carbon call for projects”. The objectives of this funding is to:

J Promote the production and distribution of energy derived from
renewable resources

o Promote energy efficiency and renewable energy use in enterprises

o Support energy efficiency, smart energy management and renewable
energy use in public infrastructure, including in public buildings, and in
the housing sector

o Promote low-carbon strategies for all types of territories, in particular for
urban areas, including the promotion of sustainable multimodal urban
mobility and mitigation-relevant adaptation measures

o Promote research and innovation in, and adoption of, low-carbon
technologies.

2.25 The Resource Efficiency Fund (REF) is a project which provides both grant
support and advice to SMEs to enable them to make their businesses more
resource efficient. REF 1 is a successful grant funding programme which has

32



2.26

2.27

been operated by the Combined Authority since November 2016, and is due to
conclude in October 2019. So far, in this period REF 1 has delivered the
following outputs:

Table 1: Progress as at 31 January 2019

Current Revised Programme
Target (31/10/19)
Total Business Contacts 554 501
Assessmc_ents 294 321
Commissioned
Businesses Supported 213 303
Businesses receiving non- 188 200

financial support

Businesses receiving
information, diagnostic and 82 75
brokerage support

Grants Completed 103 133

o Energy reduction (kWh) — 5,970,241 (target 1,018,335)
o CO2 savings (tonnes) — 1,707 (target 3,290)

o Water savings (m3) — 7,417 (target 11,828)

o Waste diverted (tonnes) — 35 (target 6,092)

The REF 2 scheme builds on the success of REF 1 and will provide enhanced
Environmental Resource Efficiency (ERE) and Circular Economy (CE) support
to Small to Medium Enterprises across the Leeds City Region and North
Yorkshire. REF 2 differs from the REF 1 by offering additional larger grants
and circular economy support. REF 2 is expected to deliver:

o Up to 392 SMEs with Environmental Resource Efficiency (ERE)
assessments.

o Approximately 169 grants (including the introduction of new large grants)

o Up to 66 SMEs with new Circular Economy support, helping to create
new circular, resource efficient business models, products or services.

Circular Economy is a new approach that challenges inefficient production,
returning materials back to the economy. It directly supports the aims of the
Industrial Strategy. This is a new rapidly emerging policy area that will enable
a smarter approach to resources while supporting sustainable and inclusive
growth. A small circular economy pilot aims to address the challenges of
inefficient production by returning valuable materials back into the economy. It
will do this by providing specialist business support to investigate new

33



2.28

2.29

2.30

2.31

2.32

business models for SMEs and further clean growth opportunities. REF 2
provides a unique opportunity to pioneer this approach.

ERE assessments involve providing information and advice to SMEs about the
conservation of energy and resources. This will support reduction in CO2,
water and waste and will support air quality improvements thereby reducing
the impact of the business on the environment, reducing costs and increasing
competitiveness.

The programme will support improved productivity in SMEs as well as
environmental improvements and carbon reduction. REF 2 clearly aligns with
priority 1 and priority 3 of the Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan.

o Priority 1: Growing Businesses, offering information, advice and support
to SMEs, which in turn will drive business growth and productivity. The
introduction of large grants will target energy efficiency, supporting
businesses to save costs and increase productivity. The programme
also sits within, and complements, the City Region’s Growth Hub.

o Priority 3: Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience as this
programme will support SMEs to improve their ERE performance and
save an estimated 2,600 tonnes/CO2 annually, thus helping to build a
low carbon economy. The introduction of new larger grants is proposed
to address a current barrier in the REF. A number of SMEs have been
unable to deliver a greater range of ERE measures and maximise carbon
savings due to the grants offered being too small. This new programme
addresses this.

With support from the York, North Yorkshire and East Riding Local Enterprise
Partnership, the REF 2 programme will extend support to SMEs across the
four North Yorkshire districts which are not within the Leeds City Region
geography - Richmondshire, Hambleton, Ryedale and Scarborough.

Two outline ERDF applications with a combined value of £2.825 million were
submitted in November 2018 to corresponding Low Carbon calls for both the
York North Yorkshire East Riding and the Leeds City Region Local Enterprise
Partnership areas. This will provide the main source project funds from the
public sector. If successful, the Combined Authority, acting as the lead
applicant and delivery agent, will be invited to submit a full application to
secure these funds. On the 13th of February it was confirmed that the Leeds
City Region outline application has been successful and invited to submit a full
application. The status of the North Yorkshire outline application is yet to be
confirmed. Should the North Yorkshire application be unsuccessful the Leeds
City Region application is unaffected and will proceed.

REF 2 will be delivered through the Leeds City Region Growth Service,
transitioning from the current REF scheme. A team of six will deliver the
programme for the Leeds City Region (LCR) with up to three additional
members to cover the York, North Yorkshire and East Riding LEP area. This
will comprise one team, based in the existing Leeds City Region Growth Hub.
The whole team will be based out of the Leeds City Region Growth Service

34



2.33

2.34

2.35

2.36

but specific arrangements for staff covering North Yorkshire will be agreed as
the project progresses.

It is also worth noting that the LEP review is moving forward with local
consensus for the creation of a new LEP covering the areas of West and North
Yorkshire. Both the Leeds City Region and York North Yorkshire East Riding
LEPs have committed to take a proposal for the new LEP to their respective
boards in March 2019. The new LEP would be operational by April 2020, in
line with government guidance, and the geography is aligned to the REF 2
project.

A summary of the scheme’s business case is included in Appendix 3.
Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications
The forecast outputs from the REF 2 project are as follows:

o 290 businesses assisted in Leeds City Region through ERE
assessments

J 127 enterprises receiving grant support in the Leeds City Region —
including new large grants

o 102 businesses assisted in North Yorkshire through ERE assessments

o 42 enterprises receiving grant support in North Yorkshire — including new
large grants

o 36 businesses receiving Circular Economy support in the Leeds City
Region

o 30 businesses receiving Circular Economy support in North Yorkshire

o Reduction of 1,941 tonnes of CO2 per annum across the Leeds City
Region

o Reduction of 630 tonnes of CO2 per annum in North Yorkshire
Overall, the enhanced programme will directly benefit SMEs, resulting in:

o Improved productivity and environmental performance

o Reduced carbon emissions

o Resource efficient businesses: water, waste, emissions

o Business support and enhanced productivity

J New - Larger grants to enable greater financial and carbon savings

o Integration of renewable energy (to be explored at the Full application)

o New - Development of circular economy business models

It is expected these outcomes and outputs will be delivered by the conclusion
of the programme in October 2022.

35



2.37

2.38

The wider inclusive growth benefits of the programme are as follows:

Potential improved employee health and wellbeing through improved
facilities/working conditions — this was reported from the participants in
the existing REF project

Potential to reduce local emissions, improve air quality and therefore
have a positive impact on health

Help businesses be more efficient in their use of energy and resources,
allowing them to de-couple growth from carbon emissions and pollution

Potential for both social and environmental benefits as a result of
promotion of the Circular Economy business model approach

Risks

The key risks to the project and proposed mitigations are as follows:

Risk — ERDF Funding is not approved and therefore the project cannot
go ahead. Mitigation — Work closely with ESIF Committee/ Managing
Authority to produce the best possible application.

Risk — The project fails to comply with ERDF eligibility and State Aid
regulations. Mitigation — Resources identified to work on full bid to
manage compliance risks. State Aid study to be commissioned with
funds identified.

Risk — Low uptake of resource efficiency/Circular Economy services and
projects meaning the projected ERDF outputs are not delivered resulting
in funding clawback. Mitigation — Build on the success of the current
REF 1 project as well as other programmes within the Leeds City Region
growth service and national best practice (in particular looking to Zero
Waste Scotland for best practice on Circular Economy). Set up a
database of warm leads. Utilise learning from the existing project to
ensure appropriate flexibility and project lead in times are built in to make
the project as accessible as possible.

Risk — ERDF funding is only secured for part of the geography and
therefore the full project cannot be delivered as planned. Mitigation —
Work closely with ESIF Committee/ Managing Authority to produce the
best possible application. Introduce a condition that regardless of the
success of the York, North Yorkshire East Riding bid, the Leeds City
Region element can still go ahead which will mean the project can be
partially delivered. If only the North Yorkshire element is approved, the
project will not go ahead.

Risk — Local Growth Fund for the North Yorkshire element of the project
is yet to be formally secured. Mitigation — This has been agreed in
principle at director level but formal sign off is still required. The team are
working closely with colleagues within the York North Yorkshire East
Riding LEP to ensure the North Yorkshire element can be delivered.
Work is underway with the Combined Authority’s legal team to ascertain
the best way in which to do this.

36



Costs

2.39 The total cost of the scheme is £6.293 million. This will be funded as follows:

Source Total (Em) Current status
Leeds City Region Growth 0.751 Indicative approval sought
Fund (Over programming) ) as part of this report
. Approval will be sought from
York, North Yorkshire and York, North Yorkshire and
East Riding Local Enterprise | 0.210 L ;
. East Riding Local Enterprise
Partnership Growth Fund .
Partnership
Outline application
submitted 23/11/18 -
ERDF Leeds City Region 2.000 approval to proceed to stage
2 application received
13/2/19
Outline application
ERDF York, North Yorkshire 0.825 submitted 23/11/18 -
and East Riding ’ awaiting recommendation to
proceed to stage 2
Sub 'I_'otal — Public Sector 3.786
Funding
SME Match LCR 1.893 To be secured as part of the
grant application process
SME Match YNYER 0.614 To be secured as part of the
grant application process
Total Cost 6.293

2.40 The Combined Authority will be the accountable body for all public sector
funding on the project (Growth Fund and ERDF from Leeds City Region and
York, North Yorkshire and East Riding City Region). This totals £3.786 million.
Subject to a successful application to the Local Enterprise Partnership, York,
North Yorkshire and East Riding Local Enterprise Partnership Local Growth
Fund monies will be transferred to the Combined Authority for the delivery of

2.41

this project.

If the Combined Authority is successful in securing the funding outlined above,
it would need to enter into several funding agreements:

J Funding agreement with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government for the provision of ERDF funding of £2.825 million.

o Funding agreement with North Yorkshire County Council (as accountable
body for York, North Yorkshire and East Riding Local Enterprise
Partnership) for the Combined Authority to receive and manage the York,
North Yorkshire and East Riding match funding contribution of £210,122
from the York, North Yorkshire and East Riding Local Growth Fund

37




242

Timescales
The table below outlines the key milestones for the project.

o Full ERDF application approval - Jun 2019
o Decision point 5 approval - Jun 2019

o Launch - Nov 2019

o First assessments - Nov 2019

o First grant claim - Jan 2020

. Last assessment - Jun 2022

o Last grant payment - Oct 2022

o Activity end date - 31 Oct 2023

o Decision point 6 approval - Nov 2019

o Financial completion - 31 Jan 2023

° Decision point 7 & final claim - 31 Jan 2023

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route

Decision point 2 (case paper) Recommendation: Investment Committee

Decision: Combined Authority

Decision point 5 (full business case with Recommendation: Combined Authority's
finalised costs) Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

That the project delivery timescale remains within ten months of the timescales identified
within this report.

That the total project cost remains within 15% of the costs identified within this report.

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer lan Smyth, Combined Authority
Project Manager James Brass, Combined Authority
Combined Authority case officer Alice Rowland

Case paper appraisal undertaken by Mott
MacDonald as external advisor.

38




Appraisal summary

2.43 This scheme has a very strong strategic fit with the Combined Authority’s
Strategic Economic Plan and Growth Deal objectives. There is confidence of
successful delivery given this scheme follows on from a very successful
existing project. Further detail required to strengthen the economic and
management cases for the Full Business Case stage. The value for money
(VfM) of the scheme appears to be good, however further detail around the
assumptions underpinning the VfM and detailed examples of case studies
from previous programme would be beneficial to be presented for review at
decision point 5.

Recommendations
2.44 That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The Resource Efficiency Fund 2 project proceeds through decision point
2 and work commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised
costs).

(i) Indicative approval to the total project value for both regions (Leeds City
Region and four North Yorkshire districts) of £6.293 million is given as
detailed below, with full approval to spend being granted once the project
has progressed through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full
business case with finalised costs).

o Leeds City Region element of the project of £4.644 million (subject
to a successful ERDF application), of which £2.751 million will be
funded by the Combined Authority (£2 million ERDF funding for
Leeds City Region and £751,137 from the Leeds City Region Local
Growth Fund). The remaining funding will be from £1.893 million
SME match.

o York, North Yorkshire and East Riding element of the project of
£1.649 million (subject to a successful ERDF application) of which
£1.035 million will be funded by the Combined Authority (from
£824,522 ERDF funding and £210,122 from the York, North
Yorkshire and East Riding region Local Growth Fund, which North
Yorkshire County Council as the accountable body for the York,
North Yorkshire and East Riding LEP will transfer to the Combined
Authority and the Combined Authority will be the accountable body
for its expenditure for the purposes of this scheme). The remaining
scheme costs of £614,000 will be from SME match funding.

(i) The Combined Authority delegates authority to the Combined Authority’s
Managing Director to enter into an agreement with North Yorkshire
County Council as the accountable body for the York, North Yorkshire
and East Riding Local Enterprise Partnership (at decision point 5), for the
Combined Authority to receive and manage the York, North Yorkshire
and East Riding match funding contribution of £210,122 from the York,
North Yorkshire and East Riding Local Growth Fund.

39



2.45

2.46

(iv) The Combined Authority delegates authority to the Combined Authority’s
Managing Director to enter into a contract for the provision of the ERDF
funding with Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
(MHCLG) at decision point 5.

(v) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

Projects in Stage 2: Development

Stage 2: Development

Activity 3 Activity 4 Activity 5

FBC with
Finalised
() - ]

Projects at this development stage should demonstrate that they have tested
the feasibility of a solution through their business case. This business case
should then be developed in order to confirm and detail the preferred solution
including finalising its cost.

Project Title Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme 2

Stage 2 (Development)

DT CHE LI 3 (Outline business case)

Is this a key decision? U Yes No
Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes I No
Does th_e report contain confidential or exempt information or O Yes No
appendices?

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

The Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme Phase 2 (LFAS2), is a major project
which will reduce flood risk to residential, commercial and industrial property
and infrastructure assets along the River Aire in Leeds

40



2.47

2.48

2.49

2.50

2.51

2.52

2.53

The Combined Authority contribution to this scheme is funded through the
Local Growth Fund. The purpose of this funding is to attract the next
generation of jobs and deliver a step change to the growth of the City Region.
The Growth Deal enables implementation of the priorities set out in the
Strategic Economic Plan including the development of housing and
commercial sites, expansion of a skilled workforce, support to growing
businesses, promotion of resource efficiency and investment in integrated
transport (through the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund).

The scheme forms part of the Combined Authority’s 20 million Leeds City
Region Flood Alleviation programme. The objective of the programme is to
improve the resilience of businesses in the parts of the Leeds City Region
which are currently affected by high flood risk. The programme aims to reduce
the flood risk of 1,385 businesses and therefore safeguard 11,000 jobs.

The scheme is intended to implement Leeds City Council’s plans for managing
current and future flood risk in the city from the River Aire. The FAS 1 project
completed in 2017 provided linear defences and moveable weirs to the centre
of Leeds that this project will extend. The current scheme will uplift the benefit
of both Phase 1 and Phase 2 areas to a 1 in 200 year standard of protection.
The peak river flows to the centre of Leeds will be further controlled increasing
the resilience of the City to extreme events. The project fits the Council’s Best
Council Plan and Combined Authority Strategic Economic Plan priorities 3 & 4,
which call for integrated flood risk reduction.

The scheme also compliments the Aire Valley Natural Flood Management
project already approved.

The scheme encompasses the following works between the City Centre and
Apperley Bridge:
o The removal of redundant bridges at Armley Mills to improve conveyance

o Raising of Milford Place footbridge to remove the potential for flow
restriction

o The removal of the under-hanging structure at Redcote Lane bridge

o The local widening of the channel adjacent to the A65

o Construction of linear defences

o Construction of new flood storage area at Calverley subject to funding

o Provision of access improvements along the corridor and woodland
creation at Kirkstall Valley Nature Park.

Leeds City Council are leading the project and have committed to obtain full
funding with a possible further potential contribution from the Council to close
any final gap.

This programme received decision point 2 approval from the Combined
Authority on the 29 June 2017. This approval set out the indicative pipeline of
schemes that would be eligible for programme funding if they continued to

41



2.54

2.55

2.56

2.57

2.58

2.59

2.60

2.61

demonstrate strategic fit and were progressed within the programme
timescales. These schemes were

o Calderdale: Mytholmroyd, Brighouse & Clifton

o Leeds: Wyke Beck Valley/Aire Valley Enterprise Zone, Kirkstall Road
o Bradford: Canal Road corridor

o Wakefield: Castleford

o Kirklees: Leeds Road corridor

o North Yorkshire: Skipton

o Natural Flood Management Projects

The programme has been split into 3 phases, the first phase consists of
schemes in Mytholmroyd, Skipton and Leeds. These schemes have a
combined total value of £103 million, which includes Growth Deal contributions
of £7.8 million. These schemes are either in delivery or complete.

The second phase consists of natural flood management projects within the
Calder, Colne and Upper Aire catchments, in Calderdale, Kirklees and Craven;
also the Wyke Beck project in Leeds. These projects are now either in
delivery (activity 6) or due to commence delivery shortly. Growth Deal
contributions of £4.3 million towards total project costs of £7.5 million are
expected within this Phase.

Phase 3 of the programme consists of the indicative pipeline of schemes
which are yet to secure approval, and are currently in development. This
scheme is the first of those to come forward for funding.

The Leeds FAS Phase 2 demonstrates a strong strategic alignment with the
aims of the flood programme around safeguarding businesses and jobs from
flood risk, the full business case with final costs is expected spring 2019 and
the scheme is expected to be delivered within the timeframes of the fund.

There remains £3.915 million of funding which is unallocated to schemes. The
Combined Authority will work with the Environment Agency and District
Partners to identify eligible schemes which could be funded from the
remaining phase 3 funding within the programme timescales.

There is a stakeholder and communication strategy for the project and wider
programme that recognises integration with work upstream with partners
including Craven and Bradford District is critical. All public sector partners and
infrastructure providers such as Network Rail and the Canal and Rivers Trust
are part of this plan and many sit on the Programme Board.

A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 4.

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications

The key anticipated outputs from the scheme as a whole are:

42



2.62

474 existing businesses protected from flood risk

77 existing residential properties no longer in zones of significant or very
significant risk,

Up to 9 hectares of developable land protected, resulting in an £88.2m
pa increase in net GVA for Leeds and potential 1,669 jobs created

Up to 1,613 new homes estimated to be constructed

28 electrical substations, 9 telecoms centres and equipment protected.
Airedale and Wharfedale railway lines and A65 protected from flooding
Reduced sense of vulnerability to flooding

New forest planting and carbon sequestration

New wetland habitats and amenity spaces at Kirkstall Meadows
Improved habitat as part of the NFM programme

Creation of new public open spaces, including footpaths and cycle ways

Protection of 5 leisure facilities, 2 places of worship, and 2 educational
facilities

The overall economic benefits over a 100-year period are estimated to
be: £150m (existing) and £774.4m (future growth and regeneration)

The scheme’s wider social benefits include creating commercial
confidence, improving health and wellbeing for surrounding communities
made free from stress about flooding and benefiting from enhanced
riverside access and urban greenspace.

£3.82 million ESIF is being provided for work at Stourton and Kirkstall.
Outputs for this funding will be shared pro-rata with the LGF funding.

Risks

A full Quantified Risk Assessment has been completed for the scheme and the
main risks of the project and their mitigation are:

Full funding for the scheme is not secured. There is a funding shortfall of
£15 million. If the Council is not successful in securing full funding the
Calverley flood storage area could stall. Applications to a wider range of
potential partners are in place and when the current tendering exercise
identifies the final main contractor final costs will be determined and
savings are anticipated. The Council may consider a further contribution
to close any final funding gap.

The scheme requires the support and full engagement of a wide range of
partners across political boundaries within the River Aire catchment. The
risk is that partners and political commitment to supporting the scheme
varies and becomes a barrier to delivery. This is being actively managed
through the Programme Board composition and the stakeholder
engagement strategy.

43



Technical risks have been identified and are being managed by the
Programme Board including:

o Lack of agreement being reached with land-owners to locate
defences away from the river albeit that this is mitigated through
LCC statutory powers

o  The risk of an unexpected change to the scope or design concept of
a stage of the scheme by a stakeholder.

o Unforeseen contamination at any point of the river is a risk until
works are underway

o  Works on a river with a fluctuating level carries a risk of flooding
occurring during construction

o Unknown buried services

o Geotechnical properties resulting in additional excavation work

Costs

The current total forecast cost of the scheme is £112 million. It is
anticipated this will change and may decrease when the current
tendering exercise for the main contractor is complete and final costs are
compiled by summer 2019. The lead contractor has a major role in
defining costs and creating potential savings.

The scheme has been costed and verified by the Project Cost Tool
against actual costs for FAS Phase 1. The costs have also been
benchmarked against the Environment Agency’s project cost tool.

The Combined Authority contribution of up to £3.9 million to the total
forecast cost of the scheme, from Local Growth Fund represents 3.6% of
the total value of the scheme. The other main funding streams are Leeds
City Council £10 million, ESIF £3.82 million, Network Rail £1.4 million
and DEFRA £65 million.

£3.82 million ESIF funding is being provided for work at Stourton and
Kirkstall. Outputs for this funding will be shared at a rate consistent with
the LGF funding.

The Combined Authority will need to enter into a Funding Agreement with
Leeds City Council for up to £3.9 million at decision point 5.

Timescales

Forecast decision point 5 approval summer 2019 after the final contractor
is appointed from the tender exercise and the cost plan agreed.

Start construction summer 2019

End of construction decision point 6 (delivery) will be confirmed at
decision point 5 (summer 2019), once tenders have been received.

44



2.63

2.64

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route

Decision point 3 (outline business case) Recommendation: Investment Committee

Decision: Combined Authority

Decision point 5 (full business case with Recommendation: Combined Authority's
finalised costs) Programme Appraisal Team
Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director
Decision point 6 (delivery) Recommendation: Combined Authority's

Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

The Combined Authority contribution will remain at the value set out in this report.

The programme timescales should remain within 4 months of the timescales set out in this
report.

The agreed outputs from the scheme allocated to the Growth Deal should remain within
10% of the number presented in this report (notwithstanding natural variation in business
numbers).

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer Caroline Farnham Crossland, Combined
Authority

Project Manager Vicky Dumbrell/Daisy Johnson, Combined
Authority

Combined Authority case officer Chris Brunold

Appraisal summary

The project has a strong strategic and economic case, it builds on FAS1 and
strong demand has been evidenced through public consultation and the
impact of the 26 December 2015 flood on the business community. It has a
BCR of 9.4, will protect over 470 businesses from flood risk and has many
wider benefits for Leeds and the city region, and aligns with National
Infrastructure Committee recommendations. There is widespread public
support for the scheme as evidenced through the extensive public
consultation.

Achieving full funding and finalising the cost profile of the project remains the
largest risk. Clear project governance is set up to provide continuity from FAS

45



2.65

1 and to apply the lessons from that earlier project but the complexity and
range of stakeholders involved mean there is more to be done on planning for
and managing the mitigation of project risks.

Recommendations

That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme Phase 2 proceeds through decision
point 3 and work commences on activity 5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of up to
£3.9 million, which will be funded through Growth Deal 3 is given with full
approval to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed
through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case
with finalised costs). The total project value is £112 million.

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5,
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

46



2.66

2.67

2.68

2.69

Project Title A61 (North) Bus Priority Corridor

Stage 2 (Development)

TR LI 3 (Outline business case)

Is this a key decision? U Yes No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes I No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

appendices? [ Yes No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

This scheme forms part of the Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme,
a £183.5 million programme using devolved Department for Transport funding
supplemented with contributions from Leeds City Council and the Combined
Authority. This programme aims to support economic growth by unlocking
transport constraints, improve public transport journey times and usage and
improve health outcomes by reducing overall transport emissions.

The A61 (North) Bus Priority Corridor scheme forms part of the Bus Priority
Corridor package, which aims to target investment in a number of key
corridors to reduce bus journey times and improve the reliability bus services.
The other schemes included in the package are A660, A58, A647 and A61
(South), of which the A61 (South) and A647 have previously been approved
by the Investment Committee (decision point 3).

The scheme interfaces with the East Leeds Orbital Route (ELOR) scheme
which includes junction improvements to the A61 Harrogate Road and King
Lane which have been allocated funding by the Combined Authority. The
proposed Alwoodley Gates Park & Ride project would potentially add value to
this scheme.

The A61 (North) corridor extends northbound from Leeds City Centre and is a
key radial into the city centre from locations including Harrogate and
Harewood. The corridor splits just north of the Sheepscar interchange, with
one route operating via Chapeltown, Chapel Allerton and Moortown to the east
(referred to as the eastern branch) and the other via the A61 Scott Hall Road
to the west (referred to as the western branch), which includes King Lane.

47




2.70

2.71

2.72

2.73

2.74

2.75

Public and stakeholder engagement on the objectives of the scheme has fed
into the emerging designs and a 2nd phase of consultation is taking place in
February/March 2019. A range of options were developed and the preferred
option (medium cost) comprises of a series of improvements to bus
prioritisation and complementary walking and cycling measures including:

o Extension of bus priority to the south of Potternewton Lane (outbound)
through the addition of a shared bus/cycle lane between Buslingthorpe
Lane and the start of the existing outbound bus guideway at Scott Hall
Grove, allowing buses to bypass queueing traffic in the evening peak.

o Extension of the existing inbound bus lane along Harrogate Road and
junction improvements at Harrogate Road / Potternewton Lane.

o Reallocation of road space to provide shared bus/cycle lanes at key
junctions along Harrogate Road where buses experience delays.

o Conversion of the King Lane / Stonegate Road junction into a signalised
crossroads and adding bus lanes (inbound and outbound) along King
Lane between Stonegate Road and the A6120.

J Improvements to the traffic signals at the A61 / A659 junction in
Harewood.

o Upgrade to existing signal installations across the route to incorporate
detection and control technology, managing and improving traffic flows
and the efficiency of junction operation.

The primary objective of the scheme is to increase bus patronage and improve
bus journey times which support the delivery of Priority 4 (Infrastructure for
Growth) of the Strategic Economic Plan. It will also support the delivery of
Priority 1 (Growing Businesses, Priority 2 (Skilled People and Better Jobs),
and Priority 3 (Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience).

The scheme forms part of the Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme
(LPTIP). The programme received decision point 2 approval from the
Combined Authority on 29 June 2017. As part of the LPTIP approval, the Bus
Priority Corridor package was given an indicative allocation of £48.9 million
towards scheme costs.

Leeds City Council (LCC) has provided further details on the prioritisation
process for schemes coming forward in this package and this will be
considered by the LPTIP Programme Board in early 2019.

LCC are the promoters for LPTIP with WSP as development partner and BAM
are the appointed contractor for the corridors and Park & Ride elements of the
programme.

A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 5.

48



2.76

2.77

2.78

2.79

2.80

2.81

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications
The forecast outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications are

o A 20% reduction in end-to-end journey times and improved punctuality,
reducing journey time variability.

o Improved quality of bus passenger experience and levels of satisfaction.
o Improved facilities for cyclists and pedestrians, including access to bus

stops.
o Improved network safety for all users.
o Improved access to employment and training via public transport.

o Reduced levels of nitrogen oxides on the key public transport corridors.

The scheme will enable a growth in more sustainable and attractive travel
options, including walking, cycling and bus use, along this key commuting
corridor. This will support anticipated employment growth in Leeds city centre.
By upgrading transport and highway infrastructure, improving air quality and
reducing accidents, the project will benefit local neighbourhoods.

The benefits will accrue from scheme completion in 2021 and will be
measured 3 years after opening. The forecast benefit cost ratio (BCR) is
1.87:1 which represents ‘medium’ value for money (VfM).

Risks

The key design and delivery risks to the scheme and associated mitigation
measure are:

o Objections to the proposed improvements — mitigated through further
consultation and stakeholder engagement and the demonstration of
scheme benefits arising from further transport modelling

o Disruption to the road network during construction — significant
construction work on the eastern and western branches of the corridor
will be programmed to minimise disruption. The full business case will
demonstrate how LCC will manage the interfaces between the
construction impacts of this scheme with the construction impacts of the
ELOR scheme.

Costs

The current total forecast of the scheme is £16.1 million. Two higher cost
schemes were discounted following extensive and on-going public
engagement and on the basis that they would deliver only limited additional
tangible benefits for bus journey times.

The Combined Authority will fund the £16.1 million from the devolved
Department for Transport LPTIP fund.

49



2.82 The scheme does not seek further project development funding at decision
point 3, confirming the £900,000 approved at decision point 2 is satisfactory to
progress the scheme to full business case with finalised costs (decision point
5).

Timescales

o Leeds City Council Executive Board and Highways Board approval —
May/June 2019

o Full business case (decision point 4) —July/August 2019

o Full business case with finalised costs (decision point 5) —
September/October 2019

° Construction commence - November 2019

o Construction complete (decision point 6) - March 2021

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route

Decision point 3 (outline business case) Recommendation: Investment Committee

Decision: Combined Authority

Decision point 4 (full business case) Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing

Director
Decision point 5 (full business case with Recommendation: Combined Authority's
finalised costs) Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

Combined Authority costs should remain within 10% of the costs set out in this report

The programme timescales should remain within 3 months of the timescales set out in this
report

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer Gary Bartlett, Leeds City Council
Project Manager Robert Mason, Leeds City Council
Combined Authority case officer lan McNichol

50



2.83

2.84

2.85

2.86

2.87

Appraisal summary

The scheme is part of the LPTIP and its objectives are well aligned with SEP
Priority 4 - Infrastructure for Growth - and other key local and national
strategies and plans including the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy, and the
West Yorkshire Bus Strategy. As well as improvements to bus journey
times/reliability/quality it will improve facilities for cyclists and pedestrians and
improve network safety for all uses.

The case for change is drawn from evidence of the performance of other
similar schemes including the Leeds AG65 Quality Bus Corridor and the
procurement strategy is robust. The project forms part of the LPTIP and BAM
have been appointed as main contractor with Mott MacDonald as their design
subcontractors

The scheme represents ‘medium’ value for money (VfM) and further analysis
to quantify the traffic accident benefits which could potentially improve value
for money will be provided at decision point 4 (Full business case).

The project will be funded 100% through LPTIP and the key financial risks are
understood. It has a clearly defined delivery plan with an existing governance
structure and experienced team in place. The approach to risk is appropriate
to the scale and complexity of the project and the programme appears
achievable.

Recommendations
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme: A61 (North) Bus
Priority Corridor project proceeds through decision point 3 (outline
business case) and work commences on activity 4 (full business case).

(i)  An indicative approval to the total project value of £16.1 million is given
from Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme funding with full
approval to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed
through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case
with finalised costs).

(iif) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4 (full
business case) and decision point 5 (full business case with finalised
costs) through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing
Director.

51



2.88

2.89

2.90

2.91

Project Title Wakefield South East Gateway

Stage 2 (Development)

TR LI 3 (Outline business case)

Is this a key decision? U Yes No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes I No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

appendices? [ Yes No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

This scheme is funded through the Local Growth Fund. The purpose of this
funding is to attract the next generation of jobs and deliver a step change to
the growth of the City Region. The Growth Deal enables implementation of the
priorities set out in the Strategic Economic Plan including the development of
housing and commercial sites, expansion of a skilled workforce, support to
growing businesses, promotion of resource efficiency and investment in
integrated transport.

The Wakefield City Centre, South East Gateway scheme forms part of the
Housing and Regeneration programme. The objectives of this programme are
to deliver commercial floor space and homes in the Leeds City Region.

This scheme presented for decision point 3 approval (outline business case)
came forward through the 2017 Call for Projects. The Wakefield City Centre,
South East Gateway scheme consists of two projects, Waterfront (Rutland
Mills) and Kirkgate and received decision point 2 approval from the Combined
Authority on 28th June 2018.

The scope of the project at that time was as follows:

o Bringing 3.3 hectares of key development sites to market by facilitating
site assembly and clearance through a programme of acquisitions and
demolition, enabling the building of new homes, and acting as a catalyst
for regeneration;

o Assisting with the future development of Rutland Mills at Wakefield
Waterfront by conducting enabling and abnormal works including flood
protection, drainage, minor highways works, public realm works and
environmental treatments;

52



2.92

2.93

2.94

2.95

2.96

2.97

2.98

o Development of a masterplan including feasibility appraisal for the south
side of the Kirkgate railway bridge.

Development of the Wakefield City Centre South East Gateway is a key
priority for Wakefield Council and the Leeds City Region, to raise the national
profile of Wakefield within the cultural and creative sector and to transform the
city’s image by redeveloping Kirkgate as a distinct part of the city centre, which
links Wakefield’s retail core with the Waterfront and the proposed new
development at Rutland Mills.

The scope of the project is now as follows:

o Restoration of historic buildings at Rutland Mills and creation of high
quality public realm at the Waterfront (see plan at Appendix 6, this outline
business case (OBC) relates to works at Plot L only), delivered over two
phases, creating a creative industries jobs hub; and

. Delivery of site acquisition and clearance of brownfield sites at Kirkgate
to enable the delivery of between 60 to 82 new homes (see plan at
Appendix 6, this outline business case relates to works at Plot A, B and C

only).
Waterfront

The first phase of development at the Waterfront delivered a commercial
development in October 2009, and the Hepworth Wakefield gallery which
opened in May 2011. The development proposed at Rutland Mills as part of
this project will deliver 6,920 square metres of refurbished commercial space
and create/safeguard 301 jobs.

Kirkgate

The regeneration of Kirkgate began with the restoration of Kirkgate train
station, completed in September 2015 and construction of the new West
Yorkshire Archive Building in June 2016. To complement this regeneration, £5
million of highways works were completed at Kirkgate in July 2018.

The funding sought through this OBC will deliver site acquisition of Plot B and
site clearance and enabling works to plots B and C to prepare these sites for
housing development, ranging between 60 to 82 units (subject to a housing
developer partner being secured).

The Council have to date undertaken clearance work to plot A, acquired
redundant buildings on Plot C, acquired Chantry House on Plot B and
discussions have commenced with interested developers.

The Wakefield South East Gateway project is fundamental to all three core
elements of Wakefield Council’s adopted Economic Strategy 2018 — 2023 to
deliver Successful People, Places and Businesses. The Economic Strategy
highlights the need for delivery of sustainable economic growth that reduces
the dependency on sectors and industries that are at high risk from
technological automation. The implementation of the South East Gateway

53



2.99

2.100

2.101

2.102

2.103

project is a crucial element to unlock continued development and diversify the
local economy and it is hoped this will be a catalyst for growth and innovation
in the creative and digital business sector.

Housing growth is a key theme within the Economic Strategy. The south side
of the railway at Kirkgate is adjacent to the City Fields development, which is a
key site for housing growth in Wakefield and noted as a key housing growth
area in the Leeds City Region SEP. The OBC includes a funding allocation
towards a feasibility appraisal as part of a masterplan process for the south
side of the railway, which will be the next housing growth area on completion
of City Fields.

A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 6.

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications

The forecast outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications as approved
at decision point 2 were:

o Enable the building of approximately 83 new homes on the north side of
the railway by March 2024.

o Deliver a master plan and feasibility appraisal for the south side of
Kirkgate railway bridge to explore options for the delivery of long term
housing development over a 10 year period;

o Enable the restoration/conversion of 10,000 square metres of historic
listed buildings for retail, leisure, hotel, art gallery, conference spaces
and employment uses;

o Approximately 415 temporary construction jobs (prior to 2024) and 758
permanent jobs across all phases of the development.

The forecast outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications proposed in
the outline business case (March 2019) are:

o Between 60 to 82 housing units completed — an indirect output by March
2024.

o Deliver a master plan and feasibility appraisal for the south side of
Kirkgate railway bridge to explore options for the delivery of long term
housing development over a 10 year period.

o 6,920 sgm commercial floor space constructed/refurbished by October
2021.

o +301 gross FTE (full time equivalent) jobs created/safe guarded.

o Enabling works through land reclamation and vacant property demolition.
Risks

The key risks to the project and the related mitigation are:

54



No evident market demand for the proposed niche creative occupiers at
Rutland Mills. Wakefield Council. Mitigation — An independent market
demand report will be provided at FBC. Wakefield recognise that
deliverability of the scheme is dependent upon identification of specific
occupiers and this is the rationale for working with the proposed
specialist developer who is less dependent upon the traditional occupier
market. Wakefield Council and the developer are to work together to
provide a clear marketing strategy with clarity of approach to identifying
and attracting companies to locate to Rutland Mills. The developer is to
undertake a marketing campaign to identify tenants, although it is
anticipated that a significant proportion of occupiers will be identified
through their existing contacts and occupiers in London who are seeking
to establish a northern hub.

Limited or no budget allocation to risk and contingency elements within
the cost appraisals for the Waterfront project. The Grade |l listed Rutland
Mills complex has been vacant for circa 20 years and the historic
environment is likely to mean the level of unknowns and costs risks are
significant. Mitigation - The developer has commissioned specialist
structural surveys which have been reviewed over time and subject to
scrutiny of the Councils own structural engineers. The findings of these
surveys have been reflected in detailed work programmes and
specification for refurbishment of each of the buildings which have been
produced by architects who have extensive knowledge of refurbishing
listed buildings throughout the country. The works programme and
specifications have been costed and subsequently reviewed by two firms
of cost consultants who have established a budget for the works
including appropriate levels of contingency for both unforeseen costs and
anticipated inflation arising from projected timing of works. A detailed
Development Viability Appraisal has also been undertaken by the
developer based on their own previous experience and specialist
knowledge of the intended market. This has been independently
reviewed by both Jones Lang LaSalle and Engie / Arcadis. A
comprehensive and reflective costed risk register will be prepared for the
individual projects (currently combined). The Rutland Mills project risk
register to be led by the developer and clarification provided on how
costs will be managed in light of the nature and delivery risk associated
in working with historic buildings. This costed risk register to be
independently assessed.

Risk of challenge with regards state aid, freehold transfer of Rutland Mills
and procurement of the redevelopment works (Public Contracts
Regulations). Mitigation — Wakefield Council to provide state aid advice
with supporting appraisal, to provide a clear procurement strategy and to
provide clarity on adherence to the Public Contract Regulations in the
FBC — decision point 4. Wakefield Council will be the accountable body
for the scheme and will include the Combined Authority in the review and
agreement to the Head of Terms between Wakefield Council and the
proposed developer to ensure its own funding obligations in the Funding
Agreement between the Combined Authority and Wakefield Council are
appropriately captured.

55



Value for Money from a public sector perspective is not realised.
Mitigation — Prior to FBC the Head of Terms between Wakefield Council
and the proposed developer will be finalised to ensure public sector
funding is protected, e.g. through overage arrangements or that
Wakefield Council seek to retain more control over the asset, and that
these are appropriately reflected in the funding agreement between the
Combined Authority and Wakefield.

No consistent approach to funding assets owned by the private sector
(the EZ programme is currently being scrutinised with regards this).
Mitigation — As part of the FBC Wakefield Council as the accountable
body and scheme sponsor will demonstrate good value for money and
the Combined Authority will assess this as part of their due diligence.

Costs

2.104 The total cost to deliver the project at decision point 2 was £41.55 million, with
£6.505 million sought from the Combined Authority to be funded through over-
programming against the Local Growth Fund.

2.105 The project costs are now £32.62 million (Waterfront (Rutland Mills) £21.52
million, Kirkgate £11.1 million)

2.106 The scheme now seeks the following funding contributions for the projects
(£13.87 million public sector, £18.75 million private sector):

Waterfront

£4.9 million from the Local Growth Fund
£1.5m of Business Rate Pool funding (secured)
£3.85m Wakefield Council - Capital resources

£11.27m Private Funding (confirmation of funding will only be secured
once the required Grant Agreement between Wakefield Council and the
developer is signed).

Kirkgate

£1.6m from the Local Growth Fund (land assembly, demolition and
feasibility)

£2.8m Wakefield Council - Capital Resources already committed to
purchase of Chantry House — up to £2.17m available in the event of cost
increases beyond existing contingency sum

£7.48m - Housing developer(s) (yet to be secured)

Timescales

Waterfront (Rutland Mills)

Planning permission for the scheme granted 12th April 2018

56



o Outline business case approval — March 2019
o Forecast decision point 5 approval — July 2019
J Start of construction — May 2019

o End of construction — October 2021

o Local Growth Fund elements completed March 2021

Kirkgate

o Outline business case approval — March 2019
o Chantry House acquisition - mid February 2019
o Demolition completion - December 2019

o Housing developer appointed - January 2020

o Planning approval — December 2021

o Construction commencement - April 2022

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route

Decision point 3 (outline business case) Recommendation: Investment Committee

Decision: Combined Authority

Decision point 4 (full business case) Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Investment Committee

Decision point 5 (full business case with Recommendation: Combined Authority's
finalised costs) Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

The funding requests sought under this outline business case are capped and fixed. No
project cost increases will be approved or supported by the Combined Authority.

That programme timescales should remain within 3 months of the timescales set out in this
report.

If the number of housing units being delivered is reduced by 10% noatification further
approval is required from the Managing Director...

57



2107

2.108

2.109

2.110

2.111

2112

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer Clare Elliott, Wakefield Council
Project Manager James Stephenson, Wakefield Council
Combined Authority case officer Jess McNeill

Appraisal summary

The implementation of the South East Gateway project is a crucial element of
the Wakefield Economic Strategy to unlock continued development, diversify
the local economy and enable housing growth. It will also contribute to a
number of SEP Priorities.

The commercial case for the Waterfront scheme provides a risk largely based
on the niche market proposed for the end user within Rutland Mills with little
evidence of market demand, but has been driven by the ambition and
commitment from the developer to take the scheme forward. There is also the
risk of challenge with regards state aid, freehold transfer of Rutland Mills and
procurement of the redevelopment works (Public Contracts Regulations).
However, Wakefield Council will be the accountable body for the scheme and
the Combined Authority will review and agree to the Head of Terms between
Wakefield Council and the developer to ensure its own funding obligations in
the Funding Agreement between the Combined Authority and Wakefield
Council are appropriately captured prior to full approval. A clear procurement
strategy is also required as part of the FBC.

The economic case has monetised the direct and indirect jobs that could result
from the scheme and the resulting GVA demonstrates that the project could
have a positive benefit cost ratio (BCR) of 14.1. However, in light of the risks
associated with the project (Rutland Mills particularly) more work is needed in
the FBC to understand the risks and contingencies that underpin the project to
further inform the scenarios that have been tested.

The financial case has limited information on the level of budget allocation to
risk and contingency elements for the Waterfront project but these will be
clarified further at FBC. A comprehensive costed risk register is required as
part of the FBC.

The management case sets out the broad governance arrangements for the
project but clarification is required once they are in place.

Overall, there are significant issues with the project, in particular the
Waterfront scheme and therefore a number of conditions have been set that
need addressing as part of the FBC. It is also recommended therefore that
individual full business cases are submitted for the Waterfront (Rutland Mills)
and Kirkgate at decision point 4.

58



Recommendations
2.113 That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The Wakefield City Centre, South East Gateway scheme proceeds
through decision point 3 and work commences on activity 4 (full business
case).

(i) The individual elements of the Wakefield City Centre, South East
Gateway scheme progress as separate full business cases for Kirkgate
and the Waterfront through activity 4 (full business case) and activity 5
(full business case with finalised costs).

(iii) An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s capped contribution of
£4.9 million to the Waterfront scheme and capped contribution of £1.6
million to the Kirkgate scheme (a total contribution of £6.5 million) to be
funded from the Local Growth Fund programme is given towards a total
scheme cost of £32.62 million (Waterfront (Rutland Mills) £21.52 million,
Kirkgate £11.1 million) with full approval to spend being granted once the
scheme has progressed through the assurance process to decision point
5 (full business case with finalised costs)

(iv) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report following a recommendation by
the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be
subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this
report.

59



2114

2.115

2.116

2117

Project Title Dewsbury Riverside

Stage 2 (Development)

TR LI 3 (Outline business case)

Is this a key decision? Yes U No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes I No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

appendices? [ Yes No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

This scheme is funded through the Local Growth Fund. The purpose of this
funding is to attract the next generation of jobs and deliver a step change to
the growth of the City Region. The Growth Deal enables implementation of the
priorities set out in the Strategic Economic Plan including the development of
housing and commercial sites, expansion of a skilled workforce, support to
growing businesses, promotion of resource efficiency and investment in
integrated transport (through the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund).

The scheme forms part of the Housing and Regeneration programme. The
objectives of this programme are to deliver commercial floor space and homes
in the Leeds City Region. The scheme supports Priority 4 (Infrastructure for
Growth) of the Strategic Economic Plan and Dewsbury Riverside is part of the
North Kirklees Growth Zone (NKGZ) which is a recognised Spatial Priority
Area.

Dewsbury Riverside is an urban extension of 4,000 homes alongside new
infrastructure and a new local centre. This scheme involves the provision of
site access and sustainable urban drainage systems (SuDS) infrastructure to
bring forward the development of a first phase of 240 homes at Dewsbury
Riverside at Lees Hall Road (120 homes) and Ravensthorpe Road (120
homes). It consists of works to establish a new roundabout and access road
together with SuDS and associated drainage improvements on both sites.

The subsequent development of the wider Dewsbury Riverside scheme is the
subject of a £22.5 million bid by Kirklees Council to the Homes England
Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) to fund strategic infrastructure, including a
new primary school and local centre, and enable the subsequent delivery of up
to 720 new homes by 2026/27.

60




2.118

2119

2.120

2.121

2.122

2123

2.124

The scheme was originally approved at decision point 2 (Case paper) by the
Combined Authority on 28 July 2016 for a £4.6million loan for an adjacent site
at Forge Lane on Dewsbury Riverside with the potential to deliver 170 new
homes. A Change Request was approved by the Combined Authority on 2
August 2018.This substituted the Forge Lane site with the Dewsbury Riverside
sites and changed the scheme funding from a loan to a grant.

The scheme (site access and SuDS infrastructure) will be delivered by
Kirklees Council and the subsequent housing development will be delivered by
Miller Homes and Yorkshire Housing. The site access and SuDS infrastructure
will be completed in late 2019 and the 240 new homes are forecast to be
delivered in stages by mid-2023.

Delivery is subject to planning (reserved matters) and a series of agreements
between landowners Kirklees Council, Miller Homes and The Leeds Diocese
about the two sites and the wider Dewsbury Riverside development. These
agreements are expected to be in place by decision point 4 (Full business
case) which is expected come forward in spring 2019.

A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 7.

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications

The primary objective of the scheme is to deliver site access and SuDS
infrastructure to unlock the delivery of 240 new homes (20% affordable
housing) on 12.8 hectares of land across two sites (Lees Hall Road and
Ravensthorpe Road). The works will be completed in late 2019 with the first
new homes are expected to be ready for sale in early 2020.

This initial phase of development has a number of potential benefits linked the
wider Dewsbury Riverside development including: -

o Providing a catalyst for future private sector investment in housing
development including those potentially brought forward with Housing
Infrastructure Fund investment.

o Help to establish a quality benchmark for standards for future housing
development

o Enabling the development of an integrated flood risk reduction
programme, incorporating flood defences, green infrastructure SuDS and
sustainable development across the entire area

Improvements to Ravensthorpe Railway Station and the trans-Pennine rail link
as part of Network Rail’'s proposed Trans-Pennine Route Upgrade (TRU) has
the potential to provide significant benefits for Dewsbury Riverside, helping the
development to become an attractive location for commuters to Leeds,
Manchester and beyond which could help to stimulate market interest and
drive sales.

61



2.125

2.126

2127

Risks
The key risks to the scheme and mitigating measures are:

o Risk; planning consent for the Ravensthorpe Road is dependent on the
adoption of the Kirklees Local Plan. Mitigation; adoption anticipated in
early 2019

o Risk; land assembly is dependent on securing options and collaboration
agreements between delivery partners. Mitigation; options have been
secured heads of terms of agreement are under negotiation

. Risk; ground conditions delay site access and SuDS infrastructure works.
Mitigation; site investigations have been undertaken and a remediation
strategy developed as part of the scheme design

o Risk; new homes not delivered by 2023 due to lack of demand.
Mitigation; delivery partners plan to establish sales outlets on each of the
two sites post completion of the site access and SuDS infrastructure
works and provisional sales values reflect local market conditions

Costs

The current total forecast cost of the scheme (the provision of site access and
sustainable urban drainage systems (SuDS) infrastructure to bring forward the
development of a first phase of 240 homes) is £4.612 million and the
Combined Authority is contributing 100% of these costs from the Local Growth
Funding Grant (LGF). Scheme development costs of £214,275 are included in
this figure.

The subsequent development of the wider Dewsbury Riverside scheme is the
subject of a £22.5 million bid by Kirklees Council to the Homes England
Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) to fund strategic infrastructure, including a
new primary school and local centre, and enable the subsequent delivery of up
to 720 new homes by 2026/27.

Timescales

o Forecast decision point 4 approval — Spring 2019
o Forecast decision point 5 approval — July 2019

o Start of construction — July 2019

o Forecast decision point 6 approval - October 2019

° Housing development completed — December 2023

62



2.128

2.129

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route

Decision point 3 (outline business case) Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Investment Committee

Decision point 4 (full business case) Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing

Director
Decision point 5 (full business case with Recommendation: Combined Authority's
finalised costs) Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

Combined authority costs should remain within 10% of the costs set out in this report.

The programme timescales should remain within 3 months of the timescales set out in this
report

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer Naz Parker, Kirklees Council
Project Manager Steve Hopwood, Kirklees Council
Combined Authority case officer lan McNichol

Appraisal summary

The scheme promoter has presented a clear assessment of the strategic
drivers for change and demonstrates a good understanding of the housing
market and the need for public sector investment to bring forward the delivery
of new homes within the North Kirklees Growth Zone.

Given the uncertainties over the economic appraisal of schemes of this nature
further work will be required to assess its potential economic benefits within
the context of the wider Dewsbury Riverside development and the HIF bid.
The HIF bid will include an assessment of potential economic benefits which
includes the Lees Hall Road and Ravensthorpe Road sites being brought
forward as a result of this scheme.

63



2.130

2.131

2.132

The scheme is 100% funded by the Combined Authority and an independent
assessment of viability will help to reinforce the case for grant funding and
provide an opportunity for the Combined Authority to benefit from any future
economic benefits arising from its investment.

The delivery of the scheme (site access and SuDS infrastructure) and the
subsequent delivery of new homes will be dependent on a series of
agreements between landowners and delivery partners which are subject to
further negotiation and should be in place at decision point 4 (full business
case). The Combined Authority will consider overage clawback clauses in the
funding agreement to ensure the use of public funds is safeguarded as part of
decision point 4.

Recommendations
That Investment Committee approves that:

(i) The Dewsbury Riverside scheme proceeds through decision point 3 and
work commences on activity 4 (full business case).

(i)  An indicative approval to the total scheme value of £4.612 million is given
from the Local Growth Fund with full approval to spend being granted
once the scheme has progressed through the assurance process to
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

(iii) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

64



York Central: Access Road and Station Access
Improvements

Project Title

Stage 2 (Development)

DT NE I IA 4 (Full business case)

Is this a key decision? Yes I No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes U No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or

: U Yes No
appendices?

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

2.133 This scheme will be funded from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund
(WY+TF). This is a £1 billion fund, covering West Yorkshire and York. The
objectives of the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund are to enable key
employment and housing development areas and will help to create about
20,000 new jobs over the next 10 years. These strategic transport projects will
be delivered to facilitate the growth priorities identified in the Leeds City
Region Strategic Economic Plan

2.134 York Central is a major mixed-use regeneration scheme located at York
station. The 42-hectare site has the potential to accommodate 76,000 m2 of
office accommodation and up to 2,500 new homes (20% affordable). Together
with significant improvements to station accessibility and the public realm it
aims to establish a new high-quality urban quarter and gateway to the City and
compliment the expansion of the National Railway Museum (NRM).

2.135 As a constrained and contaminated brownfield site there are significant
‘abnormal’ costs associated with the infrastructure needed to bring forward
development and establish a high-quality accessible environment. These
include:

o A new access road into York Central to ‘unlock; housing and employment
sites’ for development by the private sector — including new road,
pedestrian and cycle bridges over the East Coast Main Line

o A series of accessibility and public realm improvements to the front
(eastern side) of York station — including the removal of Queen Street
Bridge

65




2.136

2.137

2.138

2.139

2.140

o Pedestrian access improvements to the western station entrance in the
York Central site — to establish a Disability Discrimination Act (DDA)
compliant access route.

The scheme supports Priority 4 (Infrastructure for Growth) of the Strategic
Economic Plan (SEP) and York Central which is a recognised Spatial Priority
Area. York Central is designated as both an Enterprise Zone and a Housing
Zone recognising it as a strategically important site with potential for major
housing and employment growth.

The scheme received Gateway 1' (GW1) approval from the Combined
Authority on 31 March 2016 for £33 million from the WY+TF. At GW1 the
scheme had an estimated total cost of £45 million with potential match funding
of £12 million from Homes England (formerly the Homes & Communities
Agency) and the forecast Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) was 2.25:1. However this
BCR was derived from potential increases in annual Gross Value Added
(GVA) arising from new jobs created at York Central and was not based on
WebTAG transport analysis guidance.

On 23 March 2018 the Combined Authority approved a change request from
the scheme promoter, City of York Council (CYC), to amend the scope of the
scheme in response to public consultation on the York Central masterplan.
The proposed access point into the site was changed from the south (adjacent
to Holgate Works) to the west, from Water End. This significantly increased
the length of the access road and required the construction of a new bridge
over the East Coast Main Line.

The realignment of the access road also provides the opportunity to develop a
more comprehensive masterplan for the York Central area. This will
incorporate additional elements, including a new park and public square and
delivery of a new eastern station entrance building, to establish a high-quality
gateway to the City and a sustainable new urban quarter with significant
housing and commercial development.

The scheme presented at full business case is seeking £37.32 million from the
WY+TF against a total scheme cost of £187.46 million. The current scheme
funding profile is set out below.

Housing Infrastructure Amount Status
Fund

(Homes England)

Housing Infrastructure Fund | £77.10 million Decision expected

(Homes England) March/April 2019

West Yorkshire plus £37.32 million Decision point 4 (Full
Transport Fund business case)

(Combined Authority)

1 Prior to the adoption of the Combined Authority’s Assurance Framework

66




Prudential borrowing £35.00 million Borrowing facility approved

(City of York Council) by CYC

Transforming Cities Fund £18.87 million EOI submission June 2019.
(Department for Transport) g:ggg&:ﬁ(ggﬁtgd

Private sector development | £11.40 million Developer contributions
partners linked to planning approvals
Capital programme £4.66 million Approved

(City of York Council)

Local Growth Fund £3.11 million Approved
York North Yorkshire & East
Riding Enterprise
Partnership

Total £187.46 million

2.141 The scheme has been designed to be delivered in a series of phases subject
to confirmation of funding. West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund will contribute
towards the key first phase of the scheme which consists of:

o Enabling works, site clearance, demolitions and utilities diversions
o The new access road, including the new bridge
o A Disability Discrimination Act compliant western station access

o York station frontage improvements, including the demolition of Queens
Street bridge

2.142 The delivery of this first phase is dependent on:

J Match funding from the Housing infrastructure Fund (HIF)
o Full planning consent secured for works to York Station Frontage

o Outline planning consent with reserved matters approval for York Central

2.143 CYC have adopted a twin track approach to procuring the works. For the York
Central site infrastructure CYC will follow a ‘design and build’ approach to
scheme deliver using the YORcivil2 framework. For the works to York Station
frontage CYC will follow a ‘traditional’ approach letting a series of works
contracts in phases using the YORCcivil3 framework.

2.144 A summary of the scheme’s business case and location map is included in
Appendix 8.

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications

2.145 The objectives of the scheme are to:

67



o Improve accessibility and the quality of the public ream into and around
the station environment, providing a high-quality gateway to the City

o Increase housing availability across a range of tenures including a
minimum 20% affordable homes

o Increase the number, value and accessibility of jobs in the city centre

o A fully accessible station from the west (York Central site)
2.146 The West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund will directly deliver:

o A Disability Discrimination Act complaint western station access by 2021
o 1.7 kilometres of new highway infrastructure by 2023

o 2.6 kilometres of new cycleway by 2023

2.147 The forecast benefit cost ratio (BCR) of the scheme is now 1.2:1 which
represents ‘low’ value for money. However the BCR does not fully capture the
potential wider economic benefits of the scheme and its contribution to the
delivery of the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) which are to facilitate the
delivery of up to 2,500 new homes (20% affordable) and a minimum of
76,000m2 of new commercial floorspace. It has the potential to generate up to
6,000 (gross) new jobs which could generate significant Gross Value Added
(GVA) benefits to the Leeds City Region (LCR) and demonstrate potentially
good value for money in terms of the public sector cost per job created.

2.148 Overall the scheme will potentially facilitate the delivery of:

o A minimum of 76,000m2 of commercial floorspace by 2029
o Up to 2,500 new homes (20% affordable) by 2029.
o Up to 6,000 gross new jobs by 2029

Risks

2.149 The key risks to the scheme and mitigating measures are:

Type Risk Mitigation
Financial Delivery of the scheme is A business case has been
(Match funding) reliant upon securing submitted to Homes
9 significant amounts of England and decision on
external funding HIF investment is expected

in March/April 2019. CYC
has agreed to Prudential
borrowing facility of up to
£35 million backed by future
business rates retention on
the York Central Enterprise
Zone. York Central is
seeking inclusion in Leeds
City Region (LCR)
Transforming Cities Fund bid

68



(the bid submission has not
been confirmed)

Planning

Delivery of the scheme is
reliant on securing planning
consent including reserved
matters.

The scheme was subject to
extensive pre-application
engagement (which led to
changes in scheme design).
Outline planning approval for
York Central is expected in
March/April 2019 with
reserve matters approval in
August/September 2019. A
full planning application for
York station is expected to
be approved in July 2019.

Financial

(Market performance)

Prudential borrowing and
developer contributions are
subject to actual take-up
(developers and occupiers)

CYC has applied prudent
assumptions (take-up,
rentals, yields etc.)
supported by specialist
property market advice

Financial

(Scheme costs)

Cost increases during the
detailed design process.

A quantified risk assessment
(QRA) is being developed
and early contractor
engagement will help to
manage costs through the
detailed design process
ahead of decision point 5
(Full business case plus
costs)

Delivery Value for money and Combined Authority part of
(Governance) benefits of overall scheme the scheme’s robust delivery
not realised governance structure
including monitoring in close
collaboration with scheme
promoters
Costs

. The current total forecast cost of the scheme is £187.46 million

o The total forecast cost of the scheme at GW1 approval (31 March 2016)
and on approval of a change request (21 March 2018) was £45 million.
As part of the GW1 approval the CYC received £2.1 million of
development costs to take the scheme forward to full business case

(decision point 4).

o The Combined Authority contribution to the total forecast cost of the
scheme is £37.32 million from the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.
The increase from £33 million at GW1 is based on indexing for inflation to
2021 when the first phase of the scheme is scheduled for completion.

o On 28 July 2016 the Combined Authority approved Growth Deal funding
of £2.55 million for York Central. CYC received a £2.35 million loan for
land acquisition (Leeman Road) and a £200,000 grant for project

69



development costs associated with the design of the new access road.
The loan repayment date is 27 February 2027.

Timescales

o HIF approval from Homes England — March/April 2019

o York Central outline planning application approved — March/April 2019

o York Central access enabling works contractor appointed — March/April

2019

o York Station full planning application approved — July 2019

o York Central reserved matters approved — August/September 2019

o Forecast decision point 5 approval — in two phases (York Central and
York station) from October to November 2019

o Start of construction — September 2019

o End of construction — Station frontage March 2021 / York Central Access

early 2023

o Forecast decision point 6 approval — Station frontage March 2021 / York

Central Access early 2023

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway

Approval route

Decision point 4 (full business case)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Investment Committee

Decision point 5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Investment Committee

Decision point 6 (delivery)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

report.

Combined Authority costs should remain within the costs set out in this report.

The programme timescales should remain within 3 months of the timescales set out in this

70




Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer James Gilchrist, City of York Council
Project Manager Gary Frost, City of York Council
Combined Authority case officer lan McNichol

Appraisal summary

2.150 The scheme promoter has presented a clear assessment of the strategic
drivers for change and demonstrates a good understanding of the housing and
office market. It sets out the rationale for public sector investment to ‘unlock’
York Central and bring forward the delivery of new homes and employment
floorspace linked to station accessibility and public realm enhancements.

2.151 This is a large and complex scheme which has grown in overall scope and
scale in the period since the GW1 and change request approvals. The
procurement strategy requires further consideration to establish an approach
which enables the most effective and efficient delivery of the proposed
infrastructure packages.

2.152 City of York Council are in the process of assembling a package of funding for
the scheme and its constituent elements. The scheme cannot progress as
currently proposed without HIF support alongside West Yorkshire plus
Transport Fund, City of York Council may need to utilise prudential borrowing
— potentially financed by future Enterprise Zone business rates income from
commercial development on York Central — and other sources in order to fund
the scheme.

2.153 The economic case for the scheme needs further consideration in order to
ensure the assessment of transport costs and benefits are robust and the
potential land value uplift delivered by the scheme is consistent with the HIF
proposals. The BCR figure for the scheme (1.2:1) considers the potential land
value uplift at York Central from the delivery of the wider scheme (including a
new park and public square). This LVU figure is being appraised by Homes
England and will be integrated into revised scheme business case.

2.154 The journey time and environmental impact from the additional trips generated
by the development is not fully offset by the better journey quality due to the
station improvements and health benefit associated with improved walking and
cycling facilities. Therefore, the net transport and environmental impact are
negative. However, the development will generate considerable wider
economic impact such as Land Value Uplift which will move the VfM from the
‘Poor’ to ‘Low’ category. The commercial development is also expected to
generate a significant number of jobs; however, it is unclear whether these are
net national impact and as such are not directly reflected in the VM category.

2.155 The delivery risks and constraints need to be further quantified within the
context of available funding and the planning and other consents and
agreements which need to be in place before delivery can commence,

71



together with the confirmation of robust governance arrangements with
specific review and oversight by the Combined Authority’s Director of Delivery.
On this basis the scheme is ready to proceed to the next decision point subject
to the following four conditions:

Approval of Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) investment for the scheme

Full planning permission for York station works and reserved matters
approval for York Central.

A WebTAG compliant assessment of the transport elements of the
scheme

A quantified risk assessment (QRA), comprehensive procurement
strategy and detailed programme plan for the scheme which has been
approved by the York Central Project delivery Board

Recommendations

2.156 That Investment Committee approves that:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

The York Central Access Road and Station Access Improvement scheme
proceeds through decision point 4 and work commences on activity 5 (full
business case plus costs) subject to the conditions detailed in 2.177
being discharged to the satisfaction of the Combined Authority’s
Programme Appraisal Team.

An indicative approval of £37.32 million is given from the West Yorkshire
plus Transport Fund, an increase of £4.32 million from the previous
Gateway 1 approval, towards a total scheme cost of £187.46 million with
full approval to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed
through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case
with finalised costs).

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

72



Project Title Superfast West Yorkshire and York - Contract 3

Stage 2 (Development)

TR LI 3 (Outline business case)

Is this a key decision? U Yes No
Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? Yes I No
Does th_e report contain confidential or exempt information or O Yes No
appendices?

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local
Government Act 1972, Part 1:

Background

2.157 The City Region’s Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) has laid out an ambition to
achieve 99% superfast broadband 30 megabits per second connectivity
across West Yorkshire and York by 2018/2019. The Superfast West Yorkshire
and York Broadband (SWYY) programme is well on the way to meeting this
ambition with the first two contracts of the programme are on track to deliver
up to 98% by 2021.

2.158 Phase 3 will deploy broadband infrastructure across the West Yorkshire and
York geography within some of the hardest to reach urban and rural areas,
areas not already targeted through a commercial roll out and areas not
targeted by the previous phases of the programme.

2.159 The emerging Leeds City Region Digital Framework — Leeds City Region
transformed by digital tech is the second big idea proposed as part of the
emerging Local Inclusive Industrial Strategy. The Digital Framework has 5
interconnected outcomes which will help to set out our approach to the digital
economy and to strengthening of digital capability across the City Region’s
population and institutions:

o Digital opportunities for non-digital businesses - helping all City
Region businesses to embrace and grow through improved use of new
technologies

o Digital skills for all - giving everyone access to the skills they need to
operate and thrive in a digital economy and tackling digital exclusion

o The digital sector that serves the rest - making Leeds City Region the
best place to start and grow a digital business

73



2.160

2.161

2.162

2.163

2.164

2.165

2.166

o World class digital infrastructure - ensuring everyone can access a
fast, reliable and resilient network

o A smarter, more intelligent City Region - using technology and data to
solve the City Region’s biggest challenges and improve citizen
outcomes.

Phase 3 will comprise of £10.042 million of capital funding and £0.786 million
of revenue funding. This comprises funding from the Department for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), European Structural and
Investment Funds (ESIF / ERDF), Business Rate Pool Allocation, a refund
from an earlier infill satellite technologies programme (BET refund) and Gain
share (carried forward from West Yorkshire and York Broadband Contracts 1
and 2). A previous offer of funding from Broadband UK (BDUK) has been
withdrawn which has had a subsequent impact on match-funding available to
drawdown against ERDF.

The project will deploy broadband infrastructure across the West Yorkshire
and York geography within:

Some of the hardest to reach urban and rural areas

Areas not already targeted through a commercial roll out over the next three
years or areas of market failure

Areas not targeted by the previous phase (Contract Two) of superfast
broadband delivery

Description of the Change Request
At decision point 2 the Combined Authority on 11 October 2018 approved that:

(i) The superfast broadband contract 3 project proceeds through decision
point 2 (case paper) and work commences on activity 5 (full business
case with finalised costs).

(i) Anindicative approval to the total project value of £16.428 million from
the funding sources outlined in this report for which the Combined
Authority is the accountable body is given, with full approval to spend
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

(iii)  Approval to reallocate all or part of the BET Refund funding from
Contract 2 to Contract 3 as actioned at decision point 5 full business
case with costs.

(iv) Development costs of £120,000 are approved in order to progress the
scheme to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

The change request is to accept a reduction in external funding now that
clarity on some funding bids has been obtained and some indicative funding
which was previously put forward by HM Government for the programme has

74



2.167

2.168

2.169

2170

2171

2172

2173

been removed by HM Treasury (BDUK, £1.1m). It was anticipated at the time
of DP2 approval that overall funding may reduce once the outcome of funding
bids was known and therefore a 25% cost tolerance was allowed for.
However, this has been exceeded (DEFRA by 30.4% and ESIF by 45.8%) as
detailed in the cost section below.

As a result the change request is also to accept the pro-rata reduction in
outputs as detailed in the outputs section below.

Outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications

This project focuses on connecting small and medium sized enterprises
(SMEs) which is a requirement of government and European funding. As
SMEs are connected neighbouring homes and non SME businesses will also
be connected.

The objective of the project is to increase the percentage coverage of
superfast broadband to as close to 99% of West Yorkshire and York as
possible within the funding envelope.

The DEFRA funding application will have pro-rata reduced outputs: instead of
2,476 businesses to have access this will be reduced to 1,723. The DEFRA
funding will only target business premises in rural postcodes, as defined in the
DEFRA guidelines. DEFRA has a target of access to at least 1,723
businesses (of all sectors).

The ESIF / ERDF funding application will have pro-rata reduced outputs;
instead of 1,255 businesses to have access this will be reduced to 702. The
ESIF / ERDF funding will target urban and semi-urban geographies and will
have a contractual output to deliver to 702 eligible SMEs.

In delivering fibre broadband infrastructure to these businesses, neighbouring
residential premises will also get the benefit of the improved connectivity.

Risks
The key risks for this project are:

o The supplier not building sufficient broadband infrastructure within the
timescales set by the funding bodies leading to clawback, particularly
with regards ESIF (deadline dates for delivery are DEFRA December
2020, ESIF March 2021). To mitigate this, the programme for delivery is
clearly planned and the draw down cut off dates are incorporated into the
tender documents so that suppliers are fully aware of the drawdown
limitations. The programme is subject to BDUK procurement rules,
including the use of their standard form of contract; in the event of a
severe risk of clawback, the programme may need to consider a
reduction in scope to some elements which may not be delivered within
external funding timescales.

75



Costs

Funding

Decision Point 2
Cost £ (Millions)

Change Request
Cost £ (Millions)

Business Rate Pool
Allocation

(Project Development and
Procurement Costs)

0.090

0.090

Capital

DEFRA Rural Broadband
Initiative Funding Bid

9.912

6.898

ESIF / ERDF Capital:
Funding Bid

2.810

1.572

Contract One Gainshare

Up to 1.700

1.572

Broadband Delivery UK
(Grant Confirmed)

1.110

Capital Total

15.532

10.042

Revenue

ESIF / ERDF Revenue:
Funding Bid

0.386

0.270

Combined Authority (BET
Refund)

0.310

0.316

Business Rate Pool
Allocation

(ESIF / ERDF Revenue
Match Funding)

0.076

0.076

Business Rate Pool
Allocation

(Additional Revenue
Funding)

0.034

0.034

Revenue Total

0.806

0.696

Total

16.428

10.828

2.174 DEFRA requested the reduction because of the demand for funding across the

national programme. The Gainshare has reduced to reflect the actual amount
of funding received into the Combined Authority’s bank account, as opposed

to the estimate.

2.175 The BDUK capital funding contribution has been removed from the project.

The funding has been reallocated to another broadband programme run by

76



DCMS full fibre networks. This was under the instruction of HM Treasury to
redact this contribution into another programme. The Combined Authority has
written to DCMS directly in regards to the impact of this decision in respect of
reduction of benefits to local communities.

2.176 As a direct consequence of the reduction in BDUK funding, the ESIF / ERDF
funding bid application has had to be reduced as it requires a 50:50 match
funding split, including a reduction in revenue contribution.

Timescales

o ESIF sub-committee for consideration of the funding award - 20th March
2019.

o Forecast decision point 5 approval - May 2019
o Contract signing - May 2019

o Phase 3 start date - May 2019

o Phase 3 end date - April 2022

Assurance pathway and approval route

Assurance pathway Approval route

Decision point 4 (full business case) Recommendation: Combined Authority's

Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Investment Committee

Decision point 5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

Recommendation: Combined Authority's
Programme Appraisal Team

Decision: Combined Authority's Managing
Director

Assurance Tolerances

Assurance tolerances

Combined Authority costs should remain within 10% of the costs set out in this report.

That the project delivery timescale remains within 12 months of the timescales identified
within this report

The number of businesses that would be connected is forecast not to drop by more than
10%

Project responsibilities

Senior Responsible Officer

Kate Thompson, Combined Authority

Project Manager

John Bullivent, Combined Authority

Combined Authority case officer

Paul Coy

77




Appraisal summary

2.177 The project has a clear fit with Priority 4 in the Strategic Economic Plan to
support employment and quality environments. It is part of a programme of
broadband delivery projects which have had considerable success in
delivering benefits to the City Region. There is clear evidence that increasing
internet speeds improves the sustainability of local businesses and allows
expansion and increased employment. The Combined Authority partners have
a good knowledge and experience of delivering this type of scheme and has
well established suppliers, so is confident in delivering the project competently
within budget and timescale.

2178

Recommendations

That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The change request to the Superfast West Yorkshire and York — Contract
Three project to reduce the total project value to £10.828 million due to
changes in funding from Gainshare, DEFRA, BDUK and ESIF / ERDF is
approved.

An indicative approval to the total project value of £10.828 million from
the funding sources outlined in this report for which the Combined
Authority is the accountable body is given, with full approval to spend
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the approval pathway and
approval route outlined in this report including at decision 5 (full business
case with finalised costs) through a delegation to the Combined
Authority’s Managing Director following a recommendation by the
Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report

78



2179

2.180

2.181

2.182

2.183

2.184

2.185

Projects in Stage 3: Delivery and Evaluation

Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation
Activity 6 Activity 7

/

Once in Delivery and Evaluation the scheme is delivered and Combined
Authority funding is drawn down. When delivery is completed a review is
carried out to ensure that the scheme has met all its requirements and outputs
in accordance with its Funding Agreement. Finally information about a
scheme’s performance following its completion is collected, in order to
evaluate the success of the scheme.

Decisions made through the delegation to the Managing Director

Since Investment Committee’s meeting on the 6 February 2019, decisions
regarding the following schemes has been exercised. This decision was made
though the delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director following
a recommendation from Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. In
order for a decision to be made through a delegation to the Managing Director,
the scheme must remain within the assurance tolerances that have been
approved at an earlier decision point. All the schemes outlined below have
remained within their approved delegations unless stated otherwise below.

Harrogate Road/New Line Junction Improvement

This change request is related to the scheme that will rebuild the Harrogate
Road / New Line Junction to create junction improvements to ease congestion,
increase safety provision for cyclists and pedestrians and support delivery of
significant new housing developments together with longer term development
opportunities.

This change request approved an increase of £990,000 in funding up to full
business case (decision point 4), taking total approval sought to £2.875
million.

The further approved funding will to help accelerate the CPO / Land Assembly
process, together with the S106 contribution to the scheme of £1.926 million.
The scheme is not requesting additional grant funding from the Combined
Authority.

This change request was approved through the delegation to Managing
Director on 25 January 2019.

Apprenticeship Grants for Employers (AGE)

This change request is related to the Apprenticeship Grant for Employers
(AGE) which is currently in activity 6 delivery. This scheme was approved by
Combined Authority on 5 April 2018 at decision point 2 (case paper) with total
scheme costs of £1.163 million funded entirely by the Combined Authority

79



2.186

2.187

2.188

2.189

2.190

2.191

5.1

through Education and Skills Funding Agency devolved funding. The scheme
was approved at decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs)
through the delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director on 20
April 2018.

The scheme offers grants to employers to encourage and support more
businesses to offer apprenticeship opportunities.

The Activity 6 change request approved a revision to the size of business
which could access grants to ones with 249 employees or fewer (previously 50
employees or less), any apprenticeship following the apprenticeship
framework can access grants (previously it was limited to defined sectors) and
an increase to the value of the core grant from £1,500 to £2,000.

This change request was approved through the delegation to the Managing
Director on 8 February 2019.

Natural Flood Management - Upper Aire

The LCR Natural Flood Management Programme is a pipeline of flood risk
management projects has been developed to improve the resilience of
businesses in Leeds City Region Spatial Priority Areas. The projects are being
developed by Local Authorities, Catchment Partnerships, Yorkshire Dales
National Park Authority, Yorkshire Wildlife Trust, White Rose Forest and
Yorkshire Water to implement natural flood management measures within
prioritised sub-catchment areas of the rivers Aire, Calder, Colne and Holme.

The expected outputs and benefits of the scheme are: flood risk reduction to
865 homes and 53 businesses; creation of 145 hectares of quality green
infrastructure and creation of new woodland through planting 10,000 trees.

This approval was for decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs)
for a total project value of £408,000 and a Combined Authority contribution of
£388,000 (Local Growth Fund) and for work to commence on activity 6
(delivery).

Financial implications

The report seeks endorsement to expenditure from the available Combined
Authority funding as set out in this report.

Legal implications

The payment of funding to any recipient will be subject to a funding agreement
being in place between the Combined Authority and the organisation in
question.

Staffing implications

A combination of Combined Authority and local Partner Council project,
programme and portfolio management resources are or are in the process of
being identified and costed for within the schemes in this report.

80



7.1

7.2

External consultees

Where applicable scheme promoters have been consulted on the content of
this report.

Recommendations
Leeds City Region Growth Service
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The Leeds City Region Growth Service project proceeds through
decision point 2 (case paper) and work commences on activity 5 (full
business case).

(i)  An indicative approval to the total project costs of £3,401,756, of which
the Combined Authority contribution will be £2,465,413 (which will be
funded through £764,535 from the BEIS Growth Hub funding and
£1,700,878 from the ESIF funding is given with full approval to spend
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs). The
remaining £936,343 will be funded by Leeds City Region District
Partners.

(i) The Combined Authority delegates the authority to enter into a funding
agreement with Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local
Government (ESIF) and BEIS (Growth hub funding) to the Combined
Authority’s Managing Director.

(iv) The Combined Authority delegates the authority to enter into or amend
funding agreements with the local authorities to the Combined Authority’s
Managing Director.

(v) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

Resource Efficiency Fund 2
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The Resource Efficiency Fund 2 project proceeds through decision point
2 and work commences on activity 5 (full business case with finalised
costs).

(i) Indicative approval to the total project value for both regions (Leeds City
Region and four North Yorkshire districts) of £6.293m is given as detailed
below, with full approval to spend being granted once the project has

81



7.3

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

progressed through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full
business case with finalised costs).

Leeds City Region element of the project of £4.644 million (subject to a
successful ERDF application), of which £2.751 million will be funded by
the Combined Authority (£2 million ERDF funding for Leeds City Region
and £751,137 from the Leeds City Region Local Growth Fund). The
remaining funding will be from £1.893 million SME match.

York, North Yorkshire and East Riding element of the project of £1.649
million (subject to a successful ERDF application) of which £1.035 million
will be funded by the Combined Authority (from £824,522 ERDF funding
and £210,122 from the York, North Yorkshire and East Riding region
Local Growth Fund, which North Yorkshire County Council as the
accountable body for the York, North Yorkshire and East Riding LEP will
transfer to the Combined Authority and the Combined Authority will be
the accountable body for its expenditure for the purposes of this
scheme). The remaining scheme costs of £614,000 will be from SME
match funding.

The Combined Authority delegates authority to the Combined Authority’s
Managing Director to enter into an agreement with North Yorkshire
County Council as the accountable body for the York, North Yorkshire
and East Riding Local Enterprise Partnership (at decision point 5), for the
Combined Authority to receive and manage the York, North Yorkshire
and East Riding match funding contribution of £210,122 from the York,
North Yorkshire and East Riding Local Growth Fund.

The Combined Authority delegates authority to the Combined Authority’s
Managing Director to enter into a contract for the provision of the ERDF
funding with Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
(MHCLG) at decision point 5.

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme 2

That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i)

(ii)

The Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme Phase 2 proceeds through decision
point 3 and work commences on activity 5 (full business case with
finalised costs)

An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of up to
£3.9 million, which will be funded through Growth Deal 3 is given with full
approval to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed

82



through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case
with finalised costs). The total project value is £112 million.

(iif) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5,
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

A61 (North) Bus Priority Corridor
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme: A61 (North) Bus
Priority corridor project proceeds through decision point 3 (outline
business case) and work commences on activity 4 (full business case).

(i)  An indicative approval to the total project value of £16.1 million is given
from Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme funding with full
approval to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed
through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case
with finalised costs).

(iif) Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4 (full
business case) and decision point 5 (full business case with finalised
costs) through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing
Director.

Wakefield South East Gateway
That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

(i) The Wakefield City Centre, South East Gateway scheme proceeds
through decision point 3 and work commences on activity 4 (full business
case).

(i)  The individual elements of the Wakefield City Centre, South East
Gateway scheme progress as separate full business cases for Kirkgate
and the Waterfront through activity 4 (full business case) and activity 5
(full business case with finalised costs).

(iif)  An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s capped contribution of
£4.9 million to the Waterfront scheme and capped contribution of £1.6
million to the Kirkgate scheme (a total contribution of £6.5 million) to be
funded from the Local Growth Fund programme is given towards a total
scheme cost of £32.62 million (Waterfront (Rutland Mills) £21.52 million,
Kirkgate £11.1 million) with full approval to spend being granted once the
scheme has progressed through the assurance process to decision point
5 (full business case with finalised costs)

83



7.6

7.7

7.8

(iv)

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report following a recommendation by
the Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be
subject to the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this
report.

Dewsbury Riverside

That Investment Committee approves that:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Dewsbury Riverside scheme proceeds through decision point 3 and
work commences on activity 4 (full business case).

An indicative approval to the total scheme value of £4.612 million is given
from the Local Growth Fund with full approval to spend being granted
once the scheme has progressed through the assurance process to
decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs).

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 4
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

York Central: Access Road and Station Access Improvements

That Investment Committee approves that:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

The York Central Access Road and Station Access Improvement scheme
proceeds through decision point 4 and work commences on activity 5 (full
business case plus costs) subject to the conditions detailed in 2.155
being discharged to the satisfaction of the Combined Authority’s
Programme Appraisal Team.

An indicative approval of £37.32 million is given from the West Yorkshire
plus Transport Fund, an increase of £4.32 million from the previous
Gateway 1 approval, towards a total scheme cost of £187.46 million with
full approval to spend being granted once the scheme has progressed
through the assurance process to decision point 5 (full business case
with finalised costs).

Future approvals are made in accordance with the assurance pathway
and approval route outlined in this report including at decision point 5
through a delegation to the Combined Authority’s Managing Director
following a recommendation by the Combined Authority’s Programme
Appraisal Team. This will be subject to the scheme remaining within the
tolerances outlined in this report.

Superfast West Yorkshire and York - Contract 3

That Investment Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that:

84



8.1

(i) The change request to the Superfast West Yorkshire and York — Contract
Three project to reduce the total project value to £10.828 million due to
changes in funding from Gainshare, DEFRA, BDUK and ESIF / ERDF is
approved.

(i)  An indicative approval to the total project value of £10.828 million from
the funding sources outlined in this report for which the Combined
Authority is the accountable body is given, with full approval to spend
being granted once the scheme has progressed through the assurance
process to decision point 5 (full business case with finalised costs)

(iii) Future approvals are made in accordance with the approval pathway and
approval route outlined in this report including at decision 5 (full business
case with finalised costs) through a delegation to the Combined
Authority’s Managing Director following a recommendation by the
Combined Authority’s Programme Appraisal Team. This will be subject to
the scheme remaining within the tolerances outlined in this report

Background documents

None as part of this report.

Appendices

Appendix 1 — Background to the report

Appendix 2 - Leeds City Region Growth Service business case summary
Appendix 3 - Resource Efficiency Fund 2

Appendix 4 - Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme 2

Appendix 5 - A61 (North) Bus Priority Corridor

Appendix 6 - Wakefield South East Gateway

Appendix 7 - Dewsbury Riverside

Appendix 8 - York Central: Access Road and Station Access Improvements

85



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

Appendix 1

West
Yorkshire

Combined
Authority

Appendix 1: Background to the report
Information

1.1 This report puts forward proposals for the progression of, and funding for, a
number of schemes for approval by the Combined Authority, following
consideration by the West Yorkshire and York’s Investment Committee. The
Combined Authority will recall that a three stage approach has been
introduced as part of an enhancement to current project management
arrangements, with the requirement that all projects subject to minor
exceptions as detailed in the assurance framework, will as a minimum, need to
formally pass decision point 2 (case paper approval) and 5 (final cost
approval) highlighted below, with the requirement to meet the intervening
activities deemed on a project by project basis.

Activity 1 Activity 2 Activity 3 Activity 4 Activity 5 Activity 6 Activity 7

X3S, | DD, =

/ J

Stage 1: Eligibility Stage 2: Development \ Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation

1.2  The Programme Appraisal Team (PAT) appraises all schemes at the decision
points. The PAT consists of an independent panel of officers representing
policy, legal, financial, assurance and delivery. The scheme promoters from
our partner councils or partner delivery organisations attend the meeting to
introduce the scheme and answer questions from the panel. The terms of
reference for the PAT are contained within the Leeds City Region Assurance
Framework.

Future assurance and approval route

1.3  The tables for each scheme in the main report outlines the proposed
assurance process and corresponding approval route for the scheme. The
assurance pathway sets out the decision points which the scheme must
progress through and will reflect the scale and complexity of the scheme. The
approval route indicates which committees or officers will make both a
recommendation and approval of the scheme at each decision point. A
delegated decision can only be made by the Managing Director if this has
received prior approval from the Combined Authority.

87



Tolerances

1.4  In order for the scheme to follow the assurance pathway and approval route
that is proposed in this report, it should remain within the tolerances outlined
for each scheme. If these tolerances are exceeded the scheme needs to
return to Investment Committee and/or the Combined Authority for further

consideration.

88



Agenda Iltem 6

Appendix 2
Scheme summary
Name of scheme: Leeds City Region Growth Service
PMO scheme code: WYCA-EU-005
Lead organisation: West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Senior responsible Sue Cooke — Executive Head of Economic Services
officer:

Lead promoter contact: | Henry Rigg — Head of Business Support

Case officer: Paul Coy, Combined Authority

Applicable funding
stream(s) — grant or
loan:

Grant funding from ERDF and matched 50% via the Combined
Authority and the City Region’s Local Authorities

Growth Fund priority

area (if applicable): Priority One — Growing Business

ERDF Outline Business Case approved in April 2018, Full
Approvals to date: Business Case currently in appraisal process.

SLT approval to submit Full Business Case in July 2018

Forecasted full approval

Forecasted completion

date (decision point 6): March 2022

Total scheme cost (£): £3,401,756

£2,465,413 million

Combined Authority (£1,700,878 European Structural and Investment
funding (£): Funds, £764,535 Department of Business, Energy and Industrial
Growth Hub) — not yet secured.

Total other public sector | £936 343 — District partner contribution
investment (£):

Total private sector £0
investment (£):

Is this a standalone project? No
Is this a programme? No

89



Is this project part of an agreed

N
programme? °

Current assurance process activity:

Stage 1: Eligibility Stagedii=ralopment Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation

Activity 1 Activity? Activity 3 Activity 4 Activity & Activity 6 Activity 7

) FBC with
f e Finalised Close &
Paper ° Costs ° Review °

/

Scheme description:

The Growth Service will deliver dedicated, flexible support for a cohort of the Leeds City
Region’s most strategically-important small and medium-sized enterprises (SMESs). It will be
delivered by a team of 19 SME Growth Managers who are a key component of the Leeds City
Region Growth Service. The Growth Managers will be located within the City Region’s districts
and each will provide an information, diagnosis and brokerage function for their clients. This
involves understanding the needs of the businesses and then linking them directly to the right
support at the right time to meet their ongoing business needs, and/or, undertaking some direct
support activity with, and/or, on behalf of the businesses. Examples could include directing the
businesses to export and innovation support schemes, assisting businesses to apply for capital
grant investments, supporting businesses to work with a higher education institution or directly
assisting businesses with their property expansion requirements. The most important factor
throughout is to remain responsive to the ongoing needs of the businesses, and to ensure that
they are supported to meet ongoing challenges, and/or, take advantage of emerging
opportunities. There remains a focus on growth, but also on business resilience and planning
in the current environment.

Business case summary:

Strategic case The Growth Service will make a direct contribution to priority one of the
Strategic Economic Plan by supporting over 500 of our most important
SMEs to access the full range of support available from both the public and
private sectors. It will also deliver more intensive bespoke support focussed
on business resilience and financial planning to SMEs. The project aims to
put the SMEs in a stronger position to tackle current challenges and take
advantage of emerging opportunities.

In addition, the Growth Service has been externally evaluated three times
since its first year of operation (2015/16). These evaluations have provided
ongoing insight into how the service can be improved in terms of providing
good value for money support for SMEs across the City Region. The last
evaluation was completed in Autumn 2018, and its findings and
recommendations will directly benefit this new project, particularly in
relation to the role of the Growth Managers.

Commercial The commercial impact on the businesses to be supported has potential to
case be positive and long-lasting i.e. helping to access funding and expert
advice/guidance to grow and/or sustain their operations in the City Region.
This could include developing their in-house resources and also sourcing
the most appropriate external expertise to support key areas of their
operations, including property planning, financial planning and workforce

90




development. Supporting SMEs is also commercially important for local
authority partners in relation to business rates retention and generation.

Economic case

The project has clear potential to have a positive impact on the City Region
economy by supporting businesses to grow, and to become more resilient
and sustainable in their operations. It also aligns with the key priorities for
the Combined Authority, as reflected within the emerging Local Industrial
Strategy, around increasing productivity and embracing inclusive growth.

Financial case

Delivering the project through the existing LEP Growth Service
infrastructure (hub and spoke model with a central gateway team and
district-based Growth Managers) improves the value for money on the
project, and helps to ensure that more activity is focussed directly on
supporting businesses to grow and/or sustain. The Growth Service has
already benefitted from public sector investment, and also has in place an
advanced client relationship management system, well-developed
marketing and communications routes and private sector intermediary
networks that can be utilised immediately to benefit the project.

Management
case

The project will be delivered and managed by the existing Business
Support Team in the Combined Authority. It will require two new posts at
relatively modest grades to join the Business Support Team and work full-
time on the new project, representing just 3% of the total project value. The
SME Growth Managers will continue to be managed by their employing
local authorities, with those management costs absorbed within their
contributions to the project.

91




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

Appendix 3

Scheme summary

Name of scheme:

Resource Efficiency Fund 2

PMO scheme code:

WYCA-EU-003

Lead organisation:

West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Senior responsible officer:

lan Smyth, Combined Authority

Lead promoter contact:

James Brass, Combined Authority

Case officer:

Alice Rowland, Combined Authority

The appraisal (section B and appendix A of Case Paper report)
have been completed by Mott MacDonald.

Applicable funding
stream(s) — grant or loan:

Leeds City Region Growth Fund - Grant
York, North Yorkshire and East Riding Growth Fund - Grant

Growth Fund priority area
(if applicable):

Priority 1: Growing Businesses

Priority 3: Clean Energy and Environmental resilience

Approvals to date:

Expression of Interest approved at decision point one in
December 2018

Forecasted full approval

date (decision point 5): <72 2008
Forecasted completion

date (decision point 6): RNy A0S
Total scheme cost (£): £6.293 million

Combined Authority
funding (£):

£751,000 — Leeds City Region Growth Fund

£210,000 — York, North Yorkshire and East Riding Growth
Fund

£2.000 million - ERDF LCR
£825,000 - ERDF YNYER

Total other public sector
investment (£):

The Combined Authority will be the accountable body for all
public sector funding

Total other private sector
investment (£):

£1.893 — SME Match LCR
£614,000 - SME Match YNYER

Is this a standalone project?

Yes

93




Is this a programme? No

Is this project part of an

agreed programme? At

Current assurance process activity:

Stage 1: Eligibility $tage 2: Development Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation

Activity 1 Activit2 Activity 3 Activity 4 Activity 5 Activity 6 Activity 7

). FBC with
f Case Finalised Close &
Paper ° Costs ° Review o

/

Scheme description:

Two parallel ESIF bids were submitted in November 2018, applying to a regional competition
for low carbon projects covering both the Leeds City Region (LCR) and the York, North
Yorkshire and East Riding (YNYER) LEP areas. Both bids are at outline application stage and
if successful, it is intended to bring them together as one full European Regional Development
Fund (ERDF) application to be led by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and delivered
though the Leeds City Region Business Growth Service. This would extend resource efficiency
services to a wider area than is presently covered by the Resource Efficiency Fund, while
enhancing the offer to SMEs.

Specific Activity

This new enhanced Environmental Resource Efficiency (ERE) and Circular Economy (CE)
Support Programme will deliver:

1. Upto 392 (290 LCR + 102 YNYER) SMEs with ERE assessments
2. Approximately 169 (127 LCR + 42 YNYER) grants (including the introduction of new
large grants)
3. Upto 66 (36 LCR + 30 YNYER) SMEs with new CE support helping to create new
circular, resource efficient business models, products or services:
a) Initial diagnostic (2 days)
b) Introductory development support (3 days)
¢) Extended support (up to 25 days)

The programme builds on the current Resource Efficiency Fund (REF) delivered by the West
Yorkshire Combined Authority. This scheme delivers resource efficiency business support and
small grant support. It has worked with nearly 500 businesses and 160 of those have received
support.

This new enhanced programme builds on the REF by offering additional larger grants and CE
support. CE is a new approach that challenges inefficient production, and enables the reuse
and recycle of materials. It directly supports the aims of the UK Industrial Strategy.

Delivery

The project will be delivered by the Combined Authority. A team of six people will deliver the
programme for the Leeds City Region with up to three additional members to cover the York
North Yorkshire and East Riding LEP area. This will comprise one team, based in the existing
Leeds City Region Growth Hub.

94




The programme will be available to SMEs within the Leeds City Region LEP and York, North
Yorkshire and East Riding LEP areas from November 2019 - October 2022. This will extend
the new enhanced programme into four new local authority areas of North Yorkshire —
Richmondshire, Hambleton, Ryedale and Scarborough — which are excluded from the existing
REF. The map below demonstrates the geographic coverage of the REF 2 project.

Richmondshire
Hambleton
Ny, f
1\1,_1"/"- \/f\'\

Craven

Kirklees

Business case summary:

Contributes to SEP Priority 1 - Growing Businesses_and improving
productivity though resource efficiency support and grant assistance.
Contributes to SEP Priority 3 — Clean Energy and Environmental
Resilience saving 2,000 tonnes of CO2 equivalent annually.

Strategic case

The introduction of the Circular Economy element to REF 2 responds to
the UK Industrial Strategy 2017 which aims for zero avoidable waste and
doubling resource productivity by 2050. Without such support, SMEs are
unlikely to adopt these new principles.

The programme also complements: Government’s Clean Growth Strategy
and the City Region’s Energy Strategy and Delivery Plan.

Continuing demand has been evidenced through the current REF
scheme, with specific demand for larger grants. There is a need to
address knowledge and information gaps within SMEs to make the case
for energy and resource efficiency investments. Evidence shows the need
for an incentive toward SME investment.

Commercial
case

Economic case | Energy and resource efficiency savings will deliver cost savings to
businesses, with investment being paid back in less than three years. This
will reduce marginal costs for business and improve productivity. Case
studies show other indicators of productivity, for example where
environmental conditions have improved the health and wellbeing of
employees in the workplace and reduced absenteeism. Consultancy and
support costs have been calculated with over 400 businesses supported at
a cost of £700,000.

95




Alternative options have been considered by the REF steering group, with
a hybrid option in which a CE pilot could be established while delivering
against the established need for resource efficiency services.

Outcomes will include:

. Reduced energy and waste
. Reduced water consumption
. Cost savings to business

Financial case

Match funding of £751,138 is being sought toward a £2 million ERDF bid.
Delivery will begin November 2019 with first grant payments to be made
in January 2020. Project completion is expected to be 31 January 2023.

The estimates and costs have been made based on evidence of demand
from the REF alongside market based estimates with uplift.

A loan scheme rather than grants, was discounted due to ESIF funding,
and practical constraints. The attractiveness of a loan scheme and
incentive for SMEs uptake and subsequent effectiveness for carbon
reduction are also factored in to the decision.

Management
case

The project will be delivered by the Combined Authority. A team of six
people will deliver the programme for the Leeds City Region with up to
three additional members to cover the York, North Yorkshire and East
Riding LEP area. This will comprise one team, based in the existing
Leeds City Region Growth Hub. There will be continuity from the current
REF.

Experience of delivering resource efficiency support and grants has
guided the forecast and business model sitting behind our initial
proposals.

A risk register has been compiled highlighting:

. Financial risk of failure to secure funds
. Legal regulatory risk of ERDF compliance
. Project management — delivery risk of low uptake/demand

96




Agenda Iltem 6

Appendix 4
Scheme Summary
Name of scheme: Flood Alleviation Scheme 2 (FAS 2) - Leeds
PMO scheme code: GD-PA4-020
Lead organisation: Leeds City Council
Senior responsible Martin Farrington, Director of City Development
officer:

Lead promoter contact: | Vanessa Allen, Leeds City Council
Richard Dennis, Leeds City Council

Case officer: Chris Brunold, Combined Authority

Applicable funding
stream(s) — Grant or Local Growth Fund — Grant - £3.9 million
Loan:

Growth Fund Priority

Area (if applicable): Priority 4C — Integrated Flood Risk Reduction

£20m approved by June 2017 Combined Authority for the Leeds
City Region Flood Alleviation Programme.

Approvals to date: Approval for projects to come forward at OBC, FBC or FBC+
given, each project must be considered by Combined Authority
before full approval can be given.

Forecasted full approval

date (decision point 5); Full Business Case expected Summer 2019

October 2018 OBC programme shows:
Forecasted completion

date (decision point 6): e Calverley flood storage area complete Dec 2021

e Linear defences and conveyancing complete Aug 2022
e Full completion October 2023

Total scheme cost (£): £112 million

Combined Authority

funding (£): Up to £3.9 million Local Growth Fund (LGF)

£65.0 million Defra and the Environment Agency (confirmed)
£10.0 million Leeds City Council (confirmed)

Total other public sector | £3.82 million ESIF for Stourton and Kirkstall (confirmed and OBC)
investment (£): £1.75 million Forestry Commission (applied for)

£0.48 million Yorkshire Wildlife Trust (applied for)

£5.0 million Highways England (applied for)

97



Total other private £1.4 million Network Rail (application submitted)
sector investment (£): £1.75 Woodland Trust (application submitted)

Is this a standalone

project? N

Is this a programme? Yes — Leeds City Region Flood Alleviation Programme

Is this project part of an

Y v
agreed programme? es as above

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Stage 1: Pipeline Eligibility Stage 2: Pipeline Development

Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation

Activity 1 Activity 2 ACuvIy O Activity 4 Activity 5 Activity 6 Activity 7

FBC with
Case / Finalised Close &
Paper °/ Costs ° Review o

/

Scheme Description:

The Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme Phase 2 (LFAS2) is a major project which will
reduce flood risk to residential, commercial and industrial property, and infrastructure
assets along the River Aire in Leeds. It is intended to be the second and final phase of
Leeds City Council’s plans for managing current and future flood risk in the city from the
River Aire, and will bring the benefit area of both phases up to a 1-in-200 year standard
of protection.

In order to achieve this, the proposed scheme consists of works within the River Aire
corridor between Leeds City Centre (Whitehall Waterfront) and Apperley Bridge,
including:

The removal of redundant bridges at Armley Mills

Raising of Milford Place footbridge to remove the potential for flow restriction
The removal of the under-hanging structure at Redcote Lane bridge

The local widening of the channel adjacent to the A65

Construction of linear defences

Construction of new flood water storage area at Calverley

And, in order to maximise future economic regeneration benefits:

e Provision of access improvements along the corridor and woodland creation at
Kirkstall Valley Nature Park.

Communities along this stretch of the river have taken several years to recover from the
extensive damage and disruption caused by the major flooding on Boxing Day 2015.
Had the flood occurred on a normal working day the impacts would have been more
severe. The flooding heavily affected a significant number of local businesses, a number
of which have since failed or have relocated outside of the area.

98




Business Case Summary:

Strategic
Case

The impact of the floods on Boxing Day 2015 was substantial and
unprecedented in living memory. The Combined Authority’s own
research estimated total economic losses across the region of £500
million, with a total of 2,000 businesses and 4,000 homes flooded.
Calderdale and Leeds were the worst affected areas.

The impact on businesses and communities would have been much
worse had it been a normal business day rather than a bank holiday. If
the city region is to achieve ambitious targets for 35,000 additional jobs
and additional gross value added (GVA) of £3.7 billion, it needs to
ensure that it retains and builds upon the jobs it already has and
provides the environment in which businesses can flourish.

Leeds is the third largest employment centre in the UK and contributes
£16.3 billion GVA to the UK economy annually. It is a major transport
hub centred on Leeds Railway Station the future terminus of High
Speed Rail 2. The River Aire valley upstream of the station provides a
vital transport corridor, with eastern rail lines linking Kirkstall, Airedale
and Wharfedale to the wider national rail network. The A65 passes
along the river corridor, and this is the primary highway connection
between Leeds Railway Station and Leeds Bradford International
Airport, as well as many businesses and commuters based in the west
of the city.

Leeds City Council has a long-standing strategic ambition to protect the
city from flood events of this magnitude, and to ensure it is resilient to
climate change.

The Upper Aire Flood Risk Management Strategy was produced and
approved by the Environment Agency in 2010.1t sets out achieving a 1-
in-200 year standard- the level of protection recommended by The
National Infrastructure Commission for major cities.

The project aims to extend the Flood Alleviation Scheme (FAS) 1
delivered in Leeds in 2017 along 4.5km of the River Aire from Leeds
Railway Station to Thwaite Mills by continuing work 14km further
upstream to Apperley Bridge. The scheme will bring both Phase 1 and
Phase 2 benefit areas up to a 1-in-200 year standard of protection.

Commercial
Case

The commercial case for this project is based on the fact Leeds is the
third largest employment centre in England outside of London and
investing in flood management will protect an existing 470 businesses
employing 11,000 people and create the commercial confidence to
allow the city to continue to thrive and generate good growth for the
benefit of all its citizens in the future.

The construction phase of the works will be tendered competitively.

A separate Technical Advisory Services contract is proposed. This will
be tendered competitively.

99




The construction cost estimate has been verified by using the project
cost tool benchmarked against the actual costs from the Leeds FAS
Phase 1 over the past 36 months and information related to similar
schemes completed elsewhere. The costs have also been
benchmarked against the Environment Agency’s project cost tool.

Economic
Case

Alternative options for a scheme with stakeholders involved in Leeds
FAS Phase 1 have been evaluated and a 1-in-200 year standard of
protection scheme has been selected as the local preferred choice.
This is because it will uplift the benefit areas of both Phase 1 and Phase
2 to a 1-in-200 year standard, and produce benefits in terms of health
and wellbeing by preventing the damage to livelihoods, .Finally, it
utilises natural flood management delivering improved wildlife habitats
and the riverside public realm.

Financial
Case

The total capital cost estimate of £112.1 million has been verified using
a project cost tool. It has been benchmarked against the actual costs
from the Leeds FAS Phase 1 over the past 36 months, and information
related to similar schemes completed elsewhere. The costs have also
been benchmarked against the Environment Agency'’s project cost tool.

In the event of an overspend above the approved amount of £112.1
million, then Leeds City Council will look to fund these costs directly or
from local contributions.

The Council is committing £10 million and underwriting £18 million.
DEFRA has committed £65 million.

The project demonstrates positive benefits that outweigh the cost of the
works in terms of commercial prosperity. The prevention of urban
flooding and management of peak flows up river will turn the river into
an asset in the heart of the city.

Management
Case

The project is being led by Leeds City Council which successfully
delivered Leeds FAS Phase 1 through the same project team.

100




Location map:

The following location map shows the scheme in relation to the other Combined
Authority funded schemes in the surrounding area.

£~ ™ v i
- -__.," ! - AGE L DIA
- % ¥
Esholt 'y o Holt Park Alwoodle,
5 Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme
X T
1 ' Cookridge 5
1 Littie’London i H
[ 8
/ jw Rawdon
\
'Apperley % Lawnswood Adel
2 it Br|dge Car Horsfarth Tinshill
e Park E \ ¥ Moor A.w.m\
o~ ark Extension s\\‘ 4 g .
% i S Rgood ]
b > Leeds Outer Ring S %
* Road Horsforth Flr(1k |_U|||| v Weetwood
o Carr Man|
o Roundabout  junction \ e g
i 1 jest Park o
oY b . sro?a" ! -
4 Oad Sice \ D;"
\ 4
¢ Leeds Flood %
o alverley finale
® Alleviation \ Far Headingley b Arvasd
Gr -:ngr\:_; ate: q.h?:herne»w.-.-artn \ o
§ A1620 Leeds'Northern \ Grove Lan P
-] ; Outer Rlng Road N\
Eccleshill £ Impmvemems Leeds,ev LY % Headingley
7 o \
Plllan avep, A FEC T e,
0 Kkstall - ~ e

Farsley \
Hyde Park

/AB47 Dawsons Bramley \
Undercliffe  Gain.l‘ane Corner = : A\
Enterprlse = AS‘,',EE;‘S ; I
g m—— i = C’t:mdor iy
3 b ¢ s The Headrow|
%’ City Gentré ]
5381 | G 5 / o b 8615 ) : ,\{,T‘Qate“_—"way
f - Pudiey‘ el Ay & Leéds G,#ty Centre]
5 i ~ New ArMIeY P

Lesds Ro:

LCR Enterprlse“ ae
Zones Programme

g
P
1 centimeter = 0.6 kl\ometers“h EaSt Farnley 4 ‘Lm“l_ I-D':;Elﬁra?—!os‘;roﬁﬁ
+— Leeds Flood Alleviation SChe”ﬁ.m o © OpenStreetMap. fan‘d contrik (itors; QCQ,LB,M-,,GA

Please note, depending on the level of scheme development the location and scope
of the schemes indicated here are indicative only.

For further information on Combined Authority schemes across the Leeds City

Region please refer to: https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-
infrastructure-map/

101


https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-infrastructure-map/
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-infrastructure-map/

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

Appendix 5
Scheme Summary
Name of scheme: A61 North (A61N) Corridor
PMO scheme code: DFT-LPTIP-002B
Lead organisation: Leeds City Council
Senior responsible Gary Bartlett, Leeds City Council
officer:

Lead promoter contact: | Robert Mason, Leeds City Council

Case officer: lan McNichol, Combined Authority

Applicable funding Grant

itor:r?.m () - Grant or Leeds Public Transport Improvement Programme (LPTIP)
Growth Fund Priority Priority 4 Infrastructure for Growth

Area (if applicable):

Decision point 2 indicative LPTIP Programme approval of
£183.266m at Investment Committee on 16" June 2017 and
Combined Authority Board 29" June 2017. With each scheme to
individually come forward through the assurance process.

Approvals to date:

Forecasted full approval | October 2019
date (decision point 5):

Forecasted completion March 2021
date (decision point 6):

Total scheme cost (£): £16.1m

Combined Authority £16.1m
funding (£):

Total other public sector | £0
investment (£):

Total other private Not applicable
sector investment (£):

Is this a standalone project? Yes

Is this a programme? No

Is this project part of an Yes — LPTIP Corridor Package
agreed programme?

103



Current Assurance Process Activity:

Stage 1: Pipeline Eligibility Stage 2: Pipeline Development

Activity 1 Activity 2

Case
Paper °

ACUVILY Activity 4 Activity 5

FBC with
Finalised
) 09

/
/]

Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation

Activity 6 Activity 7

Close &
° Review °

/

Scheme Description:

The A61 North (A61N) corridor improvement scheme is one of the five prioritised Leeds
Public Transport Improvement (LPTIP) corridors and consists of a series of improvements to
bus prioritisation and complementary walking and cycling measures.

The A61N corridor extends northbound from Leeds City Centre to the border with North
Yorkshire, as marked by the River Wharfe, south of Harrogate. It provides a key radial into

the city centre from locations including Harrogate and Harewood.
the location and extent of the corridor.

The figure below illustrates

%, d i
3 r: —
P N 8
— =) > 4
P e e ot
lin —
‘h_'t"h» % P [ S Hamwood Fark
L
A
£
arlton f "-‘-1-3__E_r.rnhcpe
N
Y\
7 4 \\
/ \
§ Leeds ﬁ::ﬂ
§ Badiod s %
Aimpan g "’g(
Cookridg: Hm-(eﬁ : | £
Hon g 0
& 9 g /
& % iz [
i o, s i )
Ry = < [ g
= 'Y t.! %, | /
'\ < ””ﬂ s [T ™ f 4 7
\, o el o ,
N B @ & Roundhay [ ' 4
S N e
y - $ &
4 k £ ch : \\ /
4 L ¢ § Meanwood = Al < (P Rogy N /7
V4 2 3 @ LG
v 4 \ » (B5157 (o158) 5, ‘-‘/-'/
; \/
Headingley 7% % s
f gtordRong m aley ’0.,,“‘ \‘\\ ¥
o stall 4 ofternewton \ oo
LS Broag 4 )‘\'
& ¥ z /'f"‘"
W 5 %, & |
e A L7 /"-f.cwgsaales
Bramle: \\u,,:‘ap A % m;—.-" T
B iy, Q,\v 'a‘,‘-\ -%, %, P o ‘1;}\<I‘anon 3
. 4 = X o
oug R e __:_.w"ﬂ'" R N\ >
Armley " leedst it

The corridor splits just north of Sheepscar interchange, with one route operating via
Chapeltown, Chapel Allerton and Moortown to the east (referred to as the eastern branch) and
the other via A61 Scott Hall Road to the west (referred to as the western branch, which includes

King Lane to north of the Outer Ring Road).

The routes then converge again at the roundabout junction of Scott Hall Road/ Harrogate Road/
Stonegate Road and Sandhill Lane, just south of the Outer Ring Road. From here the corridor

extends north for approximately 8.5km to the River Wharfe, north

of Harewood.

The scheme consists of a series of improvements to bus prioritisation and complementary

walking and cycling measures including:

104




Extension of bus priority to the south of Potternewton Lane (outbound) through the
addition of a shared bus/cycle lane between Buslingthorpe Lane and the start of the
existing outbound bus guideway at Scott Hall Grove, allowing buses to bypass
gueueing traffic in the evening peak.

Extension of the existing inbound bus lane along Harrogate Road and junction
improvements at Harrogate Road / Potternewton Lane.

Reallocation of road space to provide shared bus/cycle lanes at key junctions along
Harrogate Road where buses experience delays.

Conversion of the King Lane / Stonegate Road junction into a signalised crossroads
and adding bus lanes (inbound and outbound) along King Lane between Stonegate
Road and the A6120.

Improvements to the traffic signals at the A61 / A659 junction in Harewood.

Upgrade to existing signal installations across the route to incorporate detection and
control technology to improve and manage flows along the corridor and improve the
efficiency of junction operation.

Business Case Summary:

Strategic Case The Strategic Case for the scheme is well aligned to economic and

transport policy and plans both in the wider city region and locally in
Leeds. The scheme is targeted at tackling the transport challenges
identified in the SEP which are currently hampering economic growth,
business productivity and causing environmental issues due to
congestion and over-reliance on the private car. The strategic aim of the
LPTIP programme is to reverse the declining trend in bus patronage by
addressing congestion (and delays to buses) which is a key driver for this
trend. The scheme objectives are to achieve ‘good growth’, enabling
social inclusion and better economic outcomes for the north of Leeds.

Commercial The Commercial Case for the scheme provides evidence that the

proposed scheme can be procured, implemented and operated in a
viable and sustainable way. The procurement strategy builds on existing
experience in the development, design, construction and management of
similar improvements in Leeds. Leeds City Council (LCC), the scheme
promoter, is well placed to deliver the improvements on time and within
budget, with an approach that will ensure final designs emerge that can
deliver the scheme objectives and be delivered in the least disruptive
way.

The infrastructure improvements along the corridor will improve the
guality of the transport network, leading to increases in the proportion of
trips using bus as a mode of travel. This is supported by exemplar
national case studies and the local A65 Quality Bus Corridor (QBC). The
Commercial Case defines the current progress of the commercial aspect
requirements of an OBC. This includes the selection of the contractor/
delivery partner through an OJEU-led procurement exercise, and a
procurement lead who will actively manage the Quantified Risk
Assessment (QRA) and seek to promote value engineering through the
NEC3 contract and risk allocation/transfer

Economic Case | The Economic Case provides evidence of how the scheme is predicted to

perform, in relation to its stated objectives, identified problems and
targeted outcomes. It also defines the options development and further
options sifting/packaging process. The options proposed for testing are

105




the most preferable against the current evidence base, scheme
objectives and the underpinning scheme logic map, forming a key
foundation for planning, appraisal and scheme delivery.

The Economic Case also determines if the proposed A61N corridor
scheme is a viable investment, utilising the appraisal elements and
methodology set out in the Appraisal Specification Report (ASR). The
approach quantifies the following:

o General traffic user benefits — travel time, VOC, greenhouse
gases and indirect taxation;
o Existing and new bus user benefits — travel time, user experience;
e Improved bus journey time reliability benefits — travel time;
e Decongestion benefits (marginal external costs) — travel time,
VOC, accidents, GHG, noise, air quality and indirect taxation
e Accident savings/benefits; and
e Construction disbenefits — travel time, VOC, greenhouse gases
and indirect taxation/construction disbenefits;
The economic appraisal for the A61N corridor comprises an assessment
of the overall, net, monetised, economic worth of the scheme. The current
adjusted BCR for the preferred option is 1.87. This represents medium
value for money. This is based on a PVB of £24.5m. Wider Economic
benefits have been calculated and have been included in the adjusted
PVB utilising research from KPMG. These represent a present value
benefit of £7.7m.

Financial Case

The Financial Case for the A61N corridor provides a breakdown of the
expected project cost components and the time profile for the transport
investment. It considers if these capital costs are affordable from public
accounts at the times when the costs will arise. The total project outturn
capital cost for the preferred option at OBC is £16.1 million, to be wholly
funded through the LPTIP funding stream. The scheme cost includes
inflation to the year of spend, 10% contingency in the build-up of the base
cost and a QRA-informed risk allowance. An additional cost has also
been included for monitoring and evaluation and consultation and is
based on 1.5% of the scheme costs. The Financial Case also reviews
the risks associated with the scheme investment and examines possible
mitigation.

Management
Case

The Management Case outlines how the proposed scheme and its
intended outcomes will be delivered successfully. Emphasising the
successful delivery of previous schemes and drawing on significant
gained experience in contract management and project delivery. It gives
assurances that the scheme content, programme, resources, impacts,
problems, affected groups and decision makers, will all be handled
appropriately, to ensure that the scheme is ultimately successful.

The A61N Corridor scheme sits within the management and governance
structures established to support the delivery of the LPTIP programme,
therefore comprising both programme and scheme management
procedures and processes to ensure effective, on-time, on-budget
scheme delivery.

The Management Case outlines the scheme programme which scopes
and defines key project elements, allowing the project manager to ensure
important milestones, key tasks on critical path and any project

106




dependencies/ constraints do not hinder the delivery of the scheme. It
demonstrates that the following components have been appropriately
assessed at OBC stage:

Project planning;

Governance structure;

Delivery constraints and risk management;
Communications and stakeholder management;
Monitoring and evaluation;

Benefits realisation and assurance.

Alongside this, scheme risks are continuously monitored throughout the
project lifetime. Risk identified are updated on a minimum monthly basis
at Package Board meetings, as the project progresses. Each identified
risk is assessed in terms of its impact on cost, time and quality. The
probability of the risk occurring was also estimated. Where possible risks
identified have risk allowances determined and these have been used in
the costing exercise to determine an appropriate level of contingency.

Location map:

The following location map shows the scheme in relation to the other Combined
Authority funded schemes in the surrounding area.

A61 North Bus Priority Corridor | 7 &
g ‘ " AB60AGSE |

Dyneley Arms/ ™
Junction §

AB1 North
Bus Priority
Corridor

AB5-LBIA
Airport
Link Road

A1620 Leeds Northern .,
Quter Ring Road {
Improvements, Leeds

Leeds Quter Ring ~Fink Hill Leeds Flood
' Road Horsforth Junction  Alleviation
B i g PR
Roundabout r % Scheme

AB47 Dawsons AB4AT Bus

Corner . Prigrity =

Roundabout Corridor

. il 7| City :

_, Centre Gateway
.. AB1SBus Priority -

Corridor;Leeds "~

1 centimeter = 1 kilometers ey Wortiey o
LE 1P - Doorto Door®™ a7
Transport Digital Hub

© OpenStreethap (and) contributors, CC-BY-SA

Please note, depending on the level of scheme development the location and scope
of the schemes indicated here are indicative only.

For further information on Combined Authority schemes across the Leeds City
Region please refer to: https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-
infrastructure-map/

107



https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-infrastructure-map/
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-infrastructure-map/

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

Appendix 6
Scheme Summary
Name of Scheme: Wakefield City Centre South East Gateway
PMO Scheme Code: CFP-002
Lead Organisation: Wakefield Council

Senior Responsible Jane Brown, Wakefield Council

Officer:

Lead Promoter Contact: | James Stephenson, Wakefield Council

Case Officer: Jess McNeill, Combined Authority

Applicable Funding
Stream(s) — Grant or Local Growth Fund (LGF Grant)
Loan:

Growth Fund Priority

Area (if applicable): Priority 4 — Infrastructure for Growth

Expression of Interest approved at Combined Authority
Approvals to Date: Committee on 28 June 2018 and approval was confirmed for the
project to progress to an outline business case.

Forecasted Full Waterfront - July 2019
Approval Date (Decision _
Point 5): Kirkgate — October 2019

Forecasted Completion | Waterfront - October 2021
Date (Decision Point 6): Kirkgate — January 2020

Total Scheme Cost (£): £32.62 million

Waterfront - £3.85 million Local Growth Fund (LGF)
Combined Authority Kirkgate - £1.60 million Local Growth Fund (LGF)

Funding (£): The scheme has also secured (separate to this business case)
£1.5 million of business rate pool funding from the Combined
Authority.

Total other public sector

investment (£): £5.87 million Wakefield Council - Capital Resources

Total other private Waterfront - £11.27 million
sector investment (£): Kirkgate - £7.48 million

Total other public sector
investment (£):

£7.48 million - housing developer (s) - yet to be secured

109



Is this a standalone Yes — Although this combined outline business case captures two
Project? individually deliverable projects

Is this a Programme? No

Is this Project part of an

agreed Programme? s

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Activity 1 Activity 2 Activity 3 Activity 4 Activity 5 Activity 6 Activity 7

S N FBC with
Case { Finalised Close &
= °/ ’ - ° 70

/

Stage 1: Pipeline Eligibility \ Stage 2: Pipeline Development Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation \

Scheme Description:

The Wakefield City Centre, South East Gateway scheme forms part of the Housing and
Regeneration programme. The objectives of this programme are to deliver commercial
floor space and homes in the Leeds City Region.

This scheme presented for decision point 3 approval (outline business case) came
forward through the 2017 Call for Projects. The Wakefield City Centre, South East
Gateway scheme consists of two projects, Waterfront (Rutland Mills) and Kirkgate and
received decision point 2 approval from the Combined Authority on 28" June 2018.

Development of the Wakefield City Centre South East Gateway is a key priority for
Wakefield Council and the Leeds City Region, to raise the national profile of Wakefield
within the cultural and creative sector and to transform the city’s image by redeveloping
Kirkgate as a distinct part of the city centre, which links Wakefield’s retail core with the
Waterfront and the proposed new Tileyard Studios development at Rutland Mills.

The scope of the project is now as follows:

o Restoration of historic buildings at Rutland Mills and creation of high quality public
realm at the Waterfront (see plans below, this outline business case (OBC)
relates to works at Plot L only), delivered over two phases, creating a creative
industries jobs hub; and

. Delivery of site acquisition and clearance of brownfield sites at Kirkgate to enable
the delivery of between 60 to 82 new homes (see plans below, this outline
business case relates to works at Plot A, B and C only).

Waterfront

The first phase of development at the Waterfront delivered a commercial development
in October 2009, and the Hepworth Wakefield gallery which opened in May 2011. The
development proposed at Rutland Mills as part of this project will deliver 6,920 sgm of
refurbished commercial space and create/safeguard 301 jobs.

110




Kirkgate

The regeneration of Kirkgate began with the restoration of Kirkgate train station,
completed in September 2015 and construction of the new West Yorkshire Archive
Building in June 2016. To complement this regeneration, £5 million of highways works
were completed at Kirkgate in July 2018.

The funding sought through this OBC will deliver site acquisition of Plot B and site
clearance and enabling works to plots B and C to prepare these sites for housing
development, ranging between 60 to 82 units (subject to a housing developer partner
being secured).

The Council have to date undertaken clearance work to plot A, acquired redundant
buildings on Plot C, acquired Chantry House on Plot B and discussions have
commenced with interested developers.

The South East Gateway Wakefield project is fundamental to all three core elements
of Wakefield Council’'s adopted Economic Strategy 2018 — 2023 to deliver Successful
People, Places and Businesses. The Economic Strategy highlights the need for
delivery of sustainable economic growth that reduces the dependency on sectors and
industries that are at high risk from technological automation. The implementation of
the South East Gateway project is a crucial element to unlock continued development
and diversify the local economy and it is hoped this will be a catalyst for growth and
innovation in the creative and digital business sector.

Housing growth is a key theme within the Economic Strategy. The south side of the
railway at Kirkgate is adjacent to the City Fields development, which is a key site for
housing growth in Wakefield and noted as a key housing growth area in the Leeds City
Region SEP. The OBC includes a funding allocation towards a feasibility appraisal as
part of a masterplan process for the south side of the railway, which will be the next
housing growth area on completion of City Fields.

111




South East Gateway - Wakefield City
B

v
1A =
i g
1
=il ,
i
i
I
|
& |
g * I
v &, ot
$ 408 g aa 4
“v.-“

-
&
P e
4 .
L \
.
Y
LY
mira bk
1
1
kY
A = 0 Conarh OIUIGE dndt da b gl 2018
Ordhance Bunay BOMETY. | -

St e 2018

112




South East Gateway - Wakefield City

The Hepworth
Wakefield

River Calder

Demolition
(1) Public Realm

@ Flood Defence

The funding sought will contribute towards the delivery of phase 1, including the
demolition of buildings 8 and 14 and the refurbishment of buildings 6, 7, 9, 10 and 11.

Playground

o
T
L L
\
A
A1 Bamsfe}, Roag

N\

200"

1 Crown copyightand datshase rights 2018
Ordnance Survey 10001574
Segtember 2018

Business Case Summary:

Strategic Case

At a Leeds City Region level, the individual projects support aspects
of all four of the priorities set out in the Strategic Economic Plan

(SEP).

At a local level, the projects which form the South East Gateway
project are fundamental to all three core elements of Wakefield
Council’'s adopted Economic Strategy 2018 — 2023 to deliver
‘Successful People, Places and Businesses'.

The Economic Strategy highlights the need for delivery of
sustainable economic growth that reduces the dependency on
sectors and industries that are at high risk from technological
automation.

The proposed development will aim to move the Council’s focus for
regeneration towards cultural, creative and digital growth sectors.

The implementation of the South East Gateway project is a crucial
element of the Wakefield Economic Strategy to unlock continued
development and diversify the local economy. It is hoped this will be
a catalyst for growth and innovation in the creative and digital
business sector.

113




Housing growth is also a key theme within the Economic Strategy.
The south side of the railway at Kirkgate is adjacent to the City Fields
development, which is a key site for housing growth in Wakefield and
noted as a key housing growth area in the Leeds City Region SEP.
This scheme includes a feasibility appraisal as part of a masterplan
process for the south side of the railway, which will be the next
housing growth area on completion of City Fields.

Elements of both projects contribute to a number of the City Region’s
SEP Priorities:

) Priority 1 - Growing Business.

Priority 2 - Skilled People, Better Jobs.

Priority 3 - Clean Energy and Environmental Resilience
Priority 4 - Infrastructure for Growth.

It should be noted that the housing proposed at Kirkgate is not
deliverable from the funding sought now.

Commercial
Case

Rutland Mills - A similar development in London provides
accommodation for circa 28 different functions under one roof from
offices, event space, meeting rooms, recording studios and writing
studios along with ancillary and supporting facilities such as cafes
and bars. The same concept is proposed at Rutland Mills.
Marketing, visual aids and documents have been prepared by the
team working on the proposed Rutland Mills project, yet replicating
the success of the London studios in Wakefield will present
different challenges.

For the Kirkgate scheme, market evidence and independent
financial appraisal of these sites demonstrated that there was little
prospect of securing speculative commercial development in this
area and therefore public funding was required. This has meant
that a focused and specific end user is proposed here for social
housing.

Economic Case

The options have been appraised on the basis of employment and
gross value added (GVA). Underpinning the analysis is the belief that
the increased business space will lead to increased employment and
this will result in an increase in GVA.

Wakefield City Centre is designated a spatial priority within the City
Region’s SEP. The project directly contributes to priority 4 within
the SEP - ‘Infrastructure for Growth’. A key aim within this priority
is the development and regeneration within the spatial priority
areas.

The project will also contribute indirectly to other priorities within the
SEP notably priority 1 Growing Business.

114




The forecast outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications
are:

) Between 60 to 82 housing units completed — an indirect output
from this OBC request by March 2024.

o Deliver a master plan and feasibility appraisal for the south side
of Kirkgate railway bridge to explore options for the delivery of
long term housing development over a 10 year period.

) 6,920 sgm commercial floor space constructed/refurbished by

October 2021.

o +301 gross FTE (full time equivalent) jobs created/safe
guarded.

) Enabling works through land reclamation and vacant property
demolition.

Financial Case

The Waterfront project requires the developer to contribute £11.27
million of private sector funding for the phase 1 works to be
undertaken. These funds will be secured at the point the Grant
Funding Agreement is entered into by Wakefield Council and the
developer. In addition, Wakefield Council has secured £3.85
million of funding which is aligned to the Waterfront scheme. In
terms of the total £6.5 million funding sought from the Combined
Authority, £4.9 million is required for work streams on the
Waterfront project. In addition, the previously secured £1.5 million
from the business rates pool will also be allocated to the Waterfront
scheme. Total project costs for the Waterfront are £21.52 million.

For the Kirkgate scheme, Wakefield Council have secured £2.17
million of funding and have identified the need to secure a housing
developer partner who will contribute financially to the scheme. In
order to realise the housing outputs, £1.6 million is sought from the
Combined Authority for site assembly and enabling works. Total
project costs for the Kirkgate scheme are £11.07 million.

Management
Case

Wakefield Council proposes to adopt an overall programme
management role for all aspects of the Rutland Mills scheme and, as
the accountable body, it will assume responsibility, for ensuring
general compliance, due diligence and monitoring of development
activity.

The identified developer and their London based project
management team will be responsible for day-to-day project
management and delivery of the Rutland Mills element of the
scheme.

A Project Board will be the ultimate decision making body for major
variations to the project, who will meet monthly to ensure the project
runs effectively. The project manager will submit monthly progress

115




reports to the project delivery group to enable effective monitoring of
progress.

Governance arrangements are currently being set up for the
delivery of the Kirkgate project.

Location map:

The following location map shows the scheme in relation to the other Combined
Authority funded schemes in the surrounding area.

N e wakefield ; :
\: % LA ABSO - ] . N
. </ newtonsar | Wakefield City Centre South East Gateway |-
Vg b L TR - .
\ 5,
Y
L 7% W=
\ W i
\ &
\ ¥ 4 ane
\ “Wakefield . o
_ 'City.Centre Iz B
\'Package e
L A : o y
\ 3 : e
W L
h - o a
*\ 3 S < Wakeﬁeld C\ly S
. P 4 A [Centre South S
, % '0“# East: Gateway O W:l:;frgﬁ
¢ = NEp SIS / ; e .
4- B % / ) Kitkgate? - 2., == N/ Relief Road y
L et Y S WK Ings’Road Klrkgaﬁi e /
ety 70 L2 ¥ A O V, Roundabout o, ﬁ
3 i L 31 o , \u
&l \S‘s
{7 \
X
X
F N
ha &,
Pal %"s;&.
Oz gk
5 '
1 centimeter = 0.2 kilo‘me?ers A e 1 et %\ ".“ A
P NN s ) © OpenStreethap (and) contributors; GC-BY-SA

Please note, depending on the level of scheme development the location and scope
of the schemes indicated here are indicative only.

For further information on Combined Authority schemes across the Leeds City
Region please refer to: https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-
infrastructure-map/

116



https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-infrastructure-map/
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-infrastructure-map/

Agenda Iltem 6

Appendix 7

Scheme Summary

Name of scheme:

Dewsbury Riverside

PMO scheme code:

GD-PA4-009a

Lead organisation:

Kirklees Council

Senior responsible officer:

Naz Parker, Kirklees Council

Lead promoter contact:

Alan Seasman, Kirklees Council

Case officer:

lan McNichol, Combined Authority

Applicable funding
stream(s) — Grant or Loan:

Housing & Regeneration Local Growth Funding Grant (LGF)

Growth Fund Priority Area
(if applicable):

Priority 4a Infrastructure for Growth

Approvals to date:

Decision Point 2

agreed programme?

Forecasted full approval July 2019
date (decision point 5):

Forecasted completion date | December 2023
(decision point 6):

Total scheme cost (£): £4.612 million
Combined Authority funding | £4.612 million
(E):

Total other public sector N/A
investment (£):

Total other private sector N/A
investment (£):

Is this a standalone project? | Yes

Is this a programme? No

Is this project part of an No

117




Current Assurance Process Activity:

Stage 1: Pipeline Eligibility Stage 2: Pipeline Development

Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation

Activity 1 Activity 2 ACUVIy S Activity 4 Activity 5 Activity 6 Activity 7

FBC with
Case / Finalised Close &
Paper °/ Costs ° Review o

/

Scheme Description:

Dewsbury Riverside is an urban extension of 4,000 homes master-planned alongside new
infrastructure and a new local centre for retail, community, health and educational provision.
The scheme is an integral site in the Kirklees Local Plan. Funding is sought to enable the early
provision of strategic infrastructure, in turn unlocking the development of 240 homes, creating
a sense of place and building confidence in future phases of development.

The scheme involves the provision of site access and sustainable urban drainage systems
(SuDS) infrastructure to bring forward the development of Lees Hall Road (120 homes) and
Ravensthorpe Road (120 homes). A new roundabout and access road will be built, alongside
surface water storage and associated drainage improvements on both sites.

The Dewsbury Riverside urban extension will be situated in the north-east of Kirklees, to the
south-west of the town centre. Located centrally in West Yorkshire, with good connections to
other parts of the Leeds City Region and the wider Northern Powerhouse, the overall package
of development opportunities provides a valuable opportunity to improve economic conditions
and achieve large-scale inclusive growth.

Dewsbury Riverside is a key site within the North Kirklees Growth Zone, which is identified as
a priority area for housing growth in the Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan. Within
this context, Dewsbury Riverside is seen as an important part of a regionally significant growth
initiative, unlocking the area’s potential to become more prosperous by providing new jobs and
homes.

Business Case Summary:

Strategic Case The Dewsbury Riverside site sits within the North Kirklees Growth Zone
which is identified as a Leeds City Region ‘Spatial Priority Area’ within the
LEP’s Strategic Economic Plan, and endorsed by Kirklees Council's
Executive as a priority regeneration initiative.

Dewsbury Riverside is a housing allocation in the Kirklees Local Plan and
is seen as a key component of the council’s strategy to deal with the severe
housing shortage the district is forecast to experience over the coming
years. The local plan states that the district will need to provide 1,730
homes per annum and 31,140 homes by 2031 to adequately accommodate
the anticipated population growth over the same period.

The scheme links to the £22.5 million Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF)
bid in relation to the wider site requirements. The HIF funding will unlock
the wider housing allocation through further new access from Forge Lane,
leading to a local centre with retail, community, and health and education
provision.

The Kirklees district has a population of 437,047 (ONS Mid-Year Estimate
2017). The population is rapidly changing and with a future estimated

118




growth rate of 6%, a substantial increase in the number of households is

expected.
Commercial The Dewsbury Riverside proposal seeks to address the local, regional and
Case national shortage of housing, whilst also contributing to the regeneration of

the wider area, as a key element of the North Kirklees Growth Zone.

Economic Case | The Council are seeking £4.612 million from the Combined Authority. The
funding is closely aligned to the Strategic Economic Plan and Kirklees
Council ambitions, and will result in the enabling of 240 homes.

Financial Case The Combined Authority contribution to the Dewsbury Riverside scheme
of £4.612 million will leverage in £31.159 million in private sector spend
through the construction costs of 240 homes.

Management Kirklees Council has the project management systems, skills and track
Case record to deliver the project. A Senior Responsible Officer, Programme
Manager and Programme Board will ensure direction and support is given
throughout delivery.

Location map:

The following location map shows the scheme in relation to the other Combined
Authority funded schemes in the surrounding area.

' Dewsbury Riverside B " &

Dewsbury
Learning
Quarter
Meoor:Park,
Mirfield «
_ Enterprise Zone

1 centimeter = 0.47 kilometers

© OpenStreetMap (and) contributors, CC-BY-SA

Please note, depending on the level of scheme development the location and scope
of the schemes indicated here are indicative only.

119




For further information on Combined Authority schemes across the Leeds City
Region please refer to: https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-
infrastructure-map/

120


https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-infrastructure-map/
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-infrastructure-map/

Agenda Iltem 6

Appendix 8

Scheme Summary

Name of scheme:

York Central Access Road and Station Access Improvements

PMO scheme code:

WYTF-PA4-043

Lead organisation:

City of York Council

Senior responsible officer:

James Gilchrist, York Council

Lead promoter contact:

Gary Frost, York Council

Case officer:

lan McNichol, Combined Authority

Applicable funding stream(s)
— Grant or Loan:

West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund

Growth Fund Priority Area (if
applicable):

Priority Area 4 - Infrastructure for Growth

Approvals to date:

Activity 3 Outline Business Case, approved 31.3.16
Change Request approved March 2018

Forecasted full approval date
(decision point 5):

In two phases (York Central and York station) from October to
November 2019.

Forecasted completion date
(decision point 6):

York Station frontage March 2021 / York Central Access early 2023

Total scheme cost (£):

£187.46m

Combined Authority funding
():

£37.32m West Yorkshire + Transport Fund

Total other public sector
investment (£):

£3.11m York North Yorkshire & East Riding Local
Partnership Local Growth Fund

Enterprise

£77.10m Housing Infrastructure Fund (Homes England)
£18.87m Transforming Cities Fund (EOI submission June 2019)
£35.00m Borrowing facility approved by CYC

£4.66m City of York Council Capital Programme

Total other private sector
investment (£):

£11.40m - Developer contributions linked to planning approvals
(strategic infrastructure only — further investment in local plot
infrastructure and development cost)

Is this a standalone project?

Yes

121




Is this a programme? No

Is this project part of an

agreed programme? N

Current Assurance Process Activity:

Activity 1 Activity 2 Activity 3 Activity 4 Activity &

o .? (e °
k- ° < s ,.‘

Activity & Activity 7

e

Stage 1: Pipeline Eligibility Stage 2: Pipeline Development \ Stage 3: Delivery & Evaluation \

/

Scheme Description:

The York Central project is a major mixed-use regeneration scheme located at York Railway station on
the periphery of the city centre and incorporating the National Railway Museum and railway station. The
draft Local Plan allocation boundary is provided below.

 Natjonal
Ralfvay ~
Magsun v

The site will accommodate a minimum of 46,000 sgm of Bla office-led commercial floorspace as well as
up to 2,500 new homes (20% of which will be affordable). IT will lead to the creation of up to 6,500 jobs,
the transformation of the railway museum and railway station and to high quality accessibility and public
realm improvements. The project will have a transformative effect on the local and regional economy,
establishing a sustainable new urban quarter.

As a constrained brownfield site, there are significant abnormal costs associated with the regeneration,
which make public funding support essential for the development to proceed. It is proposed that a package
of strategic infrastructure works be delivered at the site by the public sector partnership to allow the
release of viable development plots to market. Principal among this package of infrastructure works, in
terms of both cost and importance, is the formation of a new vehicular access into the site from Water
End to the west. Without this access, development cannot proceed.

The scheme proposed to be funded through West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund is a significant part of
this package, and comprises:

e A new access road into York Central to ‘unlock; housing and employment sites’ for development
by the private sector — including new road, pedestrian and cycle bridges over the East Coast Main
Line.

o Pedestrian access improvements to the western station entrance in the York Central site, to
establish a Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) compliant access route.

e Transformation of the front (eastern side) of the York station area, to reconfigure highways and
provide public realm via a series of accessibility and public realm improvements, including the
removal of Queen Street Bridge.

122




These works will be match-funded by wider public funding streams, with the West Yorkshire-plus
Transport Fund contribution comprising 20% of the total costs (subject to approvals).

Business Case Summary:

Strategic Case

As a Spatial Priority Area within the Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan, the York Central
development site is a longstanding regeneration opportunity with potential to deliver significant
growth, on the doorstep of York Railway Station and city centre.

The scheme offers a ‘game-changing’ opportunity to grow businesses in the region. Delivering
guality office floorspace will drive high-skill, high-value job growth, building on local sectoral
strengths and redressing York’s poor wage and GVA growth over recent years. The site’s
unparalleled connectivity will optimise the regional impacts of this growth.

Providing a high-quality, sustainable neighbourhood of up to 2,500 new homes (inc 20%
affordable housing) will also help meet the wider region’s housing vision of 65,000 new homes
over the next 5 years.

As a result of its constrained and brownfield nature, York Central has high abnormal development
costs associated with bringing it forward. These have, in the past, prevented the private sector
from engaging with the project. In order to de-risk the project and render it viable, the public sector
landowners have undertaken work to assemble and vacate land, prepare and submit a planning
application, prepare site strategies, and develop a strategic approach of implementing key
abnormal site infrastructure using public funding, to allow a phased release of individual
development plots to market.

West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s early engagement with the project, through both the
approval of Transport Fund OBC, and provision of Local Growth Fund support for project
development works, has proved instrumental in developing the project and lending confidence to
wider funders. Infrastructure works are now (subject to approvals) almost fully funded, and
procurement activity has commenced.

The West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund is intended to contribute to the provision of a vital new
site access (including rail crossing), a principal spine road through the site and the overhaul of the
area east and west of the railway station. This will provide a fully accessible, welcoming and more
efficient gateway to the City and the development.

Commercial Case

York is an area with strong housing and leisure offers. The City’s office market is less well
established though, with competing land-uses and the historic city centre constraining provision of
new accommodation for a number of years. The project’s commercial advisors Savills,
underpinned by positive informal soft market assessment, forecast strong interest on the
overcoming of abnormal site costs. Provision of quality employment space and housing across a
range of tenures will help redress the City’s 9:1 House Price: Earnings ratio.

Procurement of contractors to undertake infrastructure works has commenced and strong interest
registered against an initial Expression of Interest. The YorCivils2 framework is being used to
appoint, with works broken into cogent packages, and performance incentivisation promoted
through contract approach. The project risks are well understood, and a mature mitigation strategy
is being implemented, informed by a technically-experienced project advisor team.

Economic
Cacae

The York Central Access scheme has evolved over time through detailed involvement of technical
experts, masterplan evolution, constraint mapping and public consultation. A major change from
OBC is in the alternative approach to site access which was subject to a change request
submission in January 2018. The alternative site access approach has resulted in increased cost
and complexity, and scheme benefits have also been impacted. The sum of West Yorkshire-plus
Transport Fund requested will however not increase above the indicative allocation of £37.32m.

123




The economic analysis undertaken in respect of the FBC confirms that, as a major development
project, York Central will generate transport impacts, though set against these are the significant
impacts of regeneration, monetised through land value uplift, as well as wider un-monetised
benefits.

It is also important to note that if abnormal site costs cannot be overcome, and the scheme does
not proceed, alternative employment and housing growth locations would need to be allocated in
the emerging Local Plan. By virtue of York’s geography, these would be in peripheral greenbelt
locations, with far greater negative transport and environmental impacts.

Financial Case

The scheme is supported by a mature cost plan, which has been iterated over a considerable
period. With funding approvals, a significant sum of match funding will support the West
Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund investment. Financial risks are understood and actively managed
and the scheme is considered to be state aid compliant.

Management Case

The project has a well-evolved governance structure and an experienced delivery team, who are
already successfully implementing West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund works at the York Outer
Ring Road programme. The site delivery programme is informed by detailed implementation
strategies and dependencies which, though complex, are being actively and effectively managed.
Risks on a project of this complexity are numerous and interdependent, reflecting this, risk is
monitored and actively managed from the Project Board down.

124




Location map:

The following location map shows the scheme in relation to the other Combined
Authority funded schemes in the surrounding area.

York Outer Ring
Road Junction
Improvements

York Central &

.r-\"nrk Quter Ring
/ Road Junction York Outer Ring
/ Improvements .. Road Junction
\ York Outer Ring mproySment
A Road Junction

Improvements
York COuter Ring proy i

Road Junction
Improvements

York Outer Ring
Road Junction
Improvements

. ‘r‘orki(]uler__
Ring Road ™~
Junction

CCAG-
Scarborough
Eridge

1 centimeter = 0.5 kilometers

@ OpenStreetMap (and) contributors, CC-BY-SA

Please note, depending on the level of scheme development the location and scope of the
schemes indicated here are indicative only.

For further information on Combined Authority schemes across the Leeds City Region please
refer to: https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-infrastructure-map/

125


https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/economy/leeds-city-region-infrastructure-map/

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

West
Yorkshire

Combined

Authority

Report to:  West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee

Date:

13 March 2019

Subject: Growing Places Fund

Director(s): Melanie Corcoran, Director of Delivery

Author(s): Kate Thompson, Head of Implementation

Is this a key decision? O Yes No

Is the decision eligible for call-in by Scrutiny? 0 Yes No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information or
appendices?

Yes [ No

If relevant, state paragraph number of Schedule 12A, Local Government
Act 1972, Part 1:

Para 3

1.1

1.2

2.1

2.2

Purpose of this report

To provide the Investment Committee with an update on progress with the
Growing Places Fund programme.

To provide the Investment Committee with a position statement on a Growing
Places Fund Loan with changed circumstances.

Information

The Growing Places Fund (GPF) has operated since 2012 offering loans of
between £500k and £1 million to support projects that require additional
capital funding to deliver jobs and economic growth and was provided by
Government specifically to invest in development schemes that are unable to
proceed due to a lack of commercial finance. The fund is open to all
businesses and organisations of any size based within or looking to invest in
the Leeds City Region. Applications from small and medium-sized
enterprises, employing up to 250 staff, are particularly welcome.

The total original GPF allocation from Government was £35.5 million of which
£3.498 million currently remains unallocated. The Fund typically seeks private

127




2.3

24

2.5

sector leverage on the basis of 1:3. Loan repayments are also held separately
and can be reinvested in the future.

Achievements

The programme has currently funded fifteen projects and enabled the
sustainment or creation of 824 jobs and the building of 718 homes of which
106 (14.7%) are affordable, together with the remediation of 97 hectares of
land and enabling 34,621 sq. m of commercial space.

Together, these projects have delivered developments that would either have
been unviable or not realised as quickly as they have been. Some of the
achievements of the programme to date are highlighted below:

e  Garnett’s Wharfe, Otley - £2 million funding was utilised to transform the
site of a former eighteenth century paper mill and the project is now
complete. The site offered 194 new houses, a 44 unit apartment
complex and 2,000 square feet of refurbished and new office space. It
also has a riverside restaurant and a newly opened visitor’s centre.

The loan funding was used for the initial demolition and remediation
works, as well as helping to build a new access road, infrastructure and
provide better riverside access for the public. Uniquely the site features
an innovative hydro-electric scheme which has enabled the development
to become carbon neutral on an offset basis.

. Super G, Glasshoughton — loan funding has been utilised for the
remediation of a former colliery site in Glasshoughton prior to release for
employment and housing development. The project outputs currently
stand at 35 jobs and 123 homes (of which 10 are affordable), 1.6
kilometres of new road, three public open spaces and a renewed
bridleway.

e  OE Electrics Ltd, Wakefield - funding has been utilised for the
completion of a bespoke manufacturing facility on Calder Park. The
project outputs currently stand at 47 jobs and two apprenticeships.

o Prince of Wales, Pontefract — loan funding was used to support the
delivery of infrastructure to facilitate the housing and employment site on
this former colliery site. The project has currently produced 297 homes
with over 900 homes expected in total, along with over 20 jobs.

Leeds City Region Revolving Investment Fund (RIF)

More recently the GPF programme has undertaken some joint investments
with the RIF (which offers loans above £1 million) including an innovative
modular housing development and new pedestrian and cycle friendly bridge
across the River Aire in south bank Leeds, and enabling new homes as part of
the New Bolton Woods development in Bradford.

128



2.6

2.7

2.8

29

2.10

Project with Changed Circumstances

As highlighted in para 2.1 above the original purpose of the fund was to unlock
stalled developments that had been particularly affected by credit tightening.
These stalled projects are not able to source full funding on the open market.
This often reflects that the type of project is more complex/has greater risk
than is able to be secured at viable rates. The rationale for public intervention,
therefore is that providing finance on softer terms than the market is able to
offer accelerates delivery of projects, and their outputs of new business
premises, jobs and homes. The implication, however, is that the programme
of investments are riskier than would be seen on a commercial loan book.

There is therefore always a risk with GPF loans that projects may not pay to
the agreed repayment schedule. Of the original 15 investments:

o Four projects have been completed successfully, with a further two
projects expected to repay loans in full in March 2019.

o Three investments will not complete (including the loan highlighted in
para 2.8 below).

o Six projects are still underway.

One of the current loan recipients - GPF Loan 315 - is subject to changed
circumstances and further details are provided in Exempt Appendix 1. The
company has recently entered into administration and at an appropriate pointin
the proceedings, the Combined Authority will need to impair the GPF loan within
its accounts.

Future Reinvestment

At its meeting on 20 September 2018 the LEP Board considered a report on
the principles for the future use of returned funds from the GPF programme, in
order to drive improved productivity and inclusive growth in the City Region.
The LEP Board agreed to use the returned funds from the GPF programme to
support significant ongoing returnable investment and grant funding for
inclusive growth projects. It was also agreed in principle that capital returned
funds generated through the Growing Places Fund are used as follows:

a) To continue providing investment capital on a returnable basis. It was
agreed that this should comprise the significant majority of funds (e.g.
80%) in order that it continues to generate the scale of returns to provide
longevity.

b) To allocate funding to directly (grant) fund projects that deliver social
inclusion outcomes. It was agreed this should constitute a smaller
proportion of GPF capital returned funds (e.g. 20%).

Further details were provided to the Investment Committee in November 2018
and officers are currently working up details around the parameters of such a
fund for further consideration by the LEP Board. This work has been
supported initially by expert external advice which begins to inform how any

129



3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

41

5.1

6.1

future loan fund may operate moving forward. Key findings from the
consultants’ report include:

e Evolving Market -The lender population has increased significantly in
recent years, with an expanding range of products, pricing and risk
appetite. The view of the lenders interviewed is that if a borrower cannot
access funding, it is likely not because of a lack of liquidity in the market
(as may have been the case five years ago), but more because of the
perceived risk of the loan / risk-appetite of the lender.

o Perception of the GPF - Both lenders with knowledge of the local
market, and existing borrowers, agree unanimously that there is a
continued need for the existence of the GPF.

Financial Implications

The capital repaid by GPF loans offered through the programme to 31 January
2019 is £11.959 million.

The capital anticipated in the remainder of the 2018/19 financial year is
£4,299,163. There is, as always, with GPF loans a risk that projects may not
pay to the agreed repayment schedule.

The capital anticipated in 2019/20 is a further £638,775.

The total capital expected beyond 31 March 2020 is £7,639,060.

The financial implications associated with GPF Loan 315 are set out in
Exempt Appendix 1.

Legal Implications

The information contained in Appendix 1 is exempt under paragraph 3 of Part
1 to Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as it contains
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
(including the authority holding that information). It is considered that the
public interest in maintaining the content of the appendices as exempt
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information as publication could
prejudice current and future decision making.

Staffing Implications

There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

External Consultees

No external consultations have been undertaken.

130



7.1

Recommendations

That the information provided in the report and Exempt Appendix 1 be noted
and any comments provided.

Background Documents
None.
Appendices

Exempt Appendix 1 — Loan 315 Position Statement

131



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A Appendix 1

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

133



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

West
Yorkshire

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE
BUSINESS INVESTMENT PANEL
HELD ON TUESDAY, 5 FEBRUARY 2019 AT COMMITTEE ROOM A

Present:

Simon Wright (Deputy Chair) Yorkshire Bank

Councillor James Lewis (Substitute) Leeds City Council

Councillor Darren Byford Wakefield Council

Councillor Alex Ross-Shaw Bradford Council (from Minute 63)
Councillor Graham Swift Harrogate Borough Council

Colin Glass OBE WGN

Jonathan King Medusa Holdings Ltd

In attendance:

Henry Rigg West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Kate Thompson West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Paul Hyde Leeds City Council

Phil Cole Leeds City Council

Lorna Holroyd West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Samuel Lewis West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Lauren Thomas West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Megan Hemingway West Yorkshire Combined Authority

59 Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Judith Blake, Councillor
Tim Swift, Councillor Shabir Pandor, Michael Allen, Gareth Yates and Marcus
Mills.

In the absence of Councillor Blake, the Deputy Chair Simon Wright chaired the
meeting.

60 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests

Simon Wright disclosed a disclosable pecuniary interest in relation to Growing
Places Fund Loans exempt Item 7, Appendix 1.

61 Exempt information - Exclusion of the press and public

Resolved: That in accordance with paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to
the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting

137



62

63

64

during consideration of Appendices 1 and 2 of Item 5, Appendices 1,2 and 3 of
Item 6 and Appendices 1,2,3 and 4 of Item 7 on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be transacted of the nature of the
proceedings, that if members of the press and public were present there would
be disclosure to them of exempt information and for the reasons set out in the
report that in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.

Minutes of the meeting of the Business Investment Panel held on 10
January 2019

Resolved: That the minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 10
January 2019 be approved and signed by the Chair.

Strategic Inward Investment Fund
The Panel considered a report which outlined the current position regarding
progress in committing grants through the Leeds City Region Enterprise

Partnership (the LEP) Strategic Inward Investment Fund (SIIF).

The Panel was asked to consider a new grant application (SIIF 007), detailed
at 3.1 and attached at exempt Appendices 1 and 2.

It was agreed that further information was required by the Panel in order some
specific concerns were addressed. This would be circulated to all members
outside of the meeting.

Resolved:

(i) That the update on the progress of the Strategic Inward Investment Fund
be noted.

(i) That the Panel recommended SIIF 007 for approval, subject to further
satisfactory information.

Business Grants Programme

The Panel considered a report which outlined the current position regarding
progress in committing grants through the Leeds City Region Enterprise
Partnership (the LEP) Business Grants Programme (BGP).

The Panel was asked to consider the grant application for project reference
1098634 detailed at 3.1 and attached at exempt Appendices 1 and 2.

Members were provided with an update on the application project reference
1099606 attached at exempt Appendix 3.

The Panel was informed that further guidelines and clarity in relation to the
criteria of grants would be provided in draft form at a future meeting.

138



65

66

Resolved:

(i) That the update on progress on the Business Grants Programme be
noted.

(i) That the Panel recommends the grant application 1098634 for approval.
(iii) That the update on project reference 1099606 be noted.

(iv) That the draft guidelines on lending criteria be brought to a future meeting.
Growing Places Fund loans

The Panel considered a report which provided an update on the progress in
committing loans through the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership (the
LEP) Growing Places Fund (GPF).

The Panel was updated on one project (loan 315) with changed
circumstances, attached at exempt Appendix 1, and two projects (loans 309
and 201) that have made their final repayments, attached at exempt
Appendices 2 and 3.

The Panel also considered the planned project closure (loan 104) attached in
exempt Appendix 4. It was noted that this was the first project closure report
for the GPF.

Simon Wright left the meeting during the discussion of exempt Appendix 1 and
the Chair was taken by Councillor Graham Swift.

Resolved:
(i) That the update on progress on the Growing Places Fund be noted.
(ii) That the update on the changed circumstance of loan 315 be noted.

(iii) That the information on final repayments for loans 309 and 201 be
noted.

(iv) That the information on loan 104 and its planned project closure be
noted.

Date of next meeting

The next meeting is 7 March 2019 at 2pm in Committee Room A, Wellington
House, Leeds.

139



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting of the West Yorkshire and York Investment Committee held on 6 February 2019
	5 Capital Programme Update
	Item 5 - Appendix 1

	6 Capital Spending and Project Approvals
	Item 6 - Appendix 1
	Item 6 - Appendix 2
	Item 6 - Appendix 3
	Item 6 - Appendix 4
	Item 6 - Appendix 5
	Item 6 - Appendix 6
	Item 6 - Appendix 7
	Item 6 - Appendix 8

	7 Growing Places Fund
	Item 7 - EXEMPT Appendix 1

	8 Draft Minutes of the Business Investment Panel held on 5 February 2019

